

InterDOC-STARt - Interdisciplinary Doctoral Studies at the Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz

Małgorzata Kubczak

Properties and application of tyrosine-modified and unmodified polyethyleneimine polymers as siRNA carriers

Właściwości i zastosowanie polimerów polietylenoiminowych modyfikowanych i niemodyfikowanych tyrozyną jako nośników siRNA

The doctoral thesis

Department of General Biophysics Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection University of Lodz

Supervisors: Prof. dr hab. Maksim Ionov

Prof. Dr. Achim Aigner



Firstly I would like to thank my Supervisors **Prof. dr hab. Maksim Ionov** and **Prof. Dr. Achim Aigner** for their outstanding guidance, assistance and support. I feel privileged to have had the opportunity to learn so much from them.

I would like to thank all members of Department of General Biophysics, especially **Prof. dr hab. Maria Bryszewska** for her substantive assistance and scientific atmosphere in our Department.

Thanks to **Dr Sylwia Michlewska** for her enthusiasm and irreplaceable assistance in microscopy analysis.

Thanks to **Dr Alexander Ewe** and **Dr Michael Karimov** who synthetized all modified polymers used in this study. I am grateful for your patience.

I would like to thank all my friends form the Department of General Biophysics, without you my PhD would never be so enjoyable as it turned to be.

At the end I would like to thank my family, especially to my parents and my fiancé. I could never thank you enough for what you have done for me.

Contents:

Financial sources	1
Introduction	2
The aim of the work	6
Materials	7
Methods	9
Results	9
Conclusion	13
Summary	13
Streszczenie w języku polskim	15
References	
Academic achievements	23

Financial sources:



European Union European Social Fund



Interdisciplinary doctoral studies InterDoc STARt on Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, UL

Project co-financed by the European Union from European Social Fund

Project co-financed from the Operational Program Knowledge Education Development, Priority Axis III Higher education for the economy and development, Measure 3.2 Doctoral studies Competition no. POWR.03.02.00-IP.08-00-DOK/16.

Research work was partially financed from a joint grant from the National Science Centre of Poland, project no: 2018/31/F/NZ5/03454, and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG; grant number AI 24/24-1.) within the "BEETHOVEN LIFE 1" program "Novel polymeric nanoparticles for pulmonary nucleic acid therapy – synthesis, toxicological analysis and biological / therapeutic assessment".

NATIONAL SCIENCE CENTRE



Scientific cooperation within the research:

Rudolf Boehm Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology, Medical Faculty, University of Leipzig





Medizinische Fakultät

Introduction

Gene therapies are promising strategies for the treatment of diseases including cancer and neurodegenerative disorders (Falkenhagen and Joshi, 2018; Fleifel et al., 2018). Solutions based on RNA interference (RNAi) are currently broadly investigated (Kim et al., 2015; Song et al., 2018). RNAi interference may be directed against any gene of interest, offering some advantages over conventional drug-based treatment options (lower toxicity and reduced side effects). Additionally, due to the ability to treat so-called 'undruggable' diseases they may serve as a powerful therapeutic option (Babaei et al., 2017; Günther et al., 2011; Qian et al., 2017). RNA interference relies on the action of small interfering RNAs. They incorporate into the RISC complex and mediate RISC binding to the sequence-complementary mRNA what eventually leads to the cleavage and degradation of targeted mRNA. However, siRNA is unable to cross cellular membranes due to its molecular weight about 13 kDa and its negative charge. Additionally, siRNA must be protected from nucleases and degradation (Benfer and Kissel, 2012; Creusat et al., 2010; Nademi et al., 2020; Thanki et al., 2019). Due to their unique properties, viruses are considered as the most efficient gene vectors. Unfortunately, the usage of viral vectors is limited to some nucleic acids and does not allow the delivery of siRNA. Additionally, safety issues and a risk of immune reactivity are the main drawbacks of viral vectors. Therefore, non-viral platforms should be applied as an alternative for nucleic acid delivery (Dizaj et al., 2014; Kopatz et al., 2004; Li et al., 2017).

Nanoparticles are mainly transported into the cells by endocytosis (Kaksonen and Roux, 2018; Parton and Richards, 2003). For endocytosis, nanoparticles should be ideally around 150 nm in size; however, larger nanoparticles have been found to be efficiently taken up by cells as well (Kaksonen and Roux, 2018). Several types of endocytosis can be recognized and may affect the intracellular fate of nanoparticles. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis is a way found in all mammalian cells and is the best characterized. Nanoparticles are enclosed in 'clathrin-coated vesicles' and transported to the early endosomes. Early endosomes are transformed into late endosomes and eventually into lysosomes. Endosomal/lysosomal escape of nanoparticles may be limited due to the acidic conditions in lysosomes, with the pH value decreasing to pH 5, thus siRNA must be protected from degradation (Kaksonen and Roux, 2018).

Caveolae-mediated endocytosis is another mechanism mediating nanoparticle uptake. After their internalization, nanoparticles are enclosed in caveolin-coated vesicles called caveosomes. They are non-acidic and do not possess any hydrolytic enzymes. Complexes can be translocated directly to the Golgi or the endoplasmic reticulum, avoiding lysosomes (Kiss and Botos, 2009). Caveolae-mediated endocytosis may serve as an attractive alternative for cellular uptake, especially for delivery vectors which are unable to escape from the acidic environment of clathrin-coated endosomes/lysosomes (Parton and Richards, 2003; Yacobi et al., 2010).

Nanoparticles based on lipids, amino acids, dendrimers or polymers have been developed in order to facilitate nucleic acid transport into the cells. For efficient and safe gene delivery, synthetic nanocarriers should mimic the viral mechanisms (genetic material condensation and protection from degradation). Additionally, they should exhibit low toxicity and immunogenicity (Pandey and Sawant, 2016). The therapeutic application of siRNA requires a delivery system which mediates intracellular siRNA trafficking to its site of action (Creusat et al., 2010; Nademi et al., 2020; Thanki et al., 2019).

Cationic polymers are among the most efficient and non-toxic synthetic delivery agents. Their positive charge facilitates interaction with negatively charged nucleic acids and allows for efficient uptake by cells (Wong et al., 2007).

Polyethylenimines (PEI) are a class of synthetic polymers (branched and linear) broadly tested as vehicles for nucleic acid delivery (Lungu et al., 2016; Pandey and Sawant, 2016). Their structure and molecular weight determine their biological activity and efficacy. PEIs have been tested mainly as plasmid DNA nanovectors (Gosselin et al., 2001; Kichler et al., 2001; Sig et al., 2004). It was reported that linear PEIs were able to complex plasmid DNA whereas they poorly bound siRNA. In the contrary, branched PEIs bound effectively plasmid DNA as well as siRNA (Kwok and Hart, 2011; Sadeghpour et al., 2018). The structure of PEIs relies on the nitrogen atoms at every third position, giving a positive charge at physiological pH. Buffering capacity, which is crucial for the PEI mechanism of action, depends on the type and amount of amino groups on their surface. Linear PEIs possess primary and secondary amino groups, whereas branched PEIs have primary, secondary and tertiary amino groups in a 1:2:1 proportion, what improves their complexation properties. PEIs with different structure and molecular weight have been widely investigated. It was demonstrated that low molecular weight PEIs (600 and

1800 Da) did not have significant efficacy as a gene carriers, while PEIs with molecular weights around 25 kDa or higher exhibited a good gene delivery properties (Godbey et al., 1998; Kircheis et al., 2001). The mechanism of PEI/nucleic acid complex interaction with cells has been studied and it was found that syndecan receptors were responsible for the uptake of PEI-based complexes. Complexes could bind to heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) found on syndecan. Next, syndecan clustering into rafts and phosphorylation mediated by PKC takes place. Eventually, actin is bound through mediator proteins and actin-mediated phagocytosis occurs (Kopatz et al., 2004).

A proton sponge effect has been described for PEIs (Creusat et al., 2010; Günther et al., 2011; Jin et al., 2018). They are partially protonated under physiological pH, and under acidic conditions in the lysosome they can accept protons due to their buffering capacity, thus protecting their cargo from lysosomal degradation. The influx of chloride ions and water eventually lead to endosome/lysosome disruption and a release of the complexes into the cytoplasm (Kopatz et al., 2004). Despite the advantages of PEIs, their usage is limited due to their cytotoxicity, which increases with molecular weight (Beyerle et al., 2011, 2009; Gholami et al., 2014). PEIs can be easily modified, which may improve their biocompatibility and transfection efficacy. PEI modifications with chitosan, dextran, leucine, histidine, arginine or fatty acids have been described and modified polymers were found to be more efficient and safer than non-modified PEIs (Aldawsari et al., 2011; Ewe et al., 2016). For example, hydrophobic modifications improved polymer interaction with nucleic acids and enhanced cellular uptake. PEGylated polymers exhibited lower toxicity, prolonged circulation half-life in the blood and increased serum tolerance. However, PEGylation disrupted DNA/RNA condensation and inhibited cellular uptake (Beyerle et al., 2010; Merkel et al., 2009; Saqafi and Rahbarizadeh, 2019).

Amino acid residues have been proposed for PEI modification (Chen et al., 2015; Karimov et al., 2021; Yu et al., 2017). It was reported that this approach offered some advantages over other modifications. Wang et al. applied cationic dendrimer modification with twenty amino acids (Wang et al., 2016). Anionic and hydrophilic amino acids were found to be inefficient for nucleic acid transport whereas hydrophobic and cationic amino acids improved complexation efficiency. It was demonstrated that some amino acids (tyrosine, phenylalanine, tryptophan, arginine, lysine or histidine) increased transfection efficacy.

Arginine and lysine modification enhanced DNA binding capacity, complex formation and uptake. Addition of histidine improved endosomal escape. Among all amino acids, the modification with hydrophobic amino acids – tyrosine, tryptophan and phenylalanine - were highlighted as most promising for improved nucleic acid delivery. Hydrophobic, aromatic amino acid modifications performed better as compared to their hydrophobic, aliphatic amino acid counterparts. It could be related to the more hydrophobic structure of aromatic ring, enhancing the interaction between complexes and membrane phospholipids and additionally improving endosomal escape (Creusat et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2010).

Every nanoparticle administrated to the blood is immediately covered by proteins, affecting pharmacokinetics, bio distribution and metabolism (Hidalgo et al., 2017; Klepac et al., 2018). The composition of proteins also affects the fate of polymeric nanoparticles after administration, thus protein-polymer interactions must be well studied. The protein corona on the NP surface dynamically changes over time, although some proteins - human serum albumin (HSA), fibrinogen and immunoglobulins - are ubiquitously found in the hard protein corona (De Paoli Lacerda et al., 2010). The protein corona is mainly composed of two different types, so-called 'hard corona' and 'soft corona'. The hard protein corona exhibits higher affinity to the nanoparticle, determines cellular interaction and is pivotal for drug/nucleic acid release. The soft protein corona and is characterized by higher exchange ratio (Konduru et al., 2017).

Albumins represents the most abundant group among all serum proteins. Their role is mainly the delivery of different substances including drugs and nanoparticles (Klajnert et al., 2003). Human serum albumin is a single peptide chain, consisting of 585 amino acids with a molecular mass around 66,000 Da. HSA contains three α -helical domains stabilized by 17 disulfide bonds (Yin et al., 2020). HSA is a heart shaped structure with length around 8 nm and 3 nm height (Picó, 1997). The presence of a hydrophobic cavity in the HSA structure is particularly important in drug delivery. Albumin is able to bind a wide range of compounds, including hormones, bilirubin, fatty acids and hemin. Commonly used drugs are able to bind to HSA in subdomains IIA and IIIA (Hegde et al., 2011; Klajnert et al., 2003; Mahesha et al., 2006). Protein adsorption onto the nanoparticle surface may change the conformation and alter protein function (Millan et al., 2018; Saptarshi et al., 2013). The type of interaction

between proteins and nanoparticles strongly depend on the nanoparticle's surface and protein properties (De Paoli Lacerda et al., 2010; Klepac et al., 2018). Loss of activity, denaturation, unfolding, aggregation and presence of intermediate states are the most frequently described conformational changes (Millan et al., 2018; Picó, 1997; Shcharbin et al., 2018; Wright et al., 2017). Some studies revealed that interactions could cause protein fibrillation (Sukhanova et al., 2019).

The aim of the work

The aim of the experiments was to compare the properties of linear and branched, tyrosine-modified and non-modified polyethyleneimines with different molecular mass. The comparison included biophysical and biological properties of PEIs. The ability to interact with human serum albumin was also tested for the most promising polymers, using biophysical methods. siRNA binding ability and biological relevance of siRNA delivery to the cells was assessed *in vitro* and *ex vivo*. The main research hypothesis assumed that tyrosine addition to the PEI structure significantly alters the properties of PEIs and makes them good candidates for small nucleic acid delivery. Figure 1 represents the comparison of polymers based on the proposed methodology.

In order to confirm the research hypothesis, the scientific work was divided into three tasks:

- Investigation of biophysical properties of all PEIs, in order to identify and select the most promising polymers for further experiments.
- 2. Investigation of biophysical properties of siRNA/polymer complexes and their effectiveness *in vitro* and *ex vivo*.
- 3. Evaluation of the polymers' ability to interact with human serum albumin.



Figure 1 Schematic representation of the methods used in the study and the outcome from the direct comparison between non-modified and tyrosine modified polymers.

Materials

All polyethyleneimines (Tab. 1) were provided by Prof. Dr. Achim Aigner's group in aqueous solutions.

Table 1. Description of polymers used in the study.

Polymer description:	Abbreviation	Polymer description:	Abbreviation
Low molecular weight linear PEI with molecular mass 2.5 kDa	LP 2.5 kDa	Low molecular weight branched PEI with molecular mass 2 kDa	BR 2 kDa
Low molecular weight linear PEI with molecular mass 2.5 kDa, modified with tyrosine	LP 2.5Y	Low molecular weight branched PEI with molecular mass 2 kDa, modified with tyrosine	P 2Y
Low molecular weight linear PEI with molecular mass 5 kDa	LP 5 kDa	Low molecular weight branched PEI with molecular mass 5 kDa	BR 5 kDa
Low molecular weight linear PEI with molecular mass 5 kDa, modified with tyrosine	LP 5Y	Low molecular weight branched PEI with molecular mass 5 kDa, modified with tyrosine	Ρ 5Υ
Low molecular weight linear PEI with molecular mass 10 kDa	LP 10 kDa	Low molecular weight branched PEI with molecular mass 10 kDa	BR 10 kDa
Low molecular weight linear PEI with molecular mass 10 kDa, modified with tyrosine	LP 10Y	Low molecular weight branched PEI with molecular mass 10 kDa, modified with tyrosine	P 10Y
Low molecular weight linear PEI with molecular mass 25 kDa,	LP 25 kDa	Low molecular weight branched PEI with molecular mass 25 kDa	BR 25 kDa
Low molecular weight linear PEI with molecular mass 25 kDa, modified with tyrosine	LP 25y	Low molecular weight branched PEI with molecular mass 25 kDa, modified with tyrosine	P 25Y

In task 1 and 3, siRNAs purchased from Dharmacon (Lafayette, CO) were used for

complexation (sequence presented in Tab. 2).

Table 2. Sequence of siRNA used in the experiments.

	Sense	Antisense
siLuc 2	5'-CGUACGCGGAAUACUUCGAdTdT-3'	5'-UCGAAGUAUUCCGCGUACGdTdT-3'
siLuc 3	5'-CUUACGCUGAGUACUUCGAdTdT-3'	5'-UCGAAGUACUCAGCGUAAGdTdT-3'
siEGFP	5'-GCAGCACGACUUCUUCAAGdTdT-3'	5'-CUUGAAGAAGUCGUGCUGCdTdT-3'
siGAPDH	5'-CCUCAACUACAUGGUUUACdTdT-3'	5'-GUAAACCAUGUAGUUGAGGdTdT-3'

Research models included:

- ✓ Human immortalized cancer cell lines from ATCC (MCF-7).
- ✓ The stably expressing luciferase/GFP cell lines H441/Luc, PC3/Luc/EGFP, HCT 116/Luc/EGFP (obtained from Prof. Dr. Achim Aigner's group).
- ✓ Erythrocytes from peripheral human and mice blood for hemolysis assay.

- ✓ Liposomes DMPC:DPPG (9:1) were prepared for fluorescence anisotropy measurements.
- ✓ Tumor xenografts from A549 cell line were obtained from Balb/c mice for complex efficiency testing in an *ex vivo* model.
- ✓ Human serum albumin (fatty acid free, >98% purity) from Merck Millipore (Darmstadt, Germany).

Methods

Methods used during the study:

- ✓ Task 1 included: measurements of zeta potential and zeta size of polymers, transmission electron microscopy, hemolysis assay, fluorescence anisotropy, MTT assay, comet assay in alkaline version, agarose gel electrophoresis, LDH assay, JC-1 assay and luminometric measurements.
- ✓ Task 2 included: measurements of zeta potential and zeta size of polymer/siRNA complexes, circular dichroism, agarose gel electrophoresis, LDH assay, caspase-3/7 induction, mitochondrial membrane potential measurements, reactive oxygen species measurements, qPCR analysis of gene expression from in vitro and ex vivo experiments, luciferase activity measurements, confocal microscopy and flow cytometry.
- ✓ Task 3 included: measurements of human serum albumin, tryptophan and 1- nilinonaphthalene-8-sulfonic acid (ANS) fluorescence intensity, circular dichroism, transmission electron microscopy and Z-size measurements.

Results

In the first task, the properties of LP 2.5 kDa, LP 5 kDa, LP 10 kDa, LP 25 kDa, LP 2.5Y, LP 5Y, LP 10Y, LP 25Y, BR 2 kDa, BR 5 kDa, BR 10 kDa, BR 25 kDa, P 2Y, P 5Y, P 10Y and P 25Y were evaluated. Their biophysical features and toxicity were compared. Next, the ability to form complexes with siRNA were tested. Complex toxicity and efficacy were evaluated. Our results revealed that polymers formed small aggregates. Hydrodynamic diameter measurements revealed the linear, unmodified PEIs exhibited lower size values than tyrosine

modified linear PEIs. On the contrary, branched, unmodified polymers, were larger than tyrosine-modified, branched PEIs. All sixteen polymers were positively charged. The highest zeta potential values were observed for branched, tyrosine-modified PEIs.

In order to analyze the polymers' interaction with lipid components, hemolysis assays and anisotropy fluorescence measurements were applied. Linear, unmodified PEIs exhibited some slight interaction with hydrophilic parts of the liposomes and very weakly interacted with the hydrophobic region. In contrast, branched unmodified PEIs showed some hydrophobic interactions, whereas no effect on the hydrophilic region was detected. The introduction of tyrosine modification caused an increase in these interactions. Linear and branched, tyrosine-modified PEIs exhibited the potential to interact with both, the hydrophobic and hydrophilic region. Hemolysis assays confirmed the results from fluorescence anisotropy measurements. Linear and branched, tyrosine-modified PEIs caused stronger hemolysis than unmodified polymers, except for LP 25 kDa, which exhibited stronger hemolytic properties than LP 25Y. Generally, in lower concentrations, hemolysis rates were < 10%, after 3 hours incubation.

Cytotoxicity studies of polymers revealed that linear, tyrosine-modified PEIs were less toxic than linear, unmodified PEIs. Linear, tyrosine-modified PEIs showed significantly lower toxicity than their unmodified counterparts. Branched PEIs (unmodified and tyrosine modified) were generally less toxic than linear PEIs. Similarly, tyrosine modification almost completely abolished cytotoxicity. Comet assays revealed a significant genotoxic effect of linear, unmodified PEIs. DNA damage was reduced when linear, tyrosine modified PEIs were used. Tyrosine modification of branched PEIs did not affect the DNA damage potential, since unmodified, branched PEIs showed very low genotoxicity.

The next part of task 1 included complexation experiments with siRNA. It was confirmed by agarose gel electrophoresis that unmodified polymers did not form complexes with siRNA. In turn, all tyrosine modified polymers bound siRNA at the investigated ratios. The complexation process was confirmed by fluorescence polarization assay. Presented results indicated that tyrosine modified polymers bound siRNA at a polymer/siRNA ratio of 2.5 and increasing concentration of polymers did not alter binding efficacy.

PEI/siRNA complexes of tyrosine modified PEIs caused a low toxicity in H441 cell line where the damage was comparable to untreated cells. On the other hand, the time-

dependent decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential was detected for LP 5Y/siRNA and LP 10Y/siRNA complexes.

A concentration-dependent transfection efficacy of tyrosine-modified PEI/siRNA complexes was evaluated. Complexes of linear, tyrosine modified polymers were more efficient in luciferase gene expression knockdown than complexes with branched, tyrosine modified polymers. LP 5Y/siRNA, LP 10Y/siRNA, P 5Y/siRNA and P 10Y/siRNA complexes exhibited a 50% decrease in luciferase activity even when the lowest concentrations were used. The LP 10 kDa/siRNA complex was tested as a control. Some knockdown effect was observed, but the toxicity was very high.

During the first task we confirmed that tyrosine modified PEIs serve as a better nanocarrier for siRNA delivery than unmodified polymers, thus they were chosen for the experiments in the next tasks.

Task 2 aimed to further investigate the properties, toxicity and efficacy of the complexes. Dynamic light scattering was performed to evaluate the size of formed complexes. It was revealed that tyrosine modified polymers formed stable complexes with siRNA at a ratio 2.5:1, under different buffer conditions. Complexes at ratio 2.5:1 generally exhibited a positive surface charge. At higher ratios, all complexes were positively charged.

Electrophoretic studies reveled that complexes were formed at 2.5:1 ratio. They exhibited strong stability, with heparin only partially being able to release siRNA from the complex. SiRNAs in the complexes were also protected against RNAse digestion.

Circular dichroism was applied for a better understanding of polymer interactions with the siRNA structure. Changes in siRNA secondary structure were seen with increasing polymers concentrations. Again, it was confirmed that a polymer:siRNA ratio 2.5:1 was sufficient for complexation.

As we established the biophysical properties of complexes and the optimal ratio for complexation, toxicity and efficacy studies were performed. The cytotoxic potential of complexes was assessed by measuring the level of membrane damage. All tyrosine modified PEIs/siRNA complexes exhibited low levels of membrane damage. The linear, unmodified 10 kDa PEI/siRNA complex was used as a control and it caused a membrane damage comparable to the positive control (cells treated with Triton X-100). Complexes exhibited a low level of

caspase-3/7 induction, thus their apoptotic effect was considered very low. For comparison, linear, unmodified LP 10 kDa/siRNA complex showed >3-fold increase in caspase-3/7 induction over control cells. The effect of complexes on mitochondrial membranes was generally minimal, except for LP 5Y/siRNA complexes, which caused some mitochondrial membrane disruption. Complexes from LP 10Y and P 10Y caused an increase in the level of oxidative stress, while LP 5Y and P 5Y complexes led to slightly elevated ROS level, but the increase was not significant.

The efficacy of gene expression knockdown was analyzed by RT-qPCR, flow cytometry, confocal microscopy and luminescent measurements. All methods confirmed that tyrosine modified PEIs/siRNA complexes at a ratio 2.5:1 were very efficient *in vitro*. In *ex vivo* experiments, the most effective complexes were the ones containing LP 10Y/siRNA.

Summarizing task 2, we revealed that all tyrosine-modified polymers could complex siRNA, with sizes and positive surface charges allowing them to enter the cells. During the interaction, changes in the secondary structure of siRNA occurred. Complexes were stable under physiological conditions and were resistant to RNAse digestion. Their toxicity and efficacy profile confirmed that they may serve as promising vectors for siRNA. Due to their relatively high activity ex vivo, LP 10Y was chosen as the best candidate for siRNA delivery among the other tyrosine modified polymers.

Our last goal was to provide more information regarding the polymer interaction with human serum albumin. Spectrofluorometric methods were applied to investigate the binding affinity and the nature of interactions between tyrosine modified polymers and albumin. The most promising polymers from previous studies (LP 5Y, LP 10Y, P 5Y and P 10Y) were chosen for this task. It was observed that linear PEIs exhibited generally higher binding affinity towards albumin (> $10^5 M^{-1}$) than branched PEIs (> $10^4 M^{-1}$). Stern Volmer quenching constants for albumin and tryptophan alone were comparable, suggesting that polymers could bind to the protein region near the tryptophan residue. Bimolecular quenching constant values were higher than the maximum of diffusion-controlled quenching mechanism ($10^{10} M^{-1}s^{-1}$), thus a static mechanism of fluorescence quenching occurred. Binding affinities decreased with increasing temperatures, thus we decided to evaluate thermodynamic parameters for polymer interactions with albumin.

The results revealed that enthalpy and entropy values for LP 5Y, P 5Y and P 10Y complexes were negative, suggesting that Van der Waals and hydrogen bonding are a main forces engaged in complex formation. For polymer LP10Y, the entropy value was positive and enthalpy was negative, indicating that hydrophobic interactions and hydrogen bonding are the predominant molecular forces. Gibbs free energy values were negative for all polymers, thus we assumed that complex formation was spontaneous. Additionally, polymers changed the fluorescence intensity of ANS, what suggests the polymer interactions to occur around the hydrophobic pocket of albumin. Circular dichroism measurements of the protein secondary structure revealed that the changes occurred when increasing amounts of polymers, with a higher level of α -helix loss and increase in random coil structures, than in the case of linear polymers. Size measurements and transmission electron microscopy analysis confirmed that polymers formed larger structures with human serum albumin. On the contrary, size measurements for unmodified polymers showed that they did not form such structures with albumin.

Conclusions

Summarizing all obtained results, we can conclude that:

- Tyrosine modification alter the properties of polyethyleneimines by reducing the toxicity, improving the interactions with lipid structures and facilitating siRNA complexation.
- 2. Tyrosine modified polymers form stable complexes with siRNA, resistant to digestion and with low potential towards cell damage and mitochondrial membrane disruption as well as induction of apoptosis and oxidative stress. Furthermore, complexes show high gene expression knockdown potential *in vitro*. LP 10Y/siRNA complexes were also useful for *ex vivo* gene knockdown.
- 3. Tyrosine modified polymers show an ability to interact with human serum albumin what may affect their toxicity, bio distribution and biological activity *in vivo*.

Summary

RNA interference (RNAi)-based therapy is a promising treatment option for many diseases, including cancer, neurodegenerative disorders and auto-immune diseases. RNAi

may target a selected gene, allowing to avoid adverse effects related to standard treatment options. Due to its specificity, RNAi technology may be useful for the treatment of so-called 'undruggable' genes. Strategies based on RNAi have been broadly explored. Currently, increasing numbers of studies focus on the improvement of nanomedicines. Among many available nanocarriers for siRNA, cationic polymers gain special attention, due to efficient and non-toxic delivery mechanisms. As positively charged particles, they show improved interaction with negatively charged cell membranes and enhanced cellular uptake.

The aim of the current work was to describe the properties of polyethyleneimines (PEIs) and their tyrosine modified counterparts. The first step focused on the evaluation of the biophysical properties of PEIs, their toxicity and ability to form complexes with siRNA. We found that the tyrosine modification altered PEI properties, facilitated the interaction with membranes, reduced cytotoxicity and genotoxicity. Linear and branched, tyrosine modified polymers complexed siRNA at favorable mass ratios which allowed significant gene expression knockdown with a limited cytotoxicity. In step 1, we confirmed that tyrosine modification is crucial for improving PEI properties and complexation with siRNA. Due to these favorable properties, tyrosine modified PEIs were investigated in the further steps.

The second task included a better understanding of complex formation, toxicity mechanisms and gene knockdown efficacy. We revealed that the siRNA secondary structure underwent conformational changes upon addition of polymers. Complexes exhibited a positive charge, what suggests that they would be able to enter the cells. Stability of complexes and protective effects against nuclease digestion were confirmed. Toxicity studies revealed that complexes did not affect cellular and mitochondrial membranes, and did not induce apoptosis. In knockdown experiments, levels of GAPDH, EGFP and Luc3 genes were significantly decreased in vitro. In ex vivo studies, the level of GAPDH was significantly decreased with LP 10Y/siRNA complexes, making them the most promising nanovectors among tyrosine modified PEI.

The third task aimed to describe biophysical properties of tyrosine modified polymer: human serum albumin interactions. Human serum albumin is known as transporter protein for many chemical compounds that are administered to the blood stream. Our goal was to compare complex formation when using different types of polymers. Tyrosine modified polymers were able to interact with human serum albumin; size measurements and

transmission electron microscopy confirmed this complexation, which was not seen for unmodified polymers. A tryptophan residue was engaged in complex formation. Polymers were also able to interact with the hydrophobic pocket of human serum albumin. Based on thermodynamic studies, we assumed that Van der Waals and hydrogen bonding were a predominant molecular forces. Analysis of Gibbs free energy values revealed that complex formation is a spontaneous process. We believe that for a better understanding of the mechanism of interaction of tyrosine modified polymers with other human plasma components, further studies must be performed.

Summarizing, tyrosine modification significantly affected the properties of polyethyleneimines, changing their toxicity profile, siRNA binding capacity and interaction with human serum albumin. Tyrosine modified polymers performed better as siRNA carriers, exhibiting acceptable toxic effects and a very promising knockdown efficiency. The above-mentioned properties and the ability to interact with human serum albumin indicate that such polymers may be efficient in more advanced experimental models.

Streszczenie w języku polskim

Terapia oparta na interferencji RNA (RNAi) jest obiecującą opcją w leczeniu wielu chorób nowotworowych, zaburzeń neurodegeneracyjnych i chorób autoimmunologicznych. Interferencja RNA może być ukierunkowana na wybrany gen, co pozwala uniknąć działań niepożądanych związanych ze stosowaniem standardowych metod leczenia. Ze względu na mechanizm działania, technologia RNAi może znaleźć zastosowanie w terapii tzw. chorób "nieuleczalnych". Rozwiązania oparte na wyciszeniu ekspresji genów od wielu lat pozostają przedmiotem szeroko zakrojonych badań. Obecnie coraz więcej badań koncentruje się na udoskonalaniu nanocząstek. Spośród wielu dostępnych nanonośników dla siRNA na szczególną uwagę zasługują polimery kationowe, ze względu na wydajne i nietoksyczne mechanizmy dostarczania siRNA do komórek. Jako dodatnio naładowane cząstki poprawiają interakcję siRNA z ujemnie naładowaną błoną komórkową i zwiększają wychwyt komórkowy.

Celem niniejszej pracy było opisanie właściwości polimerów polietylenoiminowych (PEI) oraz ich odpowiedników modyfikowanych tyrozyną. W pierwszym etapie skupiono się na ocenie właściwości biofizycznych PEI, ich toksyczności oraz zdolności do tworzenia

kompleksów z siRNA. Potwierdzono, że modyfikacja tyrozyną zmieniła właściwości PEI, ułatwiła interakcję z błonami, zmniejszyła cytotoksyczność oraz genotoksyczność polimerów. Liniowe i rozgałęzione, modyfikowane tyrozyną polimery kompleksowały siRNA w korzystnych stosunkach masowych, co umożliwiło obniżenie poziomu mRNA wybranych genów przy ograniczonej cytotoksyczności względem komórek. Podsumowując ten etap, potwierdzono, że modyfikacja tyrozyną ma kluczowe znaczenie dla właściwości PEI i kompleksowania z siRNA. Ze względu na ujawnione właściwości polimery modyfikowane tyrozyną przeznaczono do dalszych analiz.

Drugie zadanie badawcze obejmowało lepsze poznanie mechanizmów kompleksacji, toksyczności i wyciszenia ekspresji genów. Potwierdzono, że struktura drugorzędowa siRNA uległa zmianom konformacyjnym pod wpływem polimerów. Kompleksy polimer/siRNA wykazywały ładunek dodatni, co sugerowało, że będą w stanie wniknąć do komórek. Dodatkowo, potwierdzono stabilność kompleksów oraz działanie protekcyjne przed trawieniem nukleazą. Badania toksyczności wykazały, że kompleksy nie uszkadzają błony komórkowej i błony mitochondrialnej oraz nie indukują apoptozy. Przy zastosowaniu kompleksów LP 5Y/siRNA, LP 10Y/siRNA, P 5Y/siRNA oraz P 10Y/siRNA w warunkach in vitro poziom ekspresji genów GAPDH, EGFP, Luc3 istotnie zmalał. W badaniach ex vivo poziom GAPDH znacząco spadł w przypadku zastosowania kompleksów LP 10Y/siRNA. To właśnie liniowy, modyfikowany tyrozyną polimer 10 kDa wykazał najbardziej obiecujące właściwości w dostarczaniu siRNA do komórek.

Trzecie zadanie miało na celu opisanie interakcji polimerów modyfikowanych tyrozyną i albuminy ludzkiej. Albumina jest znana jako transporter większości związków chemicznych, które są podawane do krwioobiegu. Naszym celem było porównanie kompleksów tworzonych między albuminą a polimerami LP 5Y, LP 10Y, P 5Y oraz P 10Y. Polimery modyfikowane tyrozyną były zdolne do interakcji z ludzką albuminą. Pomiary średnicy hydrodynamicznej i transmisyjna mikroskopia elektronowa potwierdziły kompleksowanie, czego nie zaobserwowano dla niezmodyfikowanych polimerów. Wykazano, że tryptofan w pozycji 214 (Trp 214) jest zaangażowany w tworzenie kompleksu. Polimery były również zdolne do interakcji z kieszenią hydrofobową albuminy. Na podstawie badań termodynamicznych zasugerowaliśmy, że dominującymi siłami molekularnymi są oddziaływania Van der Waalsa i wiązania wodorowe. Analiza wartości energii swobodnej

Gibbsa wykazała, że tworzenie kompleksów jest procesem spontanicznym. Uważamy, że dla lepszego zrozumienia interakcji polimerów modyfikowanych tyrozyną z innymi składnikami osocza ludzkiego należy przeprowadzić bardziej zaawansowane badania.

Podsumowując, modyfikacja tyrozyną znacząco wpłynęła na właściwości polimerów polietylenoiminowych, zmieniając ich profil toksyczności, zdolność wiązania siRNA oraz interakcję z albuminą ludzką. Polimery modyfikowane tyrozyną działały efektywniej jako nośniki siRNA, wykazując niski efekt toksyczny i bardzo obiecującą skuteczność wyciszenia poziomu genu. Powyższe właściwości oraz zdolność do interakcji z albuminą wskazują, że kompleksy polimerów modyfikowanych tyrozyną mogą być skuteczne w bardziej zaawansowanych modelach eksperymentalnych.

References

- Aldawsari, H., Raj, B.S., Edrada-ebel, R., Blatchford, D.R., Biol, C., Tate, R.J., Tetley, L., Dufès, C., 2011.
 Enhanced gene expression in tumors after intravenous administration of arginine-, lysine- and
 leucine-bearing polyethylenimine polyplex. Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med. 7, 615–623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2011.01.016
- Babaei, M., Eshghi, H., Abnous, K., Rahimizadeh, M., Ramezani, M., 2017. Promising gene delivery system based on polyethylenimine-modified silica nanoparticles. Cancer Gene Ther. 00, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/cgt.2016.73
- Benfer, M., Kissel, T., 2012. Cellular uptake mechanism and knockdown activity of siRNA-loaded biodegradable DEAPA-PVA-g-PLGA nanoparticles. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 80, 247–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2011.10.021
- Beyerle, A., Braun, A., Banerjee, A., Ercal, N., Eickelberg, O., Kissel, T.H., Stoeger, T., 2011. Inflammatory responses to pulmonary application of PEI-based siRNA nanocarriers in mice. Biomaterials 32, 8694–8701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.07.082
- Beyerle, A., Höbel, S., Czubayko, F., Schulz, H., Kissel, T., Aigner, A., Stoeger, T., 2009. In vitro cytotoxic and immunomodulatory profiling of low molecular weight polyethylenimines for pulmonary application. Toxicol. Vitr. 23, 500–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2009.01.001
- Beyerle, A., Merkel, O., Stoeger, T., Kissel, T., 2010. PEGylation affects cytotoxicity and cellcompatibility of poly(ethylene imine) for lung application: Structure-function relationships. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 242, 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2009.10.001

- Chen, J., Jiao, Z.X., Lin, L., Guo, Z.P., Xu, C.N., Li, Y.H., Tian, H.Y., Chen, X.S., 2015. Polylysine-modified polyethylenimines as siRNA carriers for effective tumor treatment. Chinese J. Polym. Sci. (English Ed. 33, 830–837. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10118-015-1632-0
- Creusat, G., Rinaldi, A.S., Weiss, E., Elbaghdadi, R., Remy, J.S., Mulherkar, R., Zuber, G., 2010. Proton sponge trick for ph-sensitive disassembly of polyethylenimine-based sirna delivery systems. Bioconjug. Chem. 21, 994–1002. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc100010k
- De Paoli Lacerda, S.H., Park, J.J., Meuse, C., Pristinski, D., Becker, M.L., Karim, A., Douglas, J.F., 2010. Interaction of gold nanoparticles with common human blood proteins. ACS Nano 4, 365–379. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn9011187
- Dizaj, S.M., Jafari, S., Khosroushahi, A.Y., 2014. A sight on the current nanoparticle-based gene delivery vectors. Nanoscale Res. Lett. 9, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-252
- Ewe, A., Przybylski, S., Burkhardt, J., Janke, A., Appelhans, D., Aigner, A., 2016. A novel tyrosinemodified low molecular weight polyethylenimine (P10Y) for efficient siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo. J. Control. Release 230, 13–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.03.034
- Falkenhagen, A., Joshi, S., 2018. Genetic Strategies for HIV Treatment and Prevention. Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acid 13, 514–533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtn.2018.09.018
- Fleifel, D., Rahmoon, A.M., Alokda, A., Nasr, M., Elserafy, M., El-khamisy, S.F., 2018. Recent advances in stem cells therapy : A focus on cancer , Parkinson 's and Alzheimer 's. J. Genet. Eng. Biotechnol. 16, 427–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgeb.2018.09.002
- Gholami, L., Sadeghnia, H.R., Darroudi, M., Kazemi Oskuee, R., 2014. Evaluation of genotoxicity and cytotoxicity induced by different molecular weights of polyethylenimine/DNA nanoparticles. Turkish J. Biol. 38, 380–387. https://doi.org/10.3906/biy-1309-51
- Godbey, W.T., Wu, K.K., Mikos, A.G., 1998. Size matters : Molecular weight affects the efficiency of poly (ethylenimine) as a gene delivery vehicle. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 45, 268–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1097-4636(19990605)45:3<268::aid-jbm15>3.0.co;2-q
- Gosselin, M.A., Guo, W., Lee, R.J., 2001. Efficient gene transfer using reversibly cross-linked low molecular weight polyethylenimine. Bioconjug. Chem. 12, 989–994. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc0100455
- Günther, M., Lipka, J., Malek, A., Gutsch, D., Kreyling, W., Aigner, A., 2011. Polyethylenimines for RNAimediated gene targeting in vivo and siRNA delivery to the lung. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 77, 438– 449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.11.007

Hegde, A.H., Sandhya, B., Seetharamappa, J., 2011. Evaluation of binding and thermodynamic

characteristics of interactions between a citrus flavonoid hesperitin with protein and effects of metal ions on binding. Mol. Biol. Rep. 38, 4921–4929. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-010-0634-9

- Hidalgo, A., Cruz, A., Pérez-Gil, J., 2017. Pulmonary surfactant and nanocarriers: Toxicity versus combined nanomedical applications. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 1859, 1740–1748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2017.04.019
- Jin, M., Jin, G., Kang, L., Chen, L., Gao, Z., Huang, W., 2018. Smart polymeric nanoparticles with pHresponsive and PEG-detachable properties for co-delivering paclitaxel and survivin siRNA to enhance antitumor outcomes. Int. J. Nanomedicine 13, 2405–2426. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S161426
- Kaksonen, M., Roux, A., 2018. Mechanisms of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 19, 313–326. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.132
- Karimov, M., Schulz, M., Kahl, T., Noske, S., Kubczak, M., Gockel, I., Thieme, R., Büch, T., Reinert, A., Ionov, M., Bryszewska, M., Franke, H., Krügel, U., Ewe, A., Aigner, A., 2021. Tyrosine-modified linear PEIs for highly efficacious and biocompatible siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo. Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med. Apr 29:102, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2021.102403
- Kichler, A., Leborgne, C., Coeytaux, E., Danos, O., 2001. Polyethylenimine-mediated gene delivery: A mechanistic study. J. Gene Med. 3, 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgm.173
- Kim, Y.D., Park, T.E., Singh, B., Maharjan, S., Choi, Y.J., Choung, P.H., Arote, R.B., Cho, C.S., 2015. Nanoparticle-mediated delivery of siRNA for effective lung cancer therapy. Nanomedicine 10, 1165–1188. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.14.214
- Kircheis, R., Wightman, L., Wagner, E., 2001. Design and gene delivery activity of modified polyethylenimines. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 53, 341–358.
- Kiss, A.L., Botos, E., 2009. Endocytosis via caveolae: Alternative pathway with distinct cellular compartments to avoid lysosomal degradation? J. Cell. Mol. Med. 13, 1228–1237. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00754.x
- Klajnert, B., Stanisławska, L., Bryszewska, M., Pałecz, B., 2003. Interactions between PAMAM dendrimers and bovine serum albumin. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Proteins Proteomics 1648, 115– 126. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1570-9639(03)00117-1
- Klepac, D., Kostková, H., Petrova, S., Chytil, P., Etrych, T., Kereïche, S., Raška, I., Weitz, D.A., Filippov, S.K., 2018. Interaction of spin-labeled HPMA-based nanoparticles with human blood plasma

proteins-the introduction of protein-corona-free polymer nanomedicine. Nanoscale 10, 6194–6204. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7nr09355a

- Konduru, N. V., Molina, R.M., Swami, A., Damiani, F., Pyrgiotakis, G., Lin, P., Andreozzi, P., Donaghey,
 T.C., Demokritou, P., Krol, S., Kreyling, W., Brain, J.D., 2017. Protein corona: Implications for
 nanoparticle interactions with pulmonary cells. Part. Fibre Toxicol. 14, 1–12.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-017-0223-3
- Kopatz, I., Remy, J.S., Behr, J.P., 2004. A model for non-viral gene delivery: Through syndecan adhesion molecules and powered by actin. J. Gene Med. 6, 769–776. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgm.558
- Kwok, A., Hart, S.L., 2011. Comparative structural and functional studies of nanoparticle formulations for DNA and siRNA delivery. Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med. 7, 210–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2010.07.005
- Li, C., Hu, J., Li, W., Song, G., Shen, J., 2017. Combined bortezomib-based chemotherapy and p53 gene therapy using hollow mesoporous silica nanospheres for p53 mutant non-small cell lung cancer treatment. Biomater. Sci. 5, 77–88. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6bm00449k
- Liu, Z., Zhang, Z., Zhou, C., Jiao, Y., 2010. Hydrophobic modifications of cationic polymers for gene delivery. Prog. Polym. Sci. 35, 1144–1162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2010.04.007
- Lungu, C., Diudea, M., Putz, M., Grudziński, I., 2016. Linear and Branched PEIs (Polyethylenimines) and Their Property Space. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 17, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17040555
- Mahesha, H.G., Singh, S.A., Srinivasan, N., Appu Rao, A.G., 2006. A spectroscopic study of the interaction of isoflavones with human serum albumin. FEBS J. 273, 451–467. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2005.05071.x
- Merkel, O.M., Beyerle, A., Librizzi, D., Pfestroff, A., Behr, T.M., Sproat, B., Barth, P.J., Kissel, T., 2009. Nonviral siRNA delivery to the lung: Investigation of PEG-PEI polyplexes and their in vivo performance. Mol. Pharm. 6, 1246–1260. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp900107v
- Millan, S., Kumar, A., Satish, L., Susrisweta, B., Dash, P., Sahoo, H., 2018. Insights into the binding interaction between copper ferrite nanoparticles and bovine serum albumin: An effect on protein conformation and activity. Luminescence 33, 990–998. https://doi.org/10.1002/bio.3499
- Nademi, Y., Tang, T., Uludağ, H., 2020. Membrane lipids destabilize short interfering ribonucleic acid (siRNA)/polyethylenimine nanoparticles. Nanoscale 12, 1032–1045. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9nr08128c
- Pandey, A.P., Sawant, K.K., 2016. Polyethylenimine : A versatile , multifunctional non-viral vector for nucleic acid delivery. Mater. Sci. Eng. C 68, 904–918. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.07.066

- Parton, R.G., Richards, A.A., 2003. Lipid rafts and caveolae as portals for endocytosis: New insights and common mechanisms. Traffic 4, 724–738. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0854.2003.00128.x
- Picó, G.A., 1997. Thermodynamic features of the thermal unfolding of human serum albumin. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 20, 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-8130(96)01153-1
- Qian, Y., Qiao, S., Dai, Y., Xu, G., Dai, B., Lu, L., Yu, X., Luo, Q., Zhang, Z., 2017. Molecular-Targeted Immunotherapeutic Strategy for Melanoma via Dual-Targeting Nanoparticles Delivering Small Interfering RNA to Tumor-Associated Macrophages. ACS Nano 11, 9536–9549. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.7b05465
- Sadeghpour, H., Khalvati, B., Entezar-Almahdi, E., Savadi, N., Hossaini Alhashemi, S., Raoufi, M., Dehshahri, A., 2018. Double domain polyethylenimine-based nanoparticles for integrin receptor mediated delivery of plasmid DNA. Sci. Rep. 8, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25277z
- Saptarshi, S.R., Duschl, A., Lopata, A.L., 2013. Interaction of nanoparticles with proteins: Relation to bio-reactivity of the nanoparticle. J. Nanobiotechnology 11, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-3155-11-26
- Saqafi, B., Rahbarizadeh, F., 2019. Polyethyleneimine-polyethylene glycol copolymer targeted by anti-HER2 nanobody for specific delivery of transcriptionally targeted tBid containing construct. Artif. Cells, Nanomedicine Biotechnol. 47, 501–511. https://doi.org/10.1080/21691401.2018.1549063
- Shcharbin, D., Pedziwiatr-Werbicka, E., Serchenya, T., Cyboran-Mikolajczyk, S., Prakhira, L., Abashkin,
 V., Dzmitruk, V., Ionov, M., Loznikova, S., Shyrochyna, I., Sviridov, O., Peña-González, C.E., Gumiel,
 A.B., Gómez, R., de la Mata, F.J., Bryszewska, M., 2018. Role of cationic carbosilane dendrons and
 metallic core of functionalized gold nanoparticles in their interaction with human serum albumin.
 Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 118, 1773–1780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.07.023
- Sig, J., Nam, K., Park, J., Kim, J., Lee, J., Park, J., 2004. Enhanced transfection efficiency of PAMAM dendrimer by surface modification with L-arginine. J. Control. Release 99, 445–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.07.027
- Song, Y., Tang, C., Yin, C., 2018. Combination antitumor immunotherapy with VEGF and PIGF siRNA via systemic delivery of multi-functionalized nanoparticles to tumor-associated macrophages and breast cancer cells. Biomaterials 185, 117–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.09.017
- Sukhanova, A., Poly, S., Bozrova, S., Lambert, É., Ewald, M., Karaulov, A., Molinari, M., Nabiev, I., 2019. Nanoparticles With a Specific Size and Surface Charge Promote Disruption of the Secondary

Structure and Amyloid-Like Fibrillation of Human Insulin Under Physiological Conditions. Front. Chem. 7, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2019.00480

- Thanki, K., van Eetvelde, D., Geyer, A., Fraire, J., Hendrix, R., Van Eygen, H., Putteman, E., Sami, H., de Souza Carvalho-Wodarz, C., Franzyk, H., Nielsen, H.M., Braeckmans, K., Lehr, C.M., Ogris, M., Foged, C., 2019. Mechanistic profiling of the release kinetics of siRNA from lipidoid-polymer hybrid nanoparticles in vitro and in vivo after pulmonary administration. J. Control. Release 310, 82–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.08.004
- Wang, F., Hu, K., Cheng, Y., 2016. Structure-activity relationship of dendrimers engineered with twenty common amino acids in gene delivery. Acta Biomater. 29, 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2015.10.034
- Wong, S.Y., Pelet, J.M., Putnam, D., 2007. Polymer systems for gene delivery Past , present , and future. Prog. Polym. Sci. 32, 799–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2007.05.007
- Wright, T.A., Stewart, J.M., Page, R.C., Konkolewicz, D., 2017. Extraction of Thermodynamic Parameters of Protein Unfolding using Parallelized Differential Scanning Fluorimetry. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpclett.6b02894
- Yacobi, N.R., Malmstadt, N., Fazlollahi, F., DeMaio, L., Marchelletta, R., Hamm-Alvarez, S.F., Borok, Z.,
 Kim, K.J., Crandall, E.D., 2010. Mechanisms of alveolar epithelial translocation of a defined population of nanoparticles. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 42, 604–614. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2009-01380C
- Yin, M.M., Chen, W.Q., Lu, Y.Q., Han, J.Y., Liu, Y., Jiang, F.L., 2020. A model beyond protein corona: Thermodynamics and binding stoichiometries of the interactions between ultrasmall gold nanoclusters and proteins. Nanoscale 12, 4573–4585. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9nr09170j
- Yu, Q., Zhan, Y., Zhang, J., Luan, C., Wang, B., Yu Xiao-Qi, 2017. Aromatic Modification of Low Molecular Weight PEI for Enhanced Gene Delivery. Polymers (Basel). 9, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym9080362

Academic achievements

Research papers included in PhD thesis:

- Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Noske, S, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, "Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: biophysical characterization and toxicity", *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 121468, 0378-5173, 2022. IF = 6.51, 100 p. MEiN
- Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, "Comparison of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight branched and linear polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery", *Nanotoxicology*, Nov-Dec;16(9-10): 867-882, 2022. IF= 5.881. 140 p. MEIN
- Kubczak M, Grodzicka M, Michlewska S, Karimov M, Ewe A, Aigner A, Bryszewska M, Ionov M, "The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure –thermodynamic and spectroscopic study", *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 227,113359, 2023. IF = 5.999, 100 p. MEIN
- Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Bryszewska, M, Aigner, A, Ionov, M, "Nanoparticles for local delivery of siRNA in lung therapy", *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 114038, 0169-409X, 2021. IF = 16.04, 200 p. MEIN

Total IF: 34.43 Total MEiN points: 540

Other research papers, not included in PhD thesis:

- Michlewska S, Garaiova Z, Šubjakova V, Hołota M, Kubczak M, Grodzicka M, Okła E, Naziris N, Balcerzak Ł, Ortega P, de la Mata F.J, Hianik T, Waczulikova I, Bryszewska M, Ionov M, "Lipid-coated ruthenium dendrimer conjugated with doxorubicin in anticancer drug delivery: Introducing protocols", *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces,* 2023. IF= 5.999, 100 p. MEiN
- Michlewska S, Maly M, Wójkowska D, Karolczak K, Skiba E, Hołota M, Kubczak M, Ortega P, Watala C, Javier de la Mata F, Bryszewska M, Ionov M, "Carbosilane ruthenium metallodendrimer as alternative anti-cancer drug carrier in triple negative breast cancer mouse model: A preliminary study", *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, Apr 5;636:122784, 2023. IF= 6.51, 100 p. MEiN
- Kubczak M, Khassenova AB, Skalski B, Michlewska S, Wielanek M, Skłodowska M, Aralbayeva AN, Nabiyeva ZS, Murzakhmetova MK, Zamaraeva M, Bryszewska M, Ionov M, "Hippophae rhamnoides L. leaf and twig extracts as rich sources of nutrients and bioactive compounds with antioxidant activity" *Scientific Reports*, Jan 20;12(1):1095, 2022. IF= 4.996, 140 p. MEiN
- Kubczak M, Szustka A, Rogalińska M, "Molecular Targets of Natural Compounds with Anti-Cancer Properties", International Journal of Molecular Sciences, Dec 20;22(24):13659, 2021. IF= 6.208, 140 p. MEIN
- Karimov M, Schulz M, Kahl T, Noske S, Kubczak M, Gockel I, Thieme R, Büch T, Reinert A, Ionov M, Bryszewska M, Franke H, Krügel U, Ewe A, Aigner A, "Tyrosine-modified linear PEIs for highly efficacious and biocompatible siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo" Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine, Aug;36:102403, 2021. IF= 6.14, 140 p. MEiN

Michlewska S, Maroto M, Hołota M, Kubczak M, Sanz Del Olmo N, Ortega P, Shcharbin D, de la Mata FJ, Bryszewska M, Ionov M, "Combined therapy of ruthenium dendrimers and anti-cancer drugs against human leukemic cells", *Dalton Transactions*, Jul 13;50(27):9500-9511, 2021. IF= 4.569, 140 p. MEIN

 Kubczak M, Khassenova A.B, Skalski B, Michlewska S, Wielanek M, Aralbayeva A.N, Murzakhmetova M.K, Zamaraeva M, Skłodowska M, Bryszewska M, Ionov M, "Bioactive Compounds and Antiradical Activity of the *Rosa canina* L. Leaf and Twig Extracts", *Agronomy*, 10, 1897, **2020. IF= 3.417, 100 p. MEiN**

- Kubczak M, Szustka A, Błoński JZ, Gucký T, Misiewicz M, Krystof V, Robak P, Rogalińska M, "Dose and drug changes in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cell response in vitro: A comparison of standard therapy regimens with two novel cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors" *Molecular Medicine Reports*, May;19(5):3593-3603, 2019. IF= 2.100, 70 p. MEIN
- Hołota M, Magiera J, Michlewska S, Kubczak M, Del Olmo NS, García-Gallego S, Ortega P, de la Mata FJ, Ionov M, Bryszewska M. "In Vitro Anticancer Properties of Copper Metallodendrimers" *Biomolecules*, Apr 18;9(4):155, 2019. IF= 4.694, 100 p. MEIN
- 10. Michlewska S, Kubczak M, Maroto-Díaz M, Sanz Del Olmo N, Ortega P, Shcharbin D, Gomez Ramirez R, Javier de la Mata F, Ionov M, Bryszewska M. "Synthesis and Characterization of FITC Labelled Ruthenium Dendrimer as a Prospective Anticancer Drug", *Biomolecules*, Aug 25;9(9):411, 2019. IF= 4.694, 100 p. MEiN
- Kubczak M, Rogalińska M. "Ewolucja przeciwciał monoklonalnych w leczeniu chorób nowotworowych" [Evolution of monoclonal antibodies in cancer treatment]. *Postępy Biochemii*, 62 (4): 518-525, 2016. IF= 0, 70 p. MEiN

Total IF (calculated based on IF in the year of publication): 83.757

Total IF of publications included in PhD thesis: 34.43

Total IF of publications not included in PhD thesis: 49.327

Total MEiN points: 1740

Total MEiN points of publications included in PhD thesis: 540

Total MEiN points of publications not included in PhD thesis: 1200

H-index (according to WoS): 6

Citation number: 84

Number of conference abstracts: 18

Active participation on the conferences:

- Kubczak M, Szustka A, Gucký T, Krystof V, Błoński J, Robak T, Rogalińska M, Nowe pochodne roskowityny jako induktory apoptozy w komórkach przewlekłej białaczki limfocytowej, III Ogólnopolska Konferencja Doktornatów Nauk o Życiu, Bioopen, 11-12.05.2017, Lodz, poster
- Szustka A, Kubczak M, Błoński J, Góralski P, Robak T, Rogalińska M. Analiza potencjału antynowotworowego związków pochodzenia naturalnego. III Ogólnopolska Konferencja Doktornatów Nauk o Życiu, Bioopen, 11-12.05.2017, Lodz, poster
- Kubczak M, Szustka A, Gucký T, Krystof V, Błoński J, Robak T, Rogalińska M, Novel roscovitine derivatives as promising drugs for CLL treatment, 9th International Conference of Contemporary Oncology, 22-24.03.2017, Poznan, poster
- Szustka A, Kubczak M, Błoński J, Góralski P, Robak T, Rogalińska M. Natural compounds as a potential anticancer agents for CLL. 9th International Conference of Contemporary Oncology, 22-24.03.2017, Poznan, poster
- Kubczak M, Szustka A, Rogalińska M, Mcl-1 w patogenezie i terapii przewlekłej białaczki limfocytowej, IX Interdyscypliarna Konferencja Naukowa Tygiel, 18-19.03.2017, Lublin, oral presentation
- Szustka A, Kubczak M, Rogalińska M, Zastosowanie związków naturalnych jako induktorów apoptozy przewlekłej białaczki limfocytowej. IX Interdyscypliarna Konferencja Naukowa Tygiel, 18-19.03.2017, Lublin, poster
- Rogalińska M, Kubczak M, Szustka A, Cygankiewicz A, Barciszewski J, Błoński J, Góralski P, Piekarski H, Robak T, Kiliańska ZM. Anticancer drugs could imply on CLL cell signaling as well as on apoptosis induction. 2nd Congress BIO 2016. 13-16.09.2016, Wroclaw, poster
- Rogalińska M, Błoński J, Góralski P, Robak T, Kubczak M, Szustka A, Rogalska A, Koceva-Chyła A, Barciszewski J, Piekarski H, Robak T, Kiliańska ZM. Personalized versus directed therapy for CLL. 8th International Conference of Contemporary Oncology. 16-18.03.2016, Poznan, poster
- Szustka A, Kubczak M, Krześlak A. Apoptoza i autofagia partnerzy na śmierć i życie.
 X Interdyscyplinarna Konferencja Naukowa TYGIEL 17-18.03.2018, Lublin, oral presentation

- Kubczak M, Aleksandra Szustka A, Czy sygnały wysyłane przez komórki apoptotyczne mogą działać oknogennie? X Interdyscyplinarna Konferencja Naukowa TYGIEL. 17-18.03.2018, Lublin, oral presentation
- Szustka A, Kubczak M, Błoński J.Z, Robak T, Rogalińska M. Anticancer activity of natural compounds in CLL cells.10th Anniversary International Conference of Contemporary Oncology. 22-24.03.2018, Poznan, poster
- Kubczak M, Szustka A, Gucky T, Krystof V, Błoński J.Z, Robak T, Rogalińska M. The comparison of roscovitine derivatives activity with novel kinase and Bcl-2inhibitors on CLL cells. 10th Anniversary International Conference of Contemporary Oncology. 22-24.03.2018, Poznan, poster
- 13. Michlewska S, **Kubczak M**, Maroto-Diaz M, Ionov M, Gomez Ramirez ., de la Mata, F.J, Bryszewska M, Carbosilane ruthenium dendrimers as a candidate for controlled delivery and imaging in anticancer therapy. International conference Perspective Technologies in Vaccination and Immunotherapy, Moscow, 05-08.10.2018, oral presentation
- Grodzicka M, Kubczak M, Michlewska S, Oddziaływanie dendrymerów zawierających atomy miedzi z aminotransferazą asparaginianową (AST), XIII Interdyscyplinarna Konferencja Naukowa Tygiel 2021, 25-28.03.2021, (on-line), poster
- Kubczak M, Grodzicka M, Ionov, M, Polimery modyfikowane tyrozyną jako nośniki siRNA, "XIV Ogólnokrajowa Konferencja Młodzi Naukowcy w Polsce Badania i Rozwój" 26.11.2021 (on-line), poster
- 16. Kubczak M, Karimov M, Ewe A, Miłowska K, Aigner A, Ionov M, Bryszewska M, "Tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines as promissing sirna carriers in lung cancer terapy", 18th Congress of the Polish Biophysical Society, Warsaw, 06-09.09.2022, poster
- 17. Kubczak M, Michlewska S, Karimov M, Ewe A, Aigner A, Bryszewska M, Ionov M, "The efficacy of vasohibin 2 gene expression knockdown and biological relevance in pancreatic cancer cells and tumor associated macrophages", ESMO Immuno-Oncology Annual Congress, Geneva, 07-09.12.2022, poster
- 18. **Kubczak M**, Michlewska S, Miłowska K, Karimov M, Ewe A, Aigner A, Bryszweska M, Ionov M. Tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines serve as efficient and non-toxic sirna

carriers. 25th International Conference on Redox Medicine 2023 June 21-23 – Paris, France, poster

Other scientific activities:

Participation in the research projects:

- Tyrosine-modified polyethylenimine polymers as a promising vectors for siRNA delivery in synergistic cancer immunotherapy. 01.02.2021 - 31.01.2024 – NCN PRELUDIUM 19 - 2020/37/N/NZ5/02359 – Principal Investigator
- Novel polymeric nanoparticles for pulmonary nucleic acid therapy synthesis, toxicological analysis and biological / therapeutic assessment, 01.01.2021 – 30.11.2013, BEETHOVEN Life 1 – Polish-German Funding Initiative – Researcher.
- New drug delivery nanosystem combining liposomal and dendrimeric technology (liposomal locked-in dendrimers) for development of cytostatic drugs, 01.01.2019 – 31.12.2021, Bilateral exchange of researchers between Poland and Slovakia. NAWA, PPN/BIL/2018/1/00150/U/00001.

Internships:

 A three-month research internship at the Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology. Rudolf Boehm, University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany.

Workshops and events:

- Research assistance for an intern student in cooperation with the Department of Biotechnology, Faculty of Food Production, Almaty University of Technology, Kazakhstan, October-December 2018
- Workshop on gamification and IT tools, Lodz, 11 12.02.2019
- Research assistance for an intern student as part of international cooperation with the Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology of the University of Leipzig, Germany, February - April 2019

- Training on writing research projects, Lodz, March/April 2019
- Workshop "Measure binding affinities and protein stability with Nanotemper Technologies", Lodz, 24-25.04.2019
- Workshop "Innovative solutions for mammalian cell culture", Lodz, 23.05.2019
- Workshop "Using real time PCR technique in gene expression analysis", Warsaw, 24-26.10.2019
- Workshop on creativity and innovation, Lodz, 29.10.2019
- English workshop with native speaker, Lodz, 22.10 20.12.2019
- Workshop on writing scientific papers in English, Lodz, 04 05.11.2019
- Workshop on commercialization of research results, Lodz, 13.11 18.12.2019
- Workshop on self-presentation and public speaking, Lodz, 02. 04.07.2020
- Workshop "NGS sequencing and data analysis", (on-line), 21-23.03.2022

Prizes and awards:

- Pro-quality scholarship for the best PhD Students: 2018/2019, 2021/2022, 2022/2023
- Rector's scholarship for the best PhD Students: 2018/2019, 2019/2020

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 179 (2021) 114038

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/adr

Nanoparticles for local delivery of siRNA in lung therapy

Małgorzata Kubczak^a, Sylwia Michlewska^b, Maria Bryszewska^a, Achim Aigner^c, Maksim Ionov^{a,*}

^a Department of General Biophysics, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland

^b Laboratory of Microscopic Imaging and Specialized Biological Techniques, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland

^c Rudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Leipzig University, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 September 2021 Revised 26 October 2021 Accepted 1 November 2021 Available online 3 November 2021

Keywords: Drug delivery Nanoparticles Nucleic acids administration Lung cancer therapy

ABSTRACT

An overview of the application of natural and synthetic, non-viral vectors for oligonucleotide delivery into the lung is presented in this review, with a special focus on lung cancer. Due to the specificity of the respiratory tract, its structure and natural barriers, the administration of drugs (especially those based on nucleic acids) is a particular challenge.

Among widely tested non-viral drug and oligonucleotides carriers, synthetic polymers seem to be most promising. Unique properties of these nanoparticles allow for essentially unlimited possibilities regarding their design and modification. This gives hope that optimal nanoparticles with ideal nucleic acid carrier properties for lung cancer therapy will eventually emanate.

© 2021 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Histological organization and function of the respiratory tract	2
3.	Pulmonary routes of nucleic acid administration	4
4.	Biological barriers of the alveolar region	4
	4.1. Mucus	5
	4.2. The pulmonary surfactant	5
	4.3. Alveolar macrophages	7
5.	Nanoparticles for oligonucleotide delivery to the respiratory tract	7
	5.1. Lipid-based nanoparticles in pulmonary delivery	8
	5.2. Inorganic nanoparticles in pulmonary delivery	0
	5.3. Peptide-based delivery vectors	0
	5.4. Exosome-based delivery vectors	1
	5.5. Chitosan	1
	5.6. Synthetic polymeric nano-vectors in pulmonary nucleic acid delivery 1	1
	5.6.1. Dendrimers	1
	5.6.2. PLGA xxxx	2
	5.6.3. PEI xxxx	2
6.	Conclusion and future prospects	2
	Declaration of Competing Interest	3
	Acknowledgements	4
	References 1	4

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* maksim.ionov@biol.uni.lodz.pl (M. Ionov).







1. Introduction

Lung cancer is one of the most common lethal diseases and equally affects men and women [1]. The two main types of lung cancer are non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and small cell lung cancer (SCLC). According to the literature, around 85% of all lung cancers consist non-small cell lung cancer, with its three subtypes adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma and large-cell carcinoma. Adenocarcinomas account for about 40% and originate from peripheral lung tissues, while 25% are squamous cell carcinomas originating from proximal airway epithelial cells and 15% are large cell carcinomas from epithelial cells [2]. Surgery, radio- and chemotherapy are the conventional and most widely used methods to treat lung cancer. However, due to limitations such as poor therapeutic efficacy, toxicity and adverse effects towards normal tissues, novel treatment strategies are needed. Beyond targeted therapies based on specific inhibitors, gene or oligonucleotide therapies are very promising [3-5]. In particular, this includes gene knockdown strategies.

Since its discovery in 1998, the therapeutic potential of RNA interference (RNAi) has been extensively studied [6-12]. Small interfering RNA (siRNA) for the induction of RNAi seem to be among the best candidates for nucleic acid-based therapeutics [13]. siRNA therapeutics have some benefits over conventional chemotherapies, including lower toxicity, less side effects and the possibility of targeting any gene of interest, also covering otherwise 'undruggable' genes [6,14,15] and thus making them very powerful therapeutic tools. Currently, various genes involved in cell growth and proliferation, cell survival, cell cycle, tumor vascularization, metastasis, and drug resistance are targets for RNAi approaches in lung cancer. Among others, siRNA-based therapeutics have been explored against PLK-1, Bcl-2, Akt1, BIRC5/CCNB, WT-1 or MDM2. Indeed, the silencing of these genes in lung cancer cells in vitro and in vivo has been shown to lead to cancer inhibition [16-22].

However, siRNA is negatively charged with a molecular weight around 13 kDa and thus unable to cross the cellular membrane. Additionally, siRNA is very sensitive to digestion by nucleases and to enzymatic/non-enzymatic degradation. Therefore, the therapeutic application of siRNA requires a delivery system which protects from nucleases, facilitates cellular uptake and mediates intracellular siRNA trafficking to its site of action [23–26]. With the exception of certain siRNA conjugates like e.g. GalNAc-siRNA for selective uptake in hepatocytes, most systems rely on nanoparticle systems, which are the topic of this review.

Different types of nanoparticles are intensively studied as potential oligonucleotide carriers. Nanoparticles may be transported into the cells by endocytosis [27,28]. For efficient endocytosis, nanoparticles should be around 150 nm in size; however, larger nanoparticles have been found to be efficiently taken up by cells as well [27]. Larger aggregates entering the respiratory tract must be redispersed into smaller particles prior to endocytotic uptake.

Mechanistically, several types of endocytosis can be distinguished, which may affect the eventual intracellular fate of the nanoparticle. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis is the bestcharacterized way found in all mammalian cells. Nanoparticles are enclosed in so-called 'clathrin-coated vesicles' and transported to the early endosomes. These early endosomes are then transformed into late endosomes and finally into lysosomes. Endosomal/lysosomal escape of nanoparticles may be limiting for nanoparticle efficacy and is thus a major issue to be solved, and since lysosomes are acidified with the pH value decreasing to pH 5, siRNA must be protected from degradation [27].

Caveolae-mediated endocytosis is another mechanism that is able to mediate nanoparticle uptake. After the internalization process, the nanoparticles are enclosed in caveolin-coated vesicles called caveosomes. The caveosomes are non-acidic and do not possess any hydrolytic enzymes, and nanoparticles may be translocated directly to the Golgi or the endoplasmic reticulum, avoiding lysosomes [28]. Caveolin is expressed in many types of cells, including pulmonary cells. Therefore, caveolae-mediated endocytosis may be an important mode of nanoparticle uptake the in pulmonary system. It may provide an attractive alternative for cell entry, especially when the delivery vectors cannot escape from the acidic environment of clathrin-coated endosomes [29,30].

The last mechanism of cellular uptake that may occur in the lungs is phagocytosis. This process can be carried out only by specialized cells and it is believed that the role of phagocytosis in nanoparticle delivery is limited, with the exception of therapies aiming to target alveolar macrophages. However, according to the literature, nanoparticles taken up by macrophages are eventually digested in phagocytosomes, thus highlighting that intracellular processing rather than uptake efficacy may be the limiting factor [31].

The systemic delivery of naked, unmodified siRNAs is practically impossible, while some efficacy was found upon their direct, local administration into the lungs [32–36]. In these studies, the siRNA was administered intranasally or intratracheally to mice and silencing of endogenous and viral genes was achieved. The fact that lower nuclease activity has been reported for lung tissues may have influenced the efficiency of naked siRNA [34]. Still, the use of naked siRNA directly applied to the lung will be limited to certain cases and for example not applicable for diseases related to deeper parts of the lungs. Aerosol inhalation is an administration route of choice, requiring a delivery agent [37]. Beyond the requirements stated above, nanoparticles should also protect the siRNA from shear force during the nebulizing process. The use of delivery vectors may also enhance the cell specific targeting, they should improve pharmacokinetics and facilitate the uptake [38-40]. Therefore, the development of powerful delivery vectors for pulmonary siRNA application is still a challenge.

2. Histological organization and function of the respiratory tract

The knowledge of the respiratory tract structure provides the basis for designing effective pulmonary delivery systems. The respiratory tract can be divided into two regions, i.e., the conducting airways and the respiratory area (Fig. 1).

The conducting airways are an air transport system and include the mouth/nasal cavity, pharynx, larynx, trachea, bronchi and bronchioles [55]. The respiratory zone is made up of respiratory bronchioles and alveoli [39].

The most prominent feature of the respiratory tract is its high degree of branching. Lungs resemble an inverted tree, where the conducting airways branch systematically over more than 20 generations, before reaching the alveoli. This allows to deliver warmed, humidified and filtered air to the gas exchange area [56]. More than 40 types of cells have been found in the pulmonary structures [57]. The conducting airway epithelium consists of basal, ciliated and secretory cells. Ciliated cells (20–60 μ m) average approximately 50% of all cells from the conducting region. Each cell is coated by about 250 cilia [58]. Their function is moving the upper layer of mucus to the proximal airways, providing clearance and metabolism. The basal cells can be found near the basement membrane [58,59]. They were proposed to be progenitors of ciliated cells. The family of secretory cells includes Clara cells, mucous, goblet and serous cells. These cells secrete the molecules found in the mucus layer [59]. The structure of the airway epithelium in distal bronchioles is different. The cells are more cuboidal and non-ciliated [60]. Also, the thickness of the protective mucus



Fig. 1. The organization and structure of the respiratory tract.



Fig. 2. Scheme of epithelial morphologies within different lung regions. The morphology of exemplary parts of the lung epithelium in bronchi, terminal bronchi and alveolar region is shown.

layer progressively decreases from $10-30\,\mu m$ on the level of the trachea to 2–5 μm in the smaller alveoli (Fig. 2) [61].

Two cell types are mainly found in the alveolar region: type I and type II pneumocytes. Type I pneumocytes show a flattened shape with a thickness of about 2–3 μ m around the perinuclear region and only 0.02 μ m in the cell periphery [57]. Although type I pneumocytes account for only 10% of all alveolar cells, they cover more than 90% of the alveolar surface due to their structure [62,63]. They provide an excellent gas exchange platform between the alveolar zone and capillary vesicles [57].

Type II pneumocytes play a secretory role in the alveolar region [63–65]. Their shape is more cuboidal and for this reason, although they are more abundant than type I pneumocytes, they cover only 5% of the alveolar surface [63–65].

The histology of lungs in disease conditions is frequently altered, terminally leading to lung obstruction. Airway epithelium is composed of many cell types which exhibit impaired morphology during disease like chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), cystic fibrosis (CF), asthma or lung cancers. In COPD, obstruction and disappearance of bronchioles with a subsequent emphysema occur. Basal cell hyperplasia was the first lesion described for COPD. Recent studies also confirmed impaired stemness of basal cells during COPD. Goblet cell hyperplasia and metaplasia was identified in patients, as well as reduced numbers of ciliated cells. Remaining ciliated cells exhibited dysfunctional cilia, limited beating frequency and shortening. The appearance of squamous metaplasia in epithelium is related with COPD obstruction as well [66,67]. The main histological changes in asthma refer to changes in the cell composition in airway epithelium, where the most prominent lesion is goblet cell hyperplasia and metaplasia. Hypertrophy of submucosal glands and impaired goblet cell morphology result in excessive mucus production. Mucus under asthma conditions is enriched in overexpressed MUC5AC and MUC5B. Similarly to asthma, cystic fibrosis is also related to changes in the mucus content. Due to the stasis of viscous mucus, the mucociliary clearance is decreased, leading to higher risk of infection. The main lesions in the epithelium refer to the hyperplasia of goblet and basal cells [58,68–70].

As mentioned previously, lung cancer is a very heterogenic group, with each type exhibiting different morphological and histological patterns. Most lung cancers originate from airway epithelium. Due to their proliferative capacity, secretory and basal cells were proposed as progenitor cells for bronchogenic cancer types [71]. The main lesions in the cell morphology described for lung cancer pathology are squamous dysplasia, atypical adenomatous hyperplasia and carcinoma in situ [72]. Squamous cell carcinoma is typically located in the central zone of the lungs. It appears in the area of bronchus with altered, dysplastic, squamous epithelium. Small cell undifferentiated carcinomas originate from the bronchial epithelium in their first few branchings. Their morphology is very homogenous, they present as comma-shaped cells, small, round cells, fusiform cells and larger intermediate cells. On the other hand, large cell undifferentiated carcinomas are localized in the central part of the lungs. Their major morphological feature is the large size of cells and lack of differentiated histology. Adenocarcinomas are located in the central part of the lungs as well and originate mainly from the bronchial epithelium. They represent a broad range of secretory and glandular patterns [2,5,73].

The localization of cancer lesions in the lungs have been extensively studied. Most cancer lesions appeared in the bronchi (first, second, third-order), the rest was found in the distal parts [74]. Interestingly, cancers located peripherally were largely described as adenocarcinomas [75]. In another study, it was revealed that 50–60% of lung cancers are located in distal bronchi and bronchioles. Another group found that peripherally located tumors consisted only 8% among all lung tumors [73].

3. Pulmonary routes of nucleic acid administration

Three methods of delivering drugs to the lungs can be distinguished: intratracheal, intranasal and inhalation. However, the intratracheal route of administration is an invasive method and thus not practicable in humans. Gene or oligonucleotide delivery via the intranasal route has been tested in rodents, but results are difficult to extrapolate to humans due to their more complex respiratory system. The most promising non-invasive way for delivering drugs to the lung seems to be the inhalation route, also because of an efficient and rather simple setup [40,76–79]. Direct delivery of drugs to the respiratory system is achieved by inhalation of aerosols [80,81].

Several devices for inhalation exist, such as dose inhalers, drypowder inhalers and nebulizers [67,69,82–85]. Dose inhalers are the most popular devices for inhalation. The therapeutic agents are delivered as a pressurized solution dissolved or suspended in propellants [67,83]. Propellants serve as substances that provide a driving pressure to aerosolize the therapeutic agents for inhalation. However, this method cannot be adapted to siRNA delivery since lung deposition after the usage of dose inhalers is poor [86]. Additionally, the propellants exert negative effects on the environment [67] and their poor compatibility with the therapeutic formulation may be an additional problem.

Thus, dry powder inhalation (DPI) is the more promising way for pulmonary administration of siRNA. In this system, drugs are delivered to the lungs as a cloud of dry particles [67,69,82,85]. Also, based on its successful use for the in vivo delivery of substances like insulin, heparin or hormones, this seems to be an appropriate tool for pulmonary siRNA delivery. However, the formulation of biological molecules as a dry powder has some limitations and requires stability of the biomolecules [87,88]. The major problem that arises when the DPI technique is applied relates to differences in drug deposition, which was found to be dependent on the patients' inspiration flow rate. De-aggregation of dry powders is another limitation for DPI formulations [69]. Furthermore, a proper nanocarrier and formulation technique is necessary for siRNA formulation, in order to protect the oligonucleotide from shear force and high temperature during the drying process [82,89]. Despite the challenges in optimizing DPI formulations, their advantages for pulmonary drug delivery are significant. They increase the stability and sterility of the therapeutic agents and do not require the use of propellants [82,89–91].

Finally, another method is based on using nebulizers for producing liquid aerosols, suitable for the inhalative delivery of large volumes of drug solutions. They are used for drugs that are not suited for dose inhalers or dry powder inhalers and can be also adapted to siRNA formulations [67,69,82,84]. However, high shear forces may contribute to oligonucleotide degradation and biomolecules are less stable in liquid environment. Therefore, nanovectors protecting the siRNA from physical and chemical degradation are required, regardless of the method used for administration [92,93].

4. Biological barriers of the alveolar region

Presently, nanoparticles are considered as proper tools for crossing biological barriers in the respiratory system. Despite promising studies using different types of nanoparticles as carrier systems, research still aims at the design of new and more efficient vehicles.

In the last years, the knowledge regarding the design of nanoparticles suitable as optimal delivery systems has significantly increased. Researchers found that manipulating the particle diameter may help to control the kinetic profile of polymeric vectors. Three mechanisms are responsible for nanoparticle sedimentation in the lungs: Brownian diffusion, gravitational sedimentation and inertial impaction [55,94,95]. Particles with a diameter > 1 μ m are deposited mainly by gravitational sedimentation and inertial impaction. In turn, for nanoparticles < 0.2 µm the Brownian diffusion is the main deposition mechanism. Particles with a diameter of about 0.1 μ m and between 1 and 5 μ m are mainly localized in the alveolar region, whereas larger particles (>5 µm) are destined to the upper lung region. Nanoparticles with a diameter between 0.1 and 1 µm are mostly exhaled during breathing and their deposition in the alveolar region is very poor [94,95]. Likewise, nanoparticles accumulate in different parts of the lung in a sizedependent manner. For instance, almost 90% of nanoparticles with a diameter around 1 nm were found to be localized in the nasopharyngeal area, 10% in the tracheobronchial area and almost none reached the alveolar system. In turn, 50% of nanoparticles 20 nm in diameter were accumulated in the alveolar system, while 15% were localized in nasopharyngeal and tracheobronchial areas [94].

Biological barriers in the respiratory system, such as mucus, pulmonary surfactant or alveolar macrophages, are main obstacles for transport to the lung cells (Fig. 3). These factors severely impair an accumulation of nano-therapeutics at their designated target sites and, as a result, response towards treatment may differ from what is expected.


Fig. 3. The organization of the blood gas exchange barrier in the alveolar region.

4.1. Mucus

The presence of mucus in the respiratory system is a factor that severely affects the transport of nanoparticles. Mucus is composed of water (95%), mucins (2–5%), non-mucin proteins, DNA, enzymes, salts, bacteria, and others [64,80,96] (Fig. 4).

Mucins are a class of glycoproteins containing large amounts of O-glycosylated repeats in the polypeptide backbones [97]. The presence of 40–80% glycans make mucins negatively charged under physiologic conditions [97,98]. Among the five mucins identified in respiratory mucus, MUC5A and MUC5B are responsible for maintaining the viscosity in the airways [99,100]. Mucins are able to form a complex mesh, due to their affinity to interact with other mucin molecules via disulfide bonds [101]. However, the evaluation of pore size is a controversial issue, because of some difficulties in the sample preparation. Pore sizes can differ significantly, from 100 nm to several micrometers [96,102,103].

Moreover, due to its negative charge provided by glycans, the respiratory mucus is prone to electrostatic interactions with positively charged (nano-)particles. Additionally, some non-glycosylated polypeptides are able to interact with nanoparticles via hydrophobic interactions. The mucus pore size as well as electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions are thus the main mechanisms of particle entrapment in the mucus layer. These properties of mucus efficiently protect the respiratory system against any unfavorable particles. Therefore, the detailed knowledge about the mucus structure and composition is very important for developing new delivery systems [98,104,105].

Particles useful for pulmonary disease treatment should overcome the mucus barrier prior to releasing their payload from the nano-vector. Nanotherapeutics should penetrate at least the upper layer of mucus towards epithelial cells in order to avoid the mucociliary clearance mechanism [80]. One strategy for passing the mucus barrier is the use of mucolytic agents as adjuvant therapy [106]. Mucolytic agents are able to disrupt the mucus structure. The addition of N-acetylcysteine may effectively reduce the viscosity, due to its high affinity to disulfide bonds [107]. Similarly, the degradation of DNA that accumulates in the mucus layer under



Fig. 4. The biochemical composition of mucus.

some physiological conditions may lead to decreased viscosity of the respiratory mucus [100,106]. On the other hand, increased contact with mucus results in prolonged residence times of therapeutic agents in the lung tissue [98]. It is known that mucoadhesive agents alter the mucus rheology by increasing the viscosity. This may lead to decreased mucociliary clearance rates and prolonged residence in the respiratory tract [100,104]. However, using mucoadhesive or mucolytic substances always affects the morphology and protective function of respiratory mucus. The use of such substances may thus result in undesired effects, like the penetration of unwanted factors into the mucus laver in parallel with the therapeutic nanoparticles [100]. Currently, one of the most innovative approaches in overcoming the mucus laver relies on mucus-penetrating nanoparticles [108,109]. These particles should cross the mucus gel at rates similar to their diffusion in water. If the nanoparticles are smaller than the pores in the mucus mesh and the fluid in the pores has a viscosity similar to water, it is possible for nanoparticles to penetrate the mucus layer. However, this also requires that they do not interact with mucins [102]. Uncoated nanoparticles with hydrophobic domains may interact with nonglycosylated parts of mucin fibers, which exhibit a high potency for hydrophobic interaction. In turn, cationic residues are able to interact with mucus based on electrostatic forces, due to their high affinity to glycosylated, highly anionic regions of mucins [98]. Thus, for efficient penetration particles should be hydrophilic and the surface charge should be negative or neutral [110].

4.2. The pulmonary surfactant

The pulmonary surfactant (PS) is located at the air-aqueous interface of the aqueous hypophase lining in the alveoli [111]. Nanoparticles have to overcome PS prior to reaching the pneumocytes (Fig. 5). PS consists of lipids (90%) and proteins (10%) [112,113]. An essential part of PS are saturated phosphatidylcholines, including dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC) – the most important lipid for maintaining the interfacial surface tension at levels down to nearly zero. Other lipid components are unsaturated phosphatidylcholines (PC), anionic phosphatidylglycerol (PG) and phosphatidylinositol (PI) as well as neutral lipids, such as cholesterol (Chol) [39]. The 10% protein content of pulmonary surfactant comprises two families of proteins, hydrophilic SP-A and SP-D and hydrophobic SP-B and SP-C [114].

The large, hydrophilic proteins SP-A and SP-D were first described in the 1980s. Both proteins contain collagen-like regions at the N-terminus and ligand-binding C-type lectin domains at the C-terminus. Based on their structure, they were assigned to the collagen-lectin (collectin) family [115]. They are weakly attached to the surfactant surface and play a primary role in host defense by binding to particles and pathogens, enhancing phagocytic clearance. In turn, hydrophobic proteins are smaller and tightly bound



Fig. 5. The biochemical composition and the functional organization of the pulmonary surfactant. (A) The surfactant layer is localized in the alveolar region. (B) Schematic depiction showing the complexity of the surfactant layer including the main components that can be found there. (C) The main biochemical components are lipids (PL, phospholipids; PC, phosphatidylcholine; DPPC, dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine; PG, phosphatidylglycerol; Chol, cholesterol; NL, neutral lipids) and surfactant proteins (SP-A, SP-B, SP-C, SP-D).



Fig. 6. The interactions of different types of nanoparticles with pulmonary surfactant.

to the surfactant film. Their crucial role is regulating surface tension in the lungs to very low, near to zero levels [114].

While the PS is a crucial barrier nanoparticles have to overcome in order to reach the alveoli region, it may enhance the bioavailability of inhaled therapeutics (Fig. 6). Pulmonary surfactant may facilitate nanoparticle displacement to the alveolar lining fluid by increase of nanoparticle solubility. If the nanoparticles display a size lower than the surfactant thickness, their interaction with the PS phospholipids may cause a rapid displacement to the alveolar region. The transport of larger molecules is determined by the cross-talk of SP-A and SP-D proteins, alveolar macrophages and epithelial cells [116]. Previous studies have shown that SP proteins were able to bind magnetic nanoparticles. Moreover, the activity of proteins promoted the clearance of magnetic nanoparticles by alveolar macrophages [116,117]. Hydrophobic nanoparticles may rapidly penetrate the surfactant layer, whereas hydrophilic nanoparticles are trapped by the surfactant layer [112,114,118,119]. In turn, hydrophobic nanoparticles were found

to inhibit the properties of pulmonary surfactant more efficiently than the hydrophilic ones [118].

The charge of nanoparticles is an important factor that also determines their interaction with protein components of the pulmonary surfactant. It is known that anionic particles can interact with surfactant protein B, but not with surfactant protein C. Thus, anionic, hydrophilic particles are easily entrapped in the surfactant monolayer by SP-B. Hydrophobic, anionic nanoparticles, although trapped in the PS monolayer, interact with SP-B in the surfactant film as well. Additionally, negatively charged nanoparticles were shown to affect the activity of pulmonary surfactant, while similar effects were not observed in the case of positively charged nanoparticles [119].

All features characteristic for nanoparticles will also determine the formation of the so-called 'protein corona'. Upon contact with biological materials and media, nanoparticles will be rapidly covered by biomolecules [120]. This corona on the surface of nanoparticles further determines their interaction with other molecules and tissue structures in the body [121].

The protein corona is usually composed of two distinct types, the so-called 'hard corona' and the 'soft corona'. The hard corona shows higher affinity to the nanoparticle surface, determines the interaction with cells and is crucial for drug/nucleic acid release. The soft corona consists of proteins with lower affinity to the nanoparticle surface and is characterized by higher exchange ratios [122]. The pulmonary surfactant is a first endogenous barrier which nanoparticles must overcome. It has been demonstrated that a surfactant corona is formed within a few minutes, regardless of nanoparticle composition, size and charge [117–119]. The corona was shown to be formed in accordance with the Vroman theory (high abundance proteins with lower affinity were bound first, then being displaced by less abundant proteins with higher affinity) [123]. Protein composition and lipid amounts were found to differ between different types of nanoparticles. In the case of hydrophilic nanoparticles, proteins were bound first and then attracted lipids from the surfactant layer. In turn, hydrophobic particles preferentially bound lipids and lipid-associated proteins from the pulmonary surfactant layer, with subsequent impairment of the surfactant function [124,125]. This is of relevance since, for safety reasons, the design of therapeutic nanoparticles which would have minimal effects on the pulmonary surfactant function is crucial. Additionally, they should elicit very little, if at all, inflammation response, in order to avoid pulmonary surfactant activation by the inflammatory cascade. These effects on PS function should be assessed in vitro prior to in vivo use [113,122,123].

4.3. Alveolar macrophages

Alveolar macrophages, which are localized in the deeper areas of the lung, are part of the clearance system [126]. They are an important component of the biological barrier in the respiratory system because they influence the number of particles entering the alveolar space. Additionally, they were found to degrade particles in the $1-5 \mu m$ size range. Simultaneously, it is known that the optimal size of therapeutic particles able to reach the alveolar region after aerosol inhalation is in the same range. Thus, there is a risk that therapeutics tailored for the alveolar space may to a large extent be engulfed and digested by macrophages prior to being able to exert their therapeutic potential. In turn, particles > 5 μ m or with a diameter < 240 nm are very poorly taken up by macrophages [127]. Therefore, the optimal particle size is very difficult to define. The chemical properties and shape of a given particle can have a significant impact on its uptake as well. Notably, alveolar macrophages modulate the immune response after particle administration, by releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-1 α , IL- β and the anti-inflammatory IL-10 [39,76].

5. Nanoparticles for oligonucleotide delivery to the respiratory tract

Exploring ligand-decorated nanoparticles for targeted delivery may provide an avenue towards highly specific and more efficient uptake of nanoparticles by cancer cells with reduced side effects in non-target cells. Some of surface receptors are exclusively or predominantly expressed on (lung) tumor cells or at least overexpressed in comparison to normal cells. By conjugation, nanoparticles can be decorated with specific ligands, mediating nanoparticle retention at the tumor site and, at least in some cases. enhanced ligand-mediated cell uptake. The success of targeted delivery depends on several conditions, e.g., ligand receptor binding affinity, ligand concentration and presentation on the nanoparticle surface as well as stability and tissue penetration of the nanoparticles. In recent years, several receptors have been described as overexpressed in lung cancer. Different types of small molecules, peptides and antibodies have been explored for optimal targeted delivery [41,42].

Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) was found to be overexpressed in lung cancer. This overexpression of EGFR was related with poor prognosis and resistance to chemotherapy in patients with lung cancer [43,44]. Chitosan nanoparticles conjugated with an EGFR antibody were used to deliver siRNA (siMad 2) to A549 cells. The targeted nanoparticles efficiently silenced gene expression, whereas non-targeted complexes showed lesser silencing potential [45].

Another receptor which may be targeted in lung cancer is CD44. This integral glycoprotein is involved in cell growth, adhesion, migration, metastasis and drug resistance. It is overexpressed in lung cancer and is related with poor outcome [46]. Polymeric nanoparticles based on PEGylated polyethylenimine (PEI-PEG) were decorated with hyaluronic acid in order to deliver siRNA to lung cancer cells. The study demonstrated higher cellular uptake of targeted nanoparticles by cancer cells. Gene knockdown efficacy was also demonstrated. Biological activity was confirmed *in vitro* in sensitive and resistant A549 cells as well as *in vivo*, in solid tumors and in metastatic sites [47].

Many types of lung cancer cells exhibit high CD71 (transferrin receptor) expression, whereas in normal lung cells levels of CD71 are low [48]. Thus, ligands for the CD71 receptor can be used for targeted nanoparticles. Lipid-based nanostructured material was conjugated with transferrin in order to deliver a pDNA/paclitaxel payload to lung cancer cells. The results showed successful DNA transfection with simultaneous delivery of paclitaxel to the cancer cells [49].

The folate receptor was found to be overexpressed in many types of tumors as well, including lung cancer [50,51]. Nanoparticles conjugated with folate were used to deliver shRNA to the cancer cells. PEI-FA nanoparticles showed improved condensation of the nucleic acid and its protection from DNAses. Also, the uptake by lung cancer cells was found to be improved *in vitro* and *in vivo* in comparison to the non-targeted nanoparticles [52].

Another class of receptors which can be used in targeted lung cancer nanotherapy are integrins, This group represents transmembrane receptors containing α and β subunits. The composition of the subunits is cell-specific and may vary between different types of cancers. Integrins were found to be overexpressed in lung cancer cell lines and in patient samples [53]. For targeted lung cancer therapy, $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 receptor was chosen. This receptor can be targeted by a peptide containing arginine (R), glycin (G) and aspartic acid (D). RGD-decorated chitosan-PEI nanoparticles were

used to deliver siRNA (siGFP) to the cancer cells. EGFP silencing reached 90% when RGD-decorated nanoparticles were used instead of the non-modified polyplex [54].

Various types of nanoparticles such as lipid-based nanoparticles, inorganic nanoparticles, peptide-based delivery vectors, exosome-based delivery vectors, dendrimers and polymeric nano-vectors have been explored for gene, oligonucleotide or drug delivery to the lung. Major groups of nanocarriers that have been used for nucleic acid delivery to the lung are shown in Fig. 7. A detailed comparison of properties, gene knockdown efficacies, toxicity and proinflammatory potential of selected nanoparticles for pulmonary delivery of siRNA is presented in Table 1.

Synthetic linear or branched polymers are non-viral nanovectors of particular interest. Due to their versatility, they can be easily modified to obtain delivery vectors with well-defined properties [22,92,175,176]. Advantages of some of these systems over other nanocarriers are low cytotoxicity, high biocompatibility and biodegradability. Additionally, they tend to cause weak immune responses [177,178].

Cationic polymers seem to be the most promising nanovectors. Due to their positive charge, polycations and polymeric nanoparticles have been used for nucleic acid delivery for a long time [38,179–181]. Cationic polymers may cause higher toxicity than anionic polymers, which are considered as relatively safe [182,183]. Similarly, other features responsible for efficient nucleic acid delivery such as their size, charge density, and chemical composition are frequently related to their cytotoxicity [112,114,118,119].

Degradability, size, hydrophobicity and concentration in the targeted tissues play a role in pulmonary toxicity [112,114,118,119]. Smaller particles are considered as more toxic than larger particles, due to their large surface area [112,119]. The shape and structure of nanoparticles are important factors determining toxic effects as well. For example, the response towards carbon nanotubes, carbon black and graphite has been found to be different, despite them sharing the same chemical composition [120]. Also, biodegradable polymers are less toxic than non-degradable ones. On the other hand, PLGA, which is perhaps among the best nano-vectors for pulmonary drug delivery, showed slow degradation rates. This increased toxic effects, especially when repeated doses of treatment were administered [121,184,185].

The hydrophobicity of nanoparticles is another factor contributing to toxicity. It has been demonstrated that hydrophobic nanoparticles may be trapped in the lining layer of the pulmonary surfactant, thus generating increased levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and causing an inflammatory response [119,186]. The prolonged exposure to the nanoparticles may trigger immune response (irritation, cellular injury, edema, suppression of phagocytosis, and eventually, the breakdown of immune defense). When using hydrophobic nanoparticles, oxidative stress and inflammatory response were observed in most cases [57,119,121,182,183]. Enhanced cytokine production, LDH release and increased numbers of inflammatory immune cells in different parts of the lungs were detected after nanoparticle administration [57,121,182,183].

The availability of nanoparticles in the systemic circulation and their penetration into other organs is another significant issue regarding toxicity. Particles absorbed by lung epithelium may be distributed via the blood and lymph to all organs, including bone marrow, heart, liver, kidneys and the central nervous system [187–189].

A controversial issue is the carcinogenicity caused by nanoparticles in the lung [190]. Tumorigenic effects related to primary genotoxicity or secondary genotoxic reactions (inflammation and oxidative stress) after nanoparticle administration have been discussed [191].

5.1. Lipid-based nanoparticles in pulmonary delivery

Lipid-based delivery systems are commonly used *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In the case of cationic lipids, siRNA/lipid particles are generated based on electrostatic interactions of the negatively charged nucleic acid with the cationic lipid [128–131]. To avoid premature siRNA release and subsequent degradation, the stability of the formed lipoplexes in the pulmonary route of administration is of major importance [129]. In order to obtain efficient lipid vectors for pulmonary delivery, the lipid composition, lipid to siRNA ratio and method of nanoparticle generation must be well defined [132].

The main limitations of lipid-based nano-vectors are their toxicity and their potential to activate the immune system, including cytokine and interferon activation [133]. Cationic liposomes and lipoplexes are generally more toxic than neutral lipids [131,134]. The structure of cationic head groups and the length of hydrophobic tails determine the transfection efficacy and the toxicity of



Fig. 7. Nanoparticles used for nucleic acid delivery to the lung.

Table 1

Properties	of selected	nanocarriers	for pu	ılmonarv	siRNA	delivery.

Nanocarrier	Gene silencing efficacy	Toxicity	Inflammatory properties	Properties	Ref.
Cationic lipid	Up to 30% gene knockdown	n.d	n.d	Rapid translocation to the intended cells, siRNA-lipid complexes were mainly	[134]
Cationic lipid	85% in A549 cells 82% in primary human bronchial epithelium	n.d	OAS1, IL-8 low gene expression level	Formulation facilitated mucus and PS penetration and crossing the cellular membrane Protection from degradation by	[136]
PEGylated DOTAP:CHOL liposomes	Up to 50%	n.d	IL-6 and IL-12 levels similar to non-treatment	PEG modification prolonged retention in alveolar mucous, protecting from alveolar macrophages and absorption into the blood stream. Targeting ligand for elitetta exterior distribution	[139]
Lipid coated dextran nanogel	95% eGFP expression for DPPC:DOPC:eggPG; 30% eGFP expression for Curosurf and non-coated nanogel	>90% for all formulations	Increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in BAL (IL-1 α , IL-1 β , II-6, TNF α , MIP-1 α)	SP-B facilitates intracellular delivery of siRNA <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> Most of siRNA traffics to the alveolar macrophages	[144]
Mesoporus silica nanoparticles decorated with LHRH ligand	40 – 60% knockdown of gene expression for Bcl-2 and MDR1	>80%	n.d	Size of pores and nanoparticles can be adjusted to effective cellular uptake and accumulation in the lungs	[146]
Calcium phosphate-PLGA- PEI nanoparticles	40–55% knockdown of gene expression	Not shown	Not shown	Most of siRNA was found in alveolar macrophages; PEI modification improved cellular untake and endosomal escape	[148]
Gold nanoparticles with PEG and RGD targeting peptide	c-myc expression level decreased up to 20% in an adenocarcinoma cell line	Not shown	Lymphocyte and neutrophil infiltration was neglible	AuNPs were rapidly taken up by the cells. RGD targeting peptide facilitated trafficking to tumor sites	[149]
СРР	Knockdown of gene expression was significant (approximately 90% after 48 h)	Not shown	Not shown	Size of the complexes facilitates prolonged deposition in the lung, HA2 conjugate facilitates endosomal escape, optimal N/P ratio enhances complex stability and protection from degradation	[154]
СРР	Approximately 50% knockdown of gene expression in the whole lung	Not shown	Not shown	The average size of complexes less than 100 nm facilitate deposition in the deeper parts of lungs	[155]
HMG/oligoarginine micells	Approximately 25% knockdown of gene expression when siRNA/OR was used, 75% when siRNA/ OR/HMG was used	Low toxicity towards THP1 cells	Not shown	Complexes were taken up mainly by macrophages	[156]
Exosomes	Knockdown of gene expression up to 50% in macrophages	>90% cell viability	Decreased levels of proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-2, IL-3, IL-6, and chemokines CCL- 2. MCP-5 and CCL-5	The size of complexes facilitated uptake by alveolar macrophages	[158]
Chitosan	10–35% gene knockdown efficacy	>80% cell viability	Not shown	Chitoans exhibit mucoadhesive and mucosa penetration properties. The size of complexes < 100 nm facilitated	[172]
Chitosan	Approximately 70% gene knockdown efficacy	>90% cell viability when siCRTL was used in the complex	Not shown	Chitoans exhibit mucoadhesive and mucosa penetration properties.	[173,221]
PAMAM	Up to 70% eGFP knockdown efficacy	>80% cell viability	Not shown	The size of microparticles was suitable for lung deposition and the uptake by alveolar macrophages was minimal.	[201]
PEI	60–70% knockdown on the protein level	Toxicity was not statistically significant	TNF-α level was 2 times higher than in control but not statistically significant	DPPC-PLGA core facilitated mucus penetration, the size around 150 nm led to the easier diffusion through gel-like mucus, PEI enhanced encapsulation efficacy and endosomal escape, nanoparticles were able to reach alveolar epithelium	[219]
PEI	Approximately 42% gene knockdown efficacy in mouse lungs	Approximately 20% cell toxicity for PEI, 5–25% cell toxicity for PEI- PEG complex	Elevated level of proinflammatory cytokines CCL2, CXCL1, CXCL10, CCL5, IL-6, TNF-α	PEI enhanced encapsulation efficacy and endosomal escape, nanoparticles were able to reach alveolar epithelium	[222– 224]

cationic liposomes [135]. Additional features that can lead to higher liposome toxicity are their charge density and their potential for lipid interaction.

Cationic lipid nanocarriers were shown to facilitate cellular siRNA uptake via endocytosis and siRNA release at the intended site. siRNA against the subunit α of the epithelial sodium channel was formulated in a liposome and delivered in BALB/c mouse model via the intranasal route of administration. This resulted in the inhibition of the expression and function of ENaC α *in vivo*. This delivery system was proposed as a promising therapeutic tool in cystic fibrosis treatment [136].

In order to avoid the toxicity and immune response of cationic lipid vectors, PEG chains have been added to the nanoparticles. PEGylation was used to prolong the liposome circulation in the bloodstream and to prevent them from opsonization by the mononuclear phagocyte system [82,137]. The addition of neutral components such as cholesterol to the lipid reduces toxicity and immune response of lipid nanoparticles as well [138,139]. However, this delivery system has some limitations, including the weak interaction between siRNA and the lipid component as well as between the lipid complex and the cell membrane. To overcome these problems, a chemical conjugation of siRNA and a lipid instead of electrostatic interactions has been introduced. A cholesterol-conjugated siRNA showed higher gene knockdown efficacy compared to naked siRNA. Moreover, reduced inflammation was observed in vivo [36]. An alternative approach towards reducing the toxic effects of lipid-based nanoparticles is the encapsulation of siRNA inside neutral lipid particles. An important advantage, responsible for the unique properties of such lipid systems, is their behavior at different pH [140]. For example, they are positively charged at acidic pH, while being uncharged at neutral pH [140].

So-called stable nucleic acid lipid particles (SNALP) with welldefined size, high siRNA encapsulation efficacy and efficient delivery ratio have been developed as well [141]. The evaluation of pKa values of cationic lipids is a crucial step for designing the SNALP delivery platform. This parameter determines the charge of the lipid particles under different pH conditions and the ability of protonated particles to induce a non-bilayer phase structure, after being mixed with anionic lipids [142,143]. These characteristics in turn determine the membrane destabilizing capacity and *endo*-osmolytic potential necessary for nucleic acid delivery.

Recently, siRNA against oncoprotein Eph2 encapsulated in 1,2dioleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphatidylcholine neutral liposome entered Phase I of clinical trials in lung cancer. Additionally, another SNALP-mediated siRNA delivery platform entered Phase I as a carrier for siRNA targeting PLK1 [8].

The addition of pulmonary surfactant to the siRNA-containing nanoparticles may allow to control toxicity, efficacy and distribution of particles as well. Merckx et al. studied an siRNA-loaded nanogel based on dextran and coated with the artificial pulmonary surfactant (PS) Curosurf[®] [144]. Their results showed that the PScoated hydrogel was more stable and exhibited improved siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo. In this study, the SP-B protein was identified as a crucial component for improving siRNA delivery, and the SP-C protein as an additional enhancer of siRNA delivery. The impact of the lipid composition on the siRNA nanogels was studied as well and revealed preferential binding of SP-B when the level of cholesterol did not exceed the physiological level. Furthermore, the function of this protein was retained in the presence of different classes of anionic lipids. In contrast, the addition of SP-B did not enhance siRNA delivery when cationic DOTAP:DOPE liposomes were used [145].

5.2. Inorganic nanoparticles in pulmonary delivery

Inorganic materials have been developed for therapeutic and diagnostic purposes. They are rather simple to prepare and have also been explored as siRNA delivery platforms. For the pulmonary route of administration, hybrid lipid-calcium phosphate nanoparticles, gold nanoparticles and silica mesoporus nanoparticles are best characterized [81].

Mesoporus silica nanoparticles exhibited a high efficiency in delivering siRNA against MRP-1 in a lung cancer model that was resistant to conventional treatment. The efficacy of administration via the pulmonary route was 73.6%, in comparison to 5% when administered intravenously. Also, the accumulation in liver and kidneys was significantly lower when the pulmonary rote of administration was chosen [146].

Hybrid lipid-calcium nanoparticles effectively delivered siRNA against Bcl-2 *in vitro* and in a lung cancer xenograft mouse model *in vivo*. They exhibited a higher accumulation of anticancer siRNA in tumor tissue and protected it from degradation [147]. In another study, calcium phosphate/siRNA nanoparticles were used for decreasing an inflammatory response. For this, calcium phosphate solution was mixed with siRNA against pro-inflammatory mediators, then it was encapsulated in PLGA and finally in a polyethylenimine (PEI) layer. In a mouse model, the levels of IP-10, CCL-2 and INF- γ were found reduced after intranasal administration of the nanoparticles [148].

Gold nanoparticles showed promising efficacy in the delivery of siRNA against the c-myc oncogene in mice. Thiolated siRNA was covalently bound to the gold nanoparticles modified with PEG and with arginine-glycine-aspartate peptides for targeting (RGD). The proliferation rate and the size of lung tumors in mice was successfully reduced upon administration of the nanoparticles via intratracheal administration [149].

5.3. Peptide-based delivery vectors

Cell penetrating peptides (CPPs) are of special interest for siRNA delivery due to their low cytotoxicity, versatility and favorable transfection properties [150,151]. CPPs consist of a short amino acid chain and can interact with membranes. The sequence of less than 30 amino acid residues determines the features of CPPs, such as structure, charge, polarity and solubility [151]. All these characteristics are pivotal for the efficacy of peptide/siRNA complex formation, their toxicity and cellular uptake [152]. Peptides can bind to the siRNA via disulfide bond formation and electrostatic interaction. The biggest disadvantage of using CPPs are the lack of cell selectivity and the degradation of L-amino acids from the CPPs chains. Due to their variety, they exhibit different mechanisms of action. Some of them improve cellular delivery by efficient transport through the cell membrane, whereas others facilitate the endosomal escape and protect from lysosomal degradation [153].

Some CPPs have been identified as attractive nano-vectors for siRNA delivery via the pulmonary route [36,154–157]. Moschos et al. investigated the efficiency of p38 MAP kinase knockdown using naked siRNA, TAT-conjugated siRNA and penetrin-conjugated siRNA *in vitro* and *in vivo* [36]. siRNA-conjugates reduced p38 MAP kinase mRNA level up to 30–45% in the L929 mouse fibroblast cell line. In the same study, the efficiency of naked siRNA was evaluated *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Interestingly, naked siRNA caused gene knockdown *in vivo* after intra-tracheal administration, whereas it had shown low efficiency *in vitro*. [36].

A silencing of chitinase-3-like-1 protein in the lung using CPPsiRNA reduced lung metastasis and induced cytotoxic T- lymphocyte response [154]. Welch et al. developed cyclic, amphipathic peptides that formed complexes with siRNA. The cyclic peptides with disulfide constraints were reduced by intracellular glutathione which enhanced the presentation of siRNA to the RNAi system. Gene knockdown was also observed in lung cells when the pulmonary route of administration was chosen [155]. Choi et al. described a poly-arginine peptide with siRNA and an HMG peptide ligand that targets activated alveolar macrophages, and found promising biological effects in an asthma model [156]. Qui et al. synthesized a peptide (KL-4) which mimics the surfactant protein SP-B. The PEGylated KL-4 peptide was used as inhalable dry powder formulation for mRNA delivery [157].

5.4. Exosome-based delivery vectors

Exosomes are extracellular vesicles secreted by many cell types. They are engaged in cell-cell communication through the transfer of lipids, proteins, nucleic acids or others [158]. Due to their high biocompatibility, low toxicity and low immunogenicity, they are considered as promising siRNA nano-vectors [158-161]. Zhang et al. used siRNA loaded into serum-derived exosomes via calcium-mediated transfection. The complexes were successfully administered via the intratracheal route. They were mainly deposited in the alveolar region and macrophages were the most affected cells. Exosomes from human pluripotent stem cells were used to knock down ICAM-1 levels for acute lung injury (ALI) treatment [162]. Although the use of exosomes in oligonucleotide delivery offers many benefits, there are still some drawbacks, mainly associated with large scale production. Additionally, storage may influence their stability and biological function [163,164]. Therefore, long-term safety and efficacy of the application of exosomes still requires exploration [165].

5.5. Chitosan

Chitosan is a polysaccharide-based polymer derived from chitin [166]. As a naturally occurring polymer, it exhibits good biocompatibility and biodegradability. Chitosan may be an attractive vector for nucleic acid delivery, due to the positive charge density of amino groups [167–169]. It is able to form complexes with DNA or siRNA via electrostatic interactions [170]. A sufficient nitrogen/phosphate (N/P) ratio in the complexes supports complex stability and mediates protection from nucleases [170,171]. The use of chitosan nanoparticles for the pulmonary delivery of therapeutic agents is of special interest. Sharma et al. investigated crosslinked chitosan/siRNA nanoparticles, formed at different N/P ratios, after nebulization. They found that complexes were spherical (all \sim 150 nm), positively charged and non-toxic for lungmucoepithelial cells. The complexes did not show a tendency to aggregate at physiological pH and remained stable after exposure to shear forces. The results indicate that chitosans may serve as safe and efficient nanocarriers [93]. In another study, Ni et al. studied the use of chitosan derivatives, i.e. guanidinylated Ocarboxymethyl chitosan and N2-hydroxypropyltimethyl ammonium chloride chitosan, for efficient siRNA delivery to the lungs using nebulizers. They found that complexes comprising guanidinylated O-carboxymethyl chitosan, N2-hydroxypropyltimethyl ammonium chloride chitosan and survivin siRNA significantly decreased the level of survivin in A549 cells, caused the inhibition of cell proliferation and led to apoptosis. The nebulization process did not influence the properties of the complexes and \sim 60% were detected as fine particle fractions (around 130 nm for unlabeled nanoparticles) [92]. Guanidinylated chitosan was used by Luo et al. [172]. They proved that guanidinylated chitosan at a ratio of 40:1 was able to condense siRNA and to form positively charged (15 mV), spherical particles of \sim 100 nm. The addition of guanidine

reduced the toxicity of complexes and significantly improved siRNA uptake. These results confirmed the experiments performed by Ni et al. [92]. Due to their positive charge, guanidine groups facilitate hydrogen bond formation with phospholipids on the cell surface and improve cellular uptake [92]. In addition, nanoparticles were modified with the $\beta 2$ adrenoceptor agonist salbutamol that increased the targeting specificity in vitro and in vivo. It was also found that the modified chitosan particles were able to protect the siRNA from high shear forces generated by a mesh-based nebulizer. Modified chitosan was also used in a study by Capel and coworkers. They synthetized piperazine-substituted chitosan for intratracheal siRNA delivery. The complexes were water-soluble at physiologic pH and were found non-toxic for the cells. They also exhibited a high siRNA encapsulation efficacy into 300 nm spherical nanocapsules, at a low chitosan/siRNA ratio of 5:1. The level of gene knockdown reached even 80%. No changes in the stability and integrity were found after their conversion into aerosols. In vivo studies revealed that complexes did not cause adverse effects after repeated administration, while tumors were found significantly reduced in an atopical lung cancer model in mice [173]. Carriers based on chitosan and its derivatives seem to be very promising due to their favorable properties. However, these compounds also have limitations, such as low solubility and low stability of complexes inside cells, possibly leading to a premature release of the payload after cellular uptake [174].

5.6. Synthetic polymeric nano-vectors in pulmonary nucleic acid delivery

5.6.1. Dendrimers

Dendrimers are synthetic, poly-branched, monodisperse, lowimmunogenic spherical nanoparticles [192]. Nucleic acids may be placed inside the cavities of dendrimers or attached to the chemical groups on the surface of nanoparticles [193–196]. Due to their good biocompatibility, the most widely used dendrimers in nucleic acid delivery are polyamido amine (PAMAM) and poly(propylene imine) (PPI) dendrimers [197–200]. Since PAMAM and PPI possess amine groups, they are able to form complexes with negatively charged nucleic acids via electrostatic interactions [199]. Dendrimers facilitate cellular uptake and protect nucleic acids from digestion by nucleases. Due to the physicochemical properties of dendrimers, they have been extensively studied as potent oligonucleotide carriers in lung cancer disease [22,79,89,201–203].

Conti at al. suggested PAMAM dendrimers (G4NH2) as potential siRNA carriers which would be administered as an aerosol [201]. The dendriplexes were encapsulated in mannitol, and hydroxyfluoroalkane (HFA) was used as a propellant in a pressurized metered-dose inhaler. 40% knockdown of gene expression was determined as a consequence of complex activity in vitro. The preparation of the inhaled formulation did not change the properties of the complexes. Moreover, the complexes reached the deeper region of the lungs to 77% of the respirable fraction. What is important, the complexes maintained their integrity and stability towards the hydrofluoroalkane, even after longer exposure [201]. Similarly, PAMAM G4 with a triphenylphosphonium (TPP) modification was investigated as siRNA vector [89]. The authors showed that modified PAMAM exhibited better transfection properties and was suitable for metered-dose inhaler and dry-powder inhaler formulations. The gene knockdown efficacy increased with TPP density and with N/P ratio. Most effective were dendrimers modified with 12 TPP molecules on the surface, complexed with siRNA at ratio 30. For inhalation, the aerosols were prepared using mannitol microparticles for dendriplex encapsulation. The complexes were efficient in both, in aerosols from metered-dose inhalers as well as in dry powder inhalers (fine particle fractions were 50-53% and 39%, respectively). The preparation of inhalation formulas

did not affect gene knockdown efficacy [89]. In another study, G4 PAMAM dendrimers were complexed with siRNA and then embedded in microparticles built from trehalose, mannitol and inulin. The dry powder-based microparticles were produced for inhalation using the spray drying technique. The obtained results indicated that complexes maintained their integrity and bioactivity. Additionally, the complexes could be reconstituted from the dry powders. Trehalose and inulin provided better stability of nanocomplexes than mannitol. The best properties were found for the mixed formula of trehalose and inulin, where high gene knockdown efficacy, stabilization of the complexes and enhanced cellular uptake were observed [79].

5.6.2. PLGA xxxx

PLGA (polylactic-co-glycolic acid) is a co-polymer of lactic acid and glycolic acid, coupled through ester linkages [204]. Due to its good biocompatibility and biodegradability. PLGA has been approved by the FDA and the European Union as a drug delivery system [205]. Several methods for obtaining PLGA exist, the most popular being emulsion-solvent evaporation, where sphereshaped nanoparticles are formed [206,207]. The drugs or nucleic acids can be encapsulated inside the nanoparticle or adsorbed onto the surface [205,207,208]. PLGA is able to deliver siRNA, facilitate its cellular uptake and protect from degradation [24,25,204]. PLGA nanoparticles can enter the cell through pinocytosis or clathrindependent endocytosis [204,209]. As PLGA is negatively charged, cationic or hydrophilic modification is required for efficient siRNA complexation [176,210]. Several studies describing the use of PLGA for pulmonary delivery have been conducted. Jensen et al. generated a dry powder formulation based on lipid-modified PLGA and siRNA. The gene knockdown efficacy was correlated with the ratio of DOTAP in the formulation. The mixture containing 15% DOTAP was then spray dried with mannitol into a particles with a diameter suitable for lung deposition. It was demonstrated that spray drying neither affected the physicochemical properties of the complexes nor their in vitro activity. The content of siRNA was similar to the theoretical values and the siRNA remained intact, indicating that the nucleic acid was protected during the spray drying process. The X-ray diffraction studies confirmed that the use of mannitol as excipient supported the stability of the complexes in the dry powder formulation by inhibiting interactions between neighboring nanoparticles [90]. The same group suggested that PLGAbased nanoparticles with siRNA and with mannitol as an excipient may serve as a promising tool in pulmonary nucleic acid delivery [211].

Wu et al. investigated how the route of administration affects the deposition of nanoparticles in the lung lobes. The siRNA/PLGA nanoparticles were administered by intratracheal instillation, intratracheal spraying or intranasal instillation. Over 95% or 85% of the therapeutic siRNA, respectively, reached the lungs when intratracheal instillation or intratracheal spraying were performed. However, the distribution of the nanoparticles was inhomogeneous in the lung lobes. In turn, the intranasal instillation deposited only 28% of nanoparticles in the lung. These results thus indicated that intratracheal instillation and spraying are promising administration routes for pulmonary delivery in pre-clinical animal studies, while the intranasal route should not be considered [212].

5.6.3. PEI xxxx

PEIs (polyethylene imines) are linear or branched cationic polymers with characteristic water-soluble and protonatable amine groups [213–215]. Due to their positive charge, PEIs are able to form complexes with DNA or siRNA via electrostatic interactions [216]. The amine groups present in the PEI structure also facilitate the interaction with the negatively charged cell membrane, thus enhancing cellular uptake of nanoparticles via endocytosis [175,213,215,217]. Due to the 'proton sponge effect', PEIs exhibit protective functions in the lyso-endosomes [218]. More specifically, nitrogens act as proton acceptors, thus buffering the otherwise acidic pH of lyso-endosomes. In consequence, proton pumping into the endosomes occurs, leading to the passive entry of chloride ions and an excess influx of water. Eventually, this endosome swelling can lead to their disruption and the release of their content into the cytoplasm [214,215,218].

While PEIs are widely used especially in DNA delivery, their potential to deliver siRNA has been studied as well. Some research groups found PEIs to be also applicable as nano-vectors in pulmonary oligonucleotide delivery. However, the optimization of parameters that are crucial for inhaled formulas is a challenge. Keil et al. tested the excipient matrix for PEI/DNA complexes as pulmonary delivery platform prepared via spray drving [91]. The excipient impact on size, bioactivity and stability was assessed after generating nano-embedded microparticle powders. The results showed that integrity, bioactivity and reconstitution from the dry powder were maintained when trehalose was used as stabilizer. Moreover, the particles reached a diameter of 1 to 5 μ m, which allows them to be deposited in the deeper parts of the lungs. Studies aiming at the evaluation of cellular uptake revealed that redispersed macroparticles containing trehalose were more effective than non-spray-dried polyplexes [91].

The use of polymer/siRNA complexes containing PEI was assessed by D'Angelo et al. [219]. They created hybrid lipidpolymer nanoparticles conjugated with siRNA against the sodium transepithelial channel. Additionally, one fraction of the nanoparticles was modified with PEI. The obtained nanoparticles displayed a diameter of \sim 150 nm, with a zeta potential of around -25 mV. The siRNA release lasted for up to 6 days, with the presence of PEI in the complex additionally prolonging this time period. Aerosols were generated by a vibrating mesh nebulizer and the complexes exhibited promising activity after nebulization. Moreover, they showed high stability upon incubation with artificial mucus, were internalized into lung epithelial cells and caused neither harmful toxic effects nor pro-inflammatory reactions. The levels of the sodium transepithelial channel, especially the β form, were successfully decreased when DPPC/PLGA/siRNA or DPPC/PLGA/PEI/ siRNA complexes were used [219].

A biokinetic study aimed to investigate and compare the properties of PEI/siRNA complexes with naked siRNA upon intratracheal administration into mice. Complexes based on the low molecular weight branched PEI F25 LMW provided the protection of siRNA from degradation by nucleases. It also prolonged its retention time. Moreover, PEI complexes did not cause high toxicity or acute immune response [220].

Spray-dried PEI polyplexes were also produced for DNA delivery using a nanoparticle-in-microparticle delivery system. Polyethyleneimine-based polyplexes or lipoplexes were encapsulated into polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) microparticles. This maintained complex stability for a prolonged time due to the PVA corona on the complex surface which inhibited nanoparticle aggregation. The spray-dried, (lipo-)polyplex-containing PVA microparticles exhibited reduced toxicity and improved transfection efficacy compared to the parent (lipo-) polyplexes. *In vivo* studies revealed a significant level of EGFP-expressing cells after one administration of spray-dried polyplexes encapsulated in PVA microparticles [78].

6. Conclusion and future prospects

This review paper has covered various aspects related to nanoparticle delivery to the lung, from the histological organization and functions of the respiratory tract, the presence of biological barriers in the alveolar region and their relevance in (nanoparticle) drug application towards the discussion of the broad spectrum of natural or synthetic, non-viral vectors for oligonucleotide formulation. Oligonucleotide delivery using the pulmonary route of administration has turned out to be very promising for lung diseases, including cancers. It possesses advantages over conventional treatment, by combining the possibility to target any gene of interest (siRNA) with the approach of direct delivery into the lung (nanoparticle). While this strategy avoids systemic side effects by minimizing the drug action on off-target organs, the nucleic acid formulation must overcome several very specific barriers prior to reaching its site of action. Obviously, this requires the development of proper nanocarriers which may well differ from their counterparts used for example as siRNA delivery reagents to the liver. Beyond general properties like efficient encapsulation of the siRNA and its protection from nucleases, cellular internalization and proper intracellular processing, the nanoparticles must also penetrate and survive the mucus layer and pulmonary surfactant, avoid alveolar clearance and remain non-toxic even upon local treatment by inhalation, in a very sensitive organ system. While many natural and synthetic vectors have been proposed for inhaled drug/gene delivery, these systems come - not surprisingly - each with a range of advantages and disadvantages in pulmonary delivery.

Liposomal nanoparticles have probably been most widely used and described in the literature. Main advantages of lipid-based delivery vectors are the enhancement of their internalization into pulmonary cells through their interaction with phospholipids, and the availability of many well-established systems, in part developed over decades. On the other hand, efficacy and stability issues as well as comparatively high production costs are still among the obstacles in their translation into therapy. Previous work for lipid-mediated siRNA delivery into organs other than lung has also shown that the identification of optimal liposomal systems may in fact still rely on very defined yet minor modifications of their lipid structures and lipid composition, leading to somewhat complicated multi-component assemblies with rather delicate properties. Not surprisingly, this also applies nanoparticles for delivery to the lung. Solid-lipid nanoparticles (SLNPs) are considered as easier in scaling up and as more stable when compared to liposomes. One problem with SLNPs, however, relates to low drug/gene loading. Exosomes have been investigated as 'natural' nanocarriers due to their unique properties which provide the basis for their physiological and pathophysiological roles, thus rendering them attractive systems for siRNA delivery. Among others, they seem to exhibit some target cell specificity which could be well explored with regard to targeted delivery into a given of interest. One main limitation for their use as inhaled formulation, however, may lie in their rather complicated large-scale production, especially when considering the need of batch-to-batch stability.

Polymeric nanovectors cover a very wide range of various types and compositions, with several being of interest due to their high encapsulation efficacy, siRNA protection, cell uptake, sustained intracellular payload release profile and ability to avoid alveolar macrophage clearance. In several cases, efficacy vs. toxicity remains a challenge that is closely related to nanoparticle properties like surface charge. This also applies, for example, to PEI-based carriers where the gene transfection efficacy increases with molecular mass, which is paralleled, however, by increased toxicity and pro-inflammatory potential. On the other hand, polymers allow for particular straightforward and diverse chemical modifications, which can be beneficial for creating novel nanoparticles with markedly improved properties. This also allows for setting up structure-function relationships for somehow predicting the direction towards optimized systems. For example, PEGylated nanoparticles based on PEI show decreased toxicity/improved

biocompatibility and the avoidance of mucus clearance, but also less complexation efficacy, poorer stability and impaired transfection properties. Many of these alterations, however, have been found to be dependent on the precise pattern of PEGylation and again highlight the necessity for the precise definition of optimal nanocarrier systems. Also, apparent disadvantages of a given nanoparticle in 2D cell culture *in vitro* with regard to low efficacies may not necessarily indicate its inferiority for *in vivo* applications, thus emphasizing the importance of relevant *in vitro*, *in vivo* and ex vivo systems for nanoparticle testing. This is particularly so in the case of lung application and has been addressed for example by sophisticated air-liquid interface culture systems.

In contrast to PEG-PEIs, studies introducing tyrosine modification to linear and branched PEIs successfully improved their efficiency while in parallel reducing toxicity and improving other nanocomplex properties. Again, however, this was found to rely on the definition of optimal parameters, like here the degree of tyrosine-grafting. Still, these systems are comparably simple and straightforward which may offer advantages. On the other hand, hybrid delivery systems containing more complex compositions of polymers, lipids, peptides, exosomes and/or other components are extensively investigated as well, aiming at the defined improvement of nanoparticle properties for siRNA formulation and delivery. While they may offer solutions for overcoming certain limitations characteristic for single or less complex nanocarriers, their clinical translation may be hampered by their inherent complexity as multi-component systems, with difficulties in production, standardization and upscaling.

Beyond the development of ideal nanocarrier systems for (lung) delivery, the definition of 'ideal' drugs remains an issue as well. This is true e.g. for tumor therapy where the identification of optimal target genes for siRNA-mediated knockdown often turns out to be remarkably difficult. Also, considering many pathologies including cancer as non-monogenetic disease, the delivery of a single siRNA may not be sufficient. Consequently, combinational therapies are more and more considered as a promising strategy in the context of cancer, for hitting cancer cells more efficiently. This may also include the combination of drugs with nanoparticle therapies, and can thus lead to additional requirements in nanoparticle development with regard to making them capable of simultaneously co-delivering compounds as different as a low molecular weight drug and an siRNA. On the other hand, this emerges as particularly promising since the siRNA-mediated knockdown may sensitize the cells to a cytostatic drug, e.g. by inhibiting a given oncogene or active efflux mechanism related to multidrug resistance. Again, polymeric nanoparticles may be particularly suited for chemical modification and adaptation, aiming at the implementation of defined nanoparticle properties required for these strategies. Inhaled targeted therapies designed for treating lung cancer or lung (micro-) metastases will be promising in this regard, especially when considering that small lung metastases may be poorly vascularized and may thus not be easy to reach from the systemic circulation. Obviously, it will be of special interest then to create nanoparticles which can reach cancer cells without unwanted or toxic effects on non-target cells.

Once developed, however, nanoparticle systems for local siRNA delivery to the lung may be well useful in different pathologies. Perhaps more than ever, this has become clear since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, where many efforts for developing nanoparticles for various (lung) pathologies have been shifted towards their exploration in the context of treatment or prevention of coronavirus infection by local drug administration. Thus, beyond the development of (m)RNA drugs, the pandemic situation may also help booster the research towards identifying optimal nanoparticle formulations for inhalative siRNA application.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors' own work related to the topic of this review article is supported by grants from the "Beethoven Life 1" program of National Science Centre of Poland, No: 2018/31/F/NZ5/03454 (M. K., M.I., M.B., A.A.), partly supported by NAWA IAP Program "EURO-PARTNER" (M.I., M.B., A.A.) and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG; AI 24/24-1 to A.A.).

References

- [1] F. Nasim, B.F. Sabath, G.A. Eapen, Lung Cancer, Med. Clin. North Am. 103 (3) (2019) 463-473, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcna.2018.12.006.
- M. Zheng, Classification and Pathology of Lung Cancer, Surg. Oncol. Clin. N. [2] Am. 25 (3) (2016) 447-468, https://doi.org/10.1016/i.soc.2016.02.003.
- [3] Y. Mao, D. Yang, J. He, M.J. Krasna, Epidemiology of Lung Cancer, Surg. Oncol. 25 (3) (2016) 439-445, https://doi.org/10.1016/ Clin. N. Am. soc.2016.02.001.
- [4] F.R. Hirsch, G.V. Scagliotti, J.L. Mulshine, R. Kwon, W.J. Curran, Y.L. Wu, L. Paz-Ares, Lung cancer: current therapies and new targeted treatments, Lancet. 389 (2017) 299-311, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30958-8.
- V. de Sousa, L. Carvalho, Heterogeneity in Lung Cancer, Pathobiology. 85 (1-2) [5]
- [3] V. de Sousa, L. Carvano, https://doi.org/10.1159/000487440.
 [6] M. Günther, J. Lipka, A. Malek, D. Gutsch, W. Kreyling, A. Aigner, Polyethylenimines for RNAi-mediated gene targeting *in vivo* and siRNA delivery to the lung, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 77 (3) (2011) 438-449, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.11.007.
- [7] M. Ionov, J. Lazniewska, V. Dzmitruk, I. Halets, S. Loznikova, D. Novopashina, E. Apartsin, O. Krasheninina, A. Venyaminova, K. Milowska, O. Nowacka, R. Gomez-Ramirez, F.J. de la Mata, J.-P. Majoral, D. Shcharbin, M. Bryszewska, Anticancer siRNA cocktails as a novel tool to treat cancer cells. Part (A). Mechanisms of interaction, Int. J. Pharm. 485 (1-2) (2015) 261-269, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jpharm.2015.03.024.
- [8] Y.-D. Kim, T.-E. Park, B. Singh, S. Maharjan, Y.-J. Choi, P.-H. Choung, R.B. Arote, C.-S. Cho, Nanoparticle-mediated delivery of siRNA for effective lung cancer therapy, Nanomedicine. 10 (7) (2015) 1165-1188, https://doi.org/10.2217/ nnm 14 214
- [9] A. Ewe, S. Przybylski, J. Burkhardt, A. Janke, D. Appelhans, A. Aigner, A novel tyrosine-modified low molecular weight polyethylenimine (P10Y) for efficient siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo, J. Control. Release. 230 (2016) 13-25, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.03.034.
- [10] Y. Dong, T. Yu, L. Ding, E. Laurini, Y. Huang, M. Zhang, Y. Weng, S. Lin, P. Chen, D. Marson, Y. Jiang, S. Giorgio, S. Pricl, X. Liu, P. Rocchi, L. Peng, A Dual Targeting Dendrimer-Mediated siRNA Delivery System for Effective Gene Silencing in Cancer Therapy, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 140 (47) (2018) 16264-16274, https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b1002110.1021/jacs.8b10021.s001.
- [11] Y. Song, C. Tang, C. Yin, Combination antitumor immunotherapy with VEGF and PIGF siRNA via systemic delivery of multi-functionalized nanoparticles to tumor-associated macrophages and breast cancer cells, Biomaterials. 185 (2018) 117–132, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.09.017.
- [12] P.E. Saw, H. Yao, C. Lin, W. Tao, O.C. Farokhzad, X. Xu, Stimuli-Responsive Polymer-Prodrug Hybrid Nanoplatform for Multistage siRNA Delivery and Combination Cancer Therapy, Nano Lett. 19 (9) (2019) 5967-5974, https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.9b0166010.1021/acs.nanolett.9b01660.s001.
- [13] B. Hu, L. Zhong, Y. Weng, L. Peng, Y. Huang, Y. Zhao, X.J. Liang, Therapeutic siRNA: state of the art, Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. 5 (2020) 1-25, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0207-x
- [14] M. Babaei, H. Eshghi, K.h. Abnous, M. Rahimizadeh, M. Ramezani, Promising gene delivery system based on polyethylenimine-modified silica nanoparticles, Cancer Gene Ther. 24 (4) (2017) 156–164, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/cgt.2016.73
- [15] Y. Qian, S. Qiao, Y. Dai, G. Xu, B. Dai, L. Lu, X. Yu, Q. Luo, Z. Zhang, Molecular-Targeted Immunotherapeutic Strategy for Melanoma via Dual-Targeting Nanoparticles Delivering Small Interfering RNA to Tumor-Associated Macrophages, ACS Nano. 11 (9) (2017) 9536-9549, https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.7b0546510.1021/acsnano.7b05465.s001.
- [16] J.A. Stratmann, M. Sebastian, Polo-like kinase 1 inhibition in NSCLC: Mechanism of action and emerging predictive biomarkers, Lung Cancer Targets Ther. 10 (2019) 67–80, https://doi.org/10.2147/LCTT.S177618.
- [17] H. Kamiya, T. Kanno, Y. Fujita, A. Gotoh, T. Nakano, T. Nishizaki, Apoptosisrelated gene transcription in human A549 lung cancer cells via A 3 adenosine receptor, Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 29 (5-6) (2012) 687-696, https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000312589
- [18] M.W. Lee, D.S. Kim, J.H. Lee, B.S. Lee, S.H. Lee, H.L. Jung, K.W. Sung, H.T. Kim, K. H. Yoo, H.H. Koo, Roles of AKT1 and AKT2 in non-small cell lung cancer cell

survival, growth, and migration, Cancer Sci. 102 (2011) 1822-1828, https:// doi.org/10.1111/i.1349-7006.2011.02025.x.

- [19] L. Xu, W. Yu, H. Xiao, K. Lin, BIRC5 is a prognostic biomarker associated with tumor immune cell infiltration, Sci. Rep. 11 (2021) 1-13, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-020-79736-7.
- [20] D.i. Liu, W. Xu, X.i. Ding, Y. Yang, B.o. Su, K.e. Fei, Polymorphisms of CCNB1 associated with the clinical outcomes of platinum-based chemotherapy in Chinese NSCLC patients, J. Cancer. 8 (18) (2017) 3785-3794, https://doi.org/ 10.7150/jca.21151.
- [21] C. Xu, C. Wu, Y. Xia, Z. Zhong, X. Liu, J. Xu, F. Cui, B. Chen, O.D. Røe, A. Li, Y. Chen, S.P. Chellappan, WT1 Promotes Cell Proliferation in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Cell Lines through Up-Regulating Cyclin D1 and p-pRb In vitro and In vivo, PLoS One. 8 (8) (2013) e68837, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.006883710.1371/journal.pone.0068837.g00110.1371/journal.pone. 0068837.g00210.1371/journal.pone.0068837.g00310.1371/journal.pone. 0068837.g00410.1371/journal.pone.0068837.g00510.1371/journal.pone. 0068837.g00610.1371/journal.pone.0068837.s00110.1371/journal.pone. 0068837.s00210.1371/journal.pone.0068837.s00310.1371/journal.pone. 0068837.s00410.1371/journal.pone.0068837.s005.
- [22] Q. Huang, L. Li, L. Li, H. Chen, Y. Dang, J. Zhang, N. Shao, H. Chang, Z. Zhou, C. Liu, B. He, H. Wei, J. Xiao, MDM2 knockdown mediated by a triazinemodified dendrimer in the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer, Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 44013-44022. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.
- [23] G. Creusat, A.-S. Rinaldi, E. Weiss, R. Elbaghdadi, J.-S. Remy, R. Mulherkar, G. Zuber, Proton sponge trick for ph-sensitive disassembly of polyethyleniminebased sirna delivery systems, Bioconjug. Chem. 21 (5) (2010) 994-1002, https://doi.org/10.1021/bc100010k.
- [24] M. Benfer, T. Kissel, Cellular uptake mechanism and knockdown activity of siRNA-loaded biodegradable DEAPA-PVA-g-PLGA nanoparticles, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 80 (2) (2012) 247-256, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eipb.2011.10.021.
- [25] K. Thanki, D. van Eetvelde, A. Geyer, J. Fraire, R. Hendrix, H. Van Eygen, E. Putteman, H. Sami, C. de Souza Carvalho-Wodarz, H. Franzyk, H.M. Nielsen, K. Braeckmans, C.M. Lehr, M. Ogris, C. Foged, Mechanistic profiling of the release kinetics of siRNA from lipidoid-polymer hybrid nanoparticles in vitro and in vivo after pulmonary administration, J. Control. Release. 310 (2019) 82-93, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.08.004.
- [26] Y. Nademi, T. Tang, H. Uludağ, Membrane lipids destabilize short interfering ribonucleic acid (siRNA)/polyethylenimine nanoparticles, Nanoscale. 12 (2) (2020) 1032-1045, https://doi.org/10.1039/C9NR08128C.
- [27] M. Kaksonen, A. Roux, Mechanisms of clathrin-mediated endocytosis, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 19 (5) (2018) 313-326, https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrm.2017.132.
- [28] A.L. Kiss, E. Botos, Endocytosis via caveolae: Alternative pathway with distinct cellular compartments to avoid lysosomal degradation?, J Cell. Mol. Med. 13 (2009)1228-1237, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00754.x.
- [29] N.R. Yacobi, N. Malmstadt, F. Fazlollahi, L. DeMaio, R. Marchelletta, S.F. Hamm-Alvarez, Z. Borok, K.-J. Kim, E.D. Crandall, Mechanisms of alveolar epithelial translocation of a defined population of nanoparticles, Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 42 (5) (2010) 604-614, https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2009 0138OC
- [30] R.G. Parton, A.A. Richards, Lipid rafts and caveolae as portals for endocytosis: New insights and common mechanisms, Traffic. 4 (2003) 724-738, https:// doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0854.2003.00128.x.
- [31] J. Günther, H.-M. Seyfert, The first line of defence: insights into mechanisms and relevance of phagocytosis in epithelial cells, Semin. Immunopathol. 40 (6) (2018) 555-565, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-018-0701-1
- [32] A. Fulton, S.T. Peters, G.A. Perkins, K.W. Jarosinski, A. Damiani, M. Brosnahan, EL. Buckles, N. Osterrieder, G.R. Van de Walle, P.G. Stevenson, Effective treatment of respiratory alphaherpesvirus infection using RNA interference, PLoS One. 4 (1) (2009) e4118, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004118.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0004118. g00210.1371/journal.pone.0004118.g00310.1371/journal.pone.0004118. g00410.1371/journal.pone.0004118.g00510.1371/journal.pone.0004118. g00610.1371/journal.pone.0004118.t00110.1371/journal.pone.0004118. t00210.1371/journal.pone.0004118.t003.
 [33] A.G. Rosas-Taraco, D.M. Higgins, J. Sánchez-Campillo, E.J. Lee, I.M. Orme, M.
- González-Juarrero, Intrapulmonary delivery of XCL1-targeting small interfering RNA in mice chronically infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 41 (2) (2009) 136–145, https:// doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2008-0363OC
- [34] V. Bitko, A. Musiyenko, O. Shulyayeva, S. Barik, Inhibition of respiratory viruses by nasally administered siRNA, Nat. Med. 11 (1) (2005) 50-55, https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1164.
- [35] B. Gutbier, S.M. Kube, K. Reppe, A. Santel, C. Lange, J. Kaufmann, N. Suttorp, M. Witzenrath, RNAi-mediated suppression of constitutive pulmonary gene expression by small interfering RNA in mice, Pulm. Pharmacol. Ther. 23 (4) (2010) 334-344, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pupt.2010.03.007. [36] S.A. Moschos, S.W. Jones, M.M. Perry, A.E. Williams, J.S. Erjefalt, J.J. Turner, P.J.
- Barnes, B.S. Sproat, M.J. Gait, M.A. Lindsay, Lung delivery studies using siRNA conjugated to TAT(48-60) and penetratin reveal peptide induced reduction in gene expression and induction of innate immunity, Bioconjug. Chem. 18 (5) (2007) 1450-1459, https://doi.org/10.1021/bc070077d10.1021/bc070077d. s001.

- [37] A. Akinc, A. Zumbuehl, M. Goldberg, E.S. Leshchiner, V. Busini, N. Hossain, S.A. Bacallado, D.N. Nguyen, J. Fuller, R. Alvarez, A. Borodovsky, T. Borland, R. Constien, A. de Fougerolles, J.R. Dorkin, K. Narayanannair Jayaprakash, M. Jayaraman, M. John, V. Koteliansky, M. Manoharan, L. Nechev, J. Qin, T. Racie, D. Raitcheva, K.G. Rajeev, D.W.Y. Sah, J. Soutschek, I. Toudjarska, H.-P. Vornlocher, T.S. Zimmermann, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, A combinatorial library of lipid-like materials for delivery of RNAi therapeutics, Nat. Biotechnol. 26 (5) (2008) 561–569, https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1402.
- [38] J.-W. Lam, W. Liang, H.-K. Chan, Pulmonary delivery of therapeutic siRNA, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 64 (1) (2012) 1–15, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2011.02.006.
- [39] X. Murgia, C. De Souza Carvalho, C.M. Lehr, Overcoming the pulmonary barrier: New insights to improve the efficiency of inhaled therapeutics, Eur. J. Nanomedicine. 6 (2014) 157–169, https://doi.org/10.1515/ejnm-2014-0019.
- [40] W.-H. Lee, C.-Y. Loo, D. Traini, P.M. Young, Inhalation of nanoparticle-based drug for lung cancer treatment: Advantages and challenges, Asian, J. Pharm. Sci. 10 (6) (2015) 481–489, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2015.08.009.
- [41] A.Y. Lee, M.-H. Cho, S. Kim, Recent advances in aerosol gene delivery systems using non-viral vectors for lung cancer therapy, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 16 (7) (2019) 757–772, https://doi.org/10.1080/17425247.2019.1641083.
- [42] N. Amreddy, A. Babu, R. Muralidharan, A. Munshi, R. Ramesh, Polymeric Nanoparticle-Mediated Gene Delivery for Lung Cancer Treatment, Top. Curr. Chem. 375 (2017) 1–23, https://doi.org/10.1007/s41061-017-0128-5.
- [43] G. Sun, B. Liu, J. He, X. Zhao, B. Li, Expression of EGFR is closely related to reduced 3-year survival rate in Chinese female NSCLC, Med. Sci. Monit. 21 (2015) 2225–2231. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.894786.
- [44] R.I. Nicholson, J.M.W. Gee, M.E. Harper, EGFR and cancer prognosis, Eur. J. Cancer. 37 (2001) 9–15, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-8049(01)00231-3.
- [45] A.V. Nascimento, A. Singh, H. Bousbaa, D. Ferreira, B. Sarmento, M.M. Amiji, Mad2 checkpoint gene silencing using epidermal growth factor receptortargeted chitosan nanoparticles in non-small cell lung cancer model, Mol. Pharm. 11 (10) (2014) 3515–3527, https://doi.org/10.1021/mp5002894.
- [46] S. Misra, V.C. Hascall, R.R. Markwald, S. Ghatak, Interactions between hyaluronan and its receptors (CD44, RHAMM) regulate the activities of inflammation and cancer, Front. Immunol. 6 (2015), https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00201.
- [47] S. Ganesh, A.K. Iyer, D.V. Morrissey, M.M. Amiji, Hyaluronic acid based selfassembling nanosystems for CD44 target mediated siRNA delivery to solid tumors, Biomaterials. 34 (13) (2013) 3489–3502, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2013.01.077.
- [48] J.F. Whitney, J.M. Clark, T.W. Griffin, S. Gautam, K. Leslie, Transferrin Receptor Expression in Nonsrnall Cell Lung Cancer, Cancer. 76 (1995) 20–25, papers:// 2da1dc00-8ef8-49ed-93f8-79080a9217f1/Paper/p660.
- [49] Z. Shao, J. Shao, B. Tan, S. Guan, Z. Liu, Z. Zhao, F. He, J. Zhao, Targeted lung cancer therapy: Preparation and optimization of transferrin-decorated nanostructured lipid carriers as novel nanomedicine for co-delivery of anticancer drugs and DNA, Int. J. Nanomedicine. 10 (2015) 1223–1233, https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S77837.
- [50] L.E. Kelemen, The role of folate receptor α in cancer development, progression and treatment: Cause, consequence or innocent bystander?, Int J. Cancer. 119 (2) (2006) 243–250, https://doi.org/10.1002/(ISSN)1097-021510.1002/ijc. v119:210.1002/ijc.21712.
- [51] Y.G. Assaraf, C.P. Leamon, J.A. Reddy, The folate receptor as a rational therapeutic target for personalized cancer treatment, Drug Resist. Updat. 17 (4-6) (2014) 89–95, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drup.2014.10.002.
- [52] H.-L. Jiang, C.-X. Xu, Y.-K. Kim, R. Arote, D. Jere, H.-T. Lim, M.-H. Cho, C.-S. Cho, The suppression of lung tumorigenesis by aerosol-delivered folate-chitosangraft-polyethylenimine/Akt1 shRNA complexes through the Akt signaling pathway, Biomaterials. 30 (29) (2009) 5844–5852, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2009.07.017.
- [53] L. Guo, F. Zhang, Y. Cai, T. Liu, Expression profiling of integrins in lung cancer cells, Pathol. Res. Pract. 205 (12) (2009) 847–853, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. prp.2009.07.005.
- H. Ragelle, S. Colombo, V. Pourcelle, K. Vanvarenberg, G. Vandermeulen, C. Bouzin, J. Marchand-Brynaert, O. Feron, C. Foged, V. Préat, Intracellular siRNA delivery dynamics of integrin-targeted, PEGylated chitosan-poly(ethylene imine) hybrid nanoparticles: A mechanistic insight, J. Control. Release. 211 (2015) 1–9, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.05.274.
 M. Beck-Broichsitter, O.M. Merkel, T. Kissel, Controlled pulmonary drug and
- [55] M. Beck-Broichsitter, O.M. Merkel, T. Kissel, Controlled pulmonary drug and gene delivery using polymeric nano-carriers, J. Control. Release. 161 (2) (2012) 214–224, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.12.004.
- [56] E.R. Weibel, Lung morphometry: the link between structure and function, Cell Tissue Res. 367 (3) (2017) 413–426, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-016-2541-4.
- [57] L. Müller, M. Riediker, P. Wick, M. Mohr, P. Gehr, B. Rothen-Rutishauser, Oxidative stress and inflammation response after nanoparticle exposure: Differences between human lung cell monocultures and an advanced threedimensional model of the human epithelial airways, J. R. Soc. Interface. 7 (2010) 27–40, https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2009.0161.focus.
- [58] J.A. Whitsett, Airway epithelial differentiation and mucociliary clearance, Ann. Am. Thorac. Soc. 15 (Supplement_3) (2018) S143–S148, https://doi.org/ 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201802-128AW.
- [59] L.R. Bonser, D.J. Erle, The airway epithelium in asthma, first ed., Elsevier Inc., 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ai.2019.05.001.
- [60] B.I. Florea, M.L. Cassara, H.E. Junginger, G. Borchard, Drug transport and metabolism characteristics of the human airway epithelial cell line Calu-3, J.

Control. Release. 87 (1-3) (2003) 131–138, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(02)00356-5.

- [61] N. Sanders, C. Rudolph, K. Braeckmans, S.C. De Smedt, J. Demeester, Extracellular barriers in respiratory gene therapy, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (2) (2009) 115–127, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2008.09.011.
- [62] L. Guillot, N. Nathan, O. Tabary, G. Thouvenin, P. Le Rouzic, H. Corvol, S. Amselem, A. Clement, Alveolar epithelial cells: Master regulators of lung homeostasis, Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 45 (11) (2013) 2568–2573, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2013.08.009.
- [63] K.C. Stone, R.R. Mercer, P. Gehr, B. Stockstill, J.D. Crapo, Allometric relationships of cell numbers and size in the mammalian lung, Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 6 (2) (1992) 235–243, https://doi.org/10.1165/ajrcmb/ 6.2.235.
- [64] M. Bur, C.-M. Lehr, Pulmonary cell culture models to study the safety and efficacy of innovative aerosol medicines, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 5 (6) (2008) 641–652, https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.5.6.641.
- [65] J.J. Salomon, V.E. Muchitsch, J.C. Gausterer, E. Schwagerus, H. Huwer, N. Daum, C.-M. Lehr, C. Ehrhardt, The cell line NCI-H441 is a useful *in vitro* model for transport studies of human distal lung epithelial barrier, Mol. Pharm. 11 (3) (2014) 995–1006, https://doi.org/10.1021/mp4006535.
- [66] F.M. Carlier, C. de Fays, C. Pilette, Epithelial Barrier Dysfunction in Chronic Respiratory Diseases, Front. Physiol. 12 (2021) 1–27, https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphys.2021.691227.
- [67] P. Rogliani, L. Calzetta, A. Coppola, F. Cavalli, J. Ora, E. Puxeddu, M.G. Matera, M. Cazzola, Optimizing drug delivery in COPD: The role of inhaler devices, Respir. Med. 124 (2017) 6–14, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2017.01.006.
- [68] D. Proud, R. Leigh, Epithelial cells and airway diseases, Immunol. Rev. 242 (2011) 186–204, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01033.x.
- [69] R.A. Pleasants, D.R. Hess, Aerosol delivery devices for obstructive lung diseases, Respir. Care. 63 (6) (2018) 708–733, https://doi.org/10.4187/ respcare.06290.
- [70] J.D. Davis, T.P. Wypych, Cellular and functional heterogeneity of the airway epithelium, Mucosal Immunol. 14 (5) (2021) 978–990, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41385-020-00370-7.
- [71] K.U. Hong, S.D. Reynolds, S. Watkins, E. Fuchs, B.R. Stripp, Basal Cells Are a Multipotent Progenitor Capable of Renewing the Bronchial Epithelium, Am. J. Pathol. 164 (2) (2004) 577–588, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10) 63147-1.
- [72] I.I. Wistuba, A.F. Gazdar, Lung cancer preneoplasia, Annu. Rev. Pathol. 1 (1) (2006) 331–348, https://doi.org/10.1146/pathmechdis.2006.1.issue-110.1146/annurev.pathol.1.110304.100103.
- [73] N.H. Harley, Comparative Dosimetry of Radon in Mines and Homes, 1992. https://doi.org/10.17226/1799.
- [74] C.S. Dela Cruz, L.T. Tanoue, R.A. Matthay, Lung Cancer: Epidemiology, Etiology, and Prevention, Clin Chest Med. 32 (2011) 2–61, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ccm.2011.09.001.Lung.
- [75] Y. Moon, K.Y. Lee, S.W. Sung, J.K. Park, Differing histopathology and prognosis in pulmonary adenocarcinoma at central and peripheral locations, J. Thorac. Dis. 8 (2016) 169–177, https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2072-1439.2016.01.15.
- [76] A. Costa, C. de Souza Carvalho-Wodarz, V. Seabra, B. Sarmento, C.M. Lehr, Triple co-culture of human alveolar epithelium, endothelium and macrophages for studying the interaction of nanocarriers with the air-blood barrier, Acta Biomater. 91 (2019) 235–247, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. actbio.2019.04.037.
- [77] S. Kletting, S. Barthold, U. Repnik, G. Griffiths, B. Loretz, N. Schneider-Daum, C. de Souza Carvalho-Wodarz, C.M. Lehr, Co-culture of human alveolar epithelial (hAELVi) and macrophage (THP-1) cell lines, ALTEX. 35 (2018) 211–222. https://doi.org/10.14573/altex.1607191.
- [78] J. Schulze, S. Kuhn, S. Hendrikx, M. Schulz-Siegmund, T. Polte, A. Aigner, Spray-Dried Nanoparticle-in-Microparticle Delivery Systems (NiMDS) for Gene Delivery, Comprising Polyethylenimine (PEI)-Based Nanoparticles in a Poly(Vinyl Alcohol) Matrix, Small. 14 (12) (2018) 1701810, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/smll.v14.1210.1002/smll.201701810.
- [79] M. Agnoletti, A. Bohr, K. Thanki, F. Wan, X. Zeng, J.P. Boetker, M. Yang, C. Foged, Inhalable siRNA-loaded nano-embedded microparticles engineered using microfluidics and spray drying, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 120 (2017) 9–21, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.08.001.
- [80] C.A. Ruge, J. Kirch, C.-M. Lehr, Pulmonary drug delivery: From generating aerosols to overcoming biological barriers-therapeutic possibilities and technological challenges, Lancet Respir. Med. 1 (5) (2013) 402–413, https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(13)70072-9.
- [81] J. Ahmad, S. Akhter, M. Rizwanullah, S. Amin, M. Rahman, M.Z. Ahmad, M.A. Rizvi, M.A. Kamal, F.J. Ahmad, Nanotechnology-based inhalation treatments for lung cancer: State of the art, Nanotechnol. Sci. Appl. 8 (2015) 55–66, https://doi.org/10.2147/NSA.S49052.
- [82] K. Thanki, K.G. Blum, A. Thakur, F. Rose, C. Foged, Formulation of RNA interference-based drugs for pulmonary delivery: Challenges and opportunities, Ther. Deliv. 9 (10) (2018) 731–749, https://doi.org/10.4155/ tde-2018-0029.
- [83] N. Roche, P.N.R. Dekhuijzen, The Evolution of Pressurized Metered-Dose Inhalers from Early to Modern Devices, J. Aerosol Med. Pulm. Drug Deliv. 29 (4) (2016) 311–327, https://doi.org/10.1089/jamp.2015.1232.
- [84] A.R. Martin, W.H. Finlay, Nebulizers for drug delivery to the lungs, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 12 (6) (2015) 889–900, https://doi.org/10.1517/ 17425247.2015.995087.

- [85] A.H. de Boer, P. Hagedoorn, M. Hoppentocht, F. Buttini, F. Grasmeijer, H.W. Frijlink, Dry powder inhalation: past, present and future, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 14 (4) (2017) 499–512, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17425247.2016.1224846.
- [86] L.D. Mastrandrea, T. Quattrin, Clinical evaluation of inhaled insulin, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 58 (9-10) (2006) 1061–1075, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2006.07.019.
- [87] E.S. Kim, G.L. Plosker, AFREZZA[®] (insulin human) Inhalation Powder: A Review in Diabetes Mellitus, Drugs. 75 (14) (2015) 1679–1686, https://doi. org/10.1007/s40265-015-0472-0.
- [88] D.M. Sobieraj, E.R. Weeda, E. Nguyen, C.I. Coleman, M.C. White, S.C. Lazarus, K. V. Blake, J.E. Lang, W.L. Baker, Association of inhaled corticosteroids and longacting β-agonists as controller and quick relief therapy with exacerbations and symptom control in persistent asthma a systematic review and metaanalysis, JAMA - J. Am. Med. Assoc. 319 (2018) 1485–1496, https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jama.2018.2769.
- [89] E. Bielski, Q. Zhong, H. Mirza, M. Brown, A. Molla, T. Carvajal, S.R.P. da Rocha, TPP-dendrimer nanocarriers for siRNA delivery to the pulmonary epithelium and their dry powder and metered-dose inhaler formulations, Int. J. Pharm. 527 (1-2) (2017) 171–183, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.05.046.
- [90] D.K. Jensen, L.B. Jensen, S. Koocheki, L. Bengtson, D. Cun, H.M. Nielsen, C. Foged, Design of an inhalable dry powder formulation of DOTAP-modified PLGA nanoparticles loaded with siRNA, J. Control. Release. 157 (1) (2012) 141–148, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.08.011.
- [91] T.W.M. Keil, D.P. Feldmann, G. Costabile, Q. Zhong, S. da Rocha, O.M. Merkel, Characterization of spray dried powders with nucleic acid-containing PEI nanoparticles, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 143 (2019) 61–69, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ejpb.2019.08.012.
- [92] S. Ni, Y. Xie, Y. Tang, Y. Liu, J. Chen, S. Zhu, N-2-hydroxypropyltimehyl ammonium chloride chitosan nanoparticles for siRNA pulmonary delivery: preparation, characterization and *in vitro* evaluation, J. Drug Target. 25 (2017) 451–462, https://doi.org/10.1080/1061186X.2016.1278219.
- [93] K. Sharma, S. Somavarapu, A. Colombani, N. Govind, K.M.G. Taylor, Nebulised siRNA encapsulated crosslinked chitosan nanoparticles for pulmonary delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 455 (1-2) (2013) 241–247, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2013.07.024.
- [94] J. Heyder, Deposition of inhaled particles in the human respiratory tract and consequences for regional targeting in respiratory drug delivery, Proc. Am. Thorac. Soc. 1 (4) (2004) 315–320, https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.200409-046TA.
- [95] T.C. Carvalho, J.I. Peters, R.O. Williams III, Influence of particle size on regional lung deposition - What evidence is there?, Int J. Pharm. 406 (1-2) (2011) 1– 10, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.12.040.
- [96] B.S. Schuster, J.S. Suk, G.F. Woodworth, J. Hanes, Nanoparticle diffusion in respiratory mucus from humans without lung disease, Biomaterials. 34 (13) (2013) 3439–3446, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.01.064.
- [97] H.H. Sigurdsson, J. Kirch, C.-M. Lehr, Mucus as a barrier to lipophilic drugs, Int. J. Pharm. 453 (1) (2013) 56–64, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2013.05.040.
- [98] S.K. Lai, Y.-Y. Wang, J. Hanes, Mucus-penetrating nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to mucosal tissues, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (2) (2009) 158– 171, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2008.11.002.
- [99] Y. Zhu, A. Chidekel, T.H. Shaffer, Cultured Human Airway Epithelial Cells (Calu-3): A Model of Human Respiratory Function, Structure, and Inflammatory Responses, Crit. Care Res. Pract. 2010 (2010) 1–8, https://doi. org/10.1155/2010/394578.
- [100] J.C. Seagrave, H.H. Albrecht, D.B. Hill, D.F. Rogers, G. Solomon, Effects of guaifenesin, N-acetylcysteine, and ambroxol on MUC5AC and mucociliary transport in primary differentiated human tracheal-bronchial cells, Respir. Res. 13 (2012) 1–10, https://doi.org/10.1186/1465-9921-13-98.
- [101] B. Button, L.H. Cai, C. Ehre, M. Kesimer, D.B. Hill, J.K. Sheehan, R.C. Boucher, M. Rubinstein, A periciliary brush promotes the lung health by separating the mucus layer from airway epithelia, Science (80-.) 337 (2012) 937–941, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1223012.
- [102] S.S. Olmsted, J.L. Padgett, A.I. Yudin, K.J. Whaley, T.R. Moench, R.A. Cone, Diffusion of macromolecules and virus-like particles in human cervical mucus, Biophys. J. 81 (4) (2001) 1930–1937, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(01)75844-4.
- [103] J. Kirch, M. Guenther, N. Doshi, U.F. Schaefer, M. Schneider, S. Mitragotri, C.-M. Lehr, Mucociliary clearance of micro- and nanoparticles is independent of size, shape and charge-an ex vivo and in silico approach, J. Control. Release. 159 (1) (2012) 128–134, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.12.015.
- [104] A. LUDWIG, The use of mucoadhesive polymers in ocular drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 57 (11) (2005) 1595–1639, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2005.07.005.
- [105] J. Kirch, A. Schneider, B. Abou, A. Hopf, U.F. Schaefer, M. Schneider, C. Schall, C. Wagner, C.-M. Lehr, Optical tweezers reveal relationship between microstructure and nanoparticle penetration of pulmonary mucus, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109 (45) (2012) 18355–18360, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1214066109.
- [106] H. Takeuchi, H. Yamamoto, Y. Kawashima, Mucoadhesive nanoparticulate systems for peptide drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 47 (1) (2001) 39–54, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(00)00120-4.
- [107] X. Yan, Y. Song, C. Shen, W. Xu, L. Chen, J. Zhang, H. Liu, M. Huang, G. Lai, G. Qian, J. Wang, X. Ye, J. Zheng, C. Bai, Mucoactive and antioxidant medicines for COPD: Consensus of a group of Chinese pulmonary physicians, Int. J. COPD. 12 (2017) 803–812, https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S114423.

- [108] C.S. Schneider, Q. Xu, N.J. Boylan, J. Chisholm, B.C. Tang, B.S. Schuster, A. Henning, L.M. Ensign, E. Lee, P. Adstamongkonkul, B.W. Simons, S.Y.S. Wang, X. Gong, T. Yu, M.P. Boyle, J.S. Suk, J. Hanes, Nanoparticles that do not adhere to mucus provide uniform and long-lasting drug delivery to airways following inhalation, Sci. Adv. 3 (2017) 1–10, https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1601556.
- [109] M. Liu, J. Zhang, W. Shan, Y. Huang, Developments of mucus penetrating nanoparticles, Asian, J. Pharm. Sci. 10 (4) (2015) 275–282, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ajps.2014.12.007.
- [110] R.A. Cone, Barrier properties of mucus, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (2) (2009) 75-85, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2008.09.008.
- [111] B.A. HILLS, How does surfactant really work?, J Paediatr. Child Health. 33 (6) (1997) 471–475, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1754.1997.tb01651.x.
- [112] M. Dwivedi, R. Harishchandra, O. Koshkina, M. Maskos, H.-J. Galla, Size influences the effect of hydrophobic nanoparticles on lung surfactant model systems, Biophys. J. 106 (1) (2014) 289–298, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bpj.2013.10.036.
- [113] C. Garcia-Mouton, A. Hidalgo, A. Cruz, J. Pérez-Gil, The Lord of the Lungs: The essential role of pulmonary surfactant upon inhalation of nanoparticles, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 144 (2019) 230–243, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejpb.2019.09.020.
- [114] E. Parra, A. Alcaraz, A. Cruz, V. Aguilella, J. Pérez-Gil, Hydrophobic pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C induce pore formation in planar lipid membranes: Evidence for proteolipid pores, Biophys. J. 104 (1) (2013) 146– 155, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2012.11.014.
- [115] F.X. Mccormack, J.A. Whitsett, The pulmonary collectins SP-A and SD-D, orchestrate innate immunity in the lung, J. Clin. Invest. 109 (2002) 707–712, https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI200215293.Each.
- [116] C.A. Ruge, J. Kirch, O. Cañadas, M. Schneider, J. Perez-Gil, U.F. Schaefer, C. Casals, C.-M. Lehr, Uptake of nanoparticles by alveolar macrophages is triggered by surfactant protein A, Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med. 7 (6) (2011) 690–693, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2011.07.009.
- [117] C.A. Ruge, U.F. Schaefer, J. Herrmann, J. Kirch, O. Cañadas, M. Echaide, J. Pérez-Gil, C. Casals, R. Müller, C.-M. Lehr, T.W. Prow, The interplay of lung surfactant proteins and lipids assimilates the macrophage clearance of nanoparticles, PLoS One. 7 (7) (2012) e40775, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00210.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00310.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00410.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00510.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00510.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00810.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g00110.1371/journal.pone.0040775.g001.
- [118] R.P. Valle, C.L. Huang, J.S.C. Loo, Y.Y. Zuo, Increasing hydrophobicity of nanoparticles intensifies lung surfactant film inhibition and particle retention, ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2 (7) (2014) 1574–1580, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/sc500100b.
- [119] G. Hu, B. Jiao, X. Shi, R.P. Valle, Q. Fan, Y.Y. Zuo, Physicochemical properties of nanoparticles regulate translocation across pulmonary surfactant monolayer and formation of lipoprotein corona, ACS Nano. 7 (12) (2013) 10525–10533, https://doi.org/10.1021/nn4054683.
- [120] I.S. Raja, S.J. Song, M.S. Kang, Y. Bin Lee, B. Kim, S.W. Hong, S.J. Jeong, J.C. Lee, D.W. Han, Toxicity of zero-and one-dimensional carbon nanomaterials, Nanomaterials. 9 (2019) 1–24, https://doi.org/10.3390/nano9091214.
- [121] L.A. Dailey, N. Jekel, L. Fink, T. Gessler, T. Schmehl, M. Wittmar, T. Kissel, W. Seeger, Investigation of the proinflammatory potential of biodegradable nanoparticle drug delivery systems in the lung, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 215 (1) (2006) 100–108, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2006.01.016.
- [122] N.V. Konduru, R.M. Molina, A. Swami, F. Damiani, G. Pyrgiotakis, P. Lin, P. Andreozzi, T.C. Donaghey, P. Demokritou, S. Krol, W. Kreyling, J.D. Brain, Protein corona: Implications for nanoparticle interactions with pulmonary cells, Part. Fibre Toxicol. 14 (2017) 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-017-0223-3.
- [123] A. Hidalgo, A. Cruz, J. Pérez-Gil, Pulmonary surfactant and nanocarriers: Toxicity versus combined nanomedical applications, Biochim. Biophys. Acta -Biomembr. 1859 (9) (2017) 1740–1748, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamem.2017.04.019.
- [124] S.S. Raesch, S. Tenzer, W. Storck, A. Rurainski, D. Selzer, C.A. Ruge, J. Perez-Gil, U.F. Schaefer, C.-M. Lehr, Proteomic and Lipidomic Analysis of Nanoparticle Corona upon Contact with Lung Surfactant Reveals Differences in Protein, but Not Lipid Composition, ACS Nano. 9 (12) (2015) 11872–11885, https://doi. org/10.1021/acsnano.5b0421510.1021/acsnano.5b04215.s00110.1021/ acsnano.5b04215.s002.
- [125] H. Whitwell, R.-M. Mackay, C. Elgy, C. Morgan, M. Griffiths, H. Clark, P. Skipp, J. Madsen, Nanoparticles in the lung and their protein corona: the few proteins that count, Nanotoxicology. 10 (9) (2016) 1385–1394, https://doi. org/10.1080/17435390.2016.1218080.
- [126] L.P. Nicod, Lung defences: An overview, Eur. Respir. Rev. 14 (95) (2005) 45– 50, https://doi.org/10.1183/09059180.05.00009501.
- [127] S.A. Shoyele, S. Cawthorne, Particle engineering techniques for inhaled biopharmaceuticals, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 58 (9-10) (2006) 1009–1029, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2006.07.010.
- [128] M. Caillaud, M. El Madani, L. Massaad-Massade, Small interfering RNA from the lab discovery to patients' recovery, J. Control. Release. 321 (2020) 616– 628, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.02.032.
- [129] Y. Qiu, J.K.W. Lam, S.W.S. Leung, W. Liang, Delivery of RNAi therapeutics to the airways - From bench to bedside, Molecules. 21 (2016) 1–32, https://doi. org/10.3390/molecules21091249.

- [130] S.H.D.P. Lacerda, J.J. Park, C. Meuse, D. Pristinski, M.L. Becker, A. Karim, J.F. Douglas, Interaction of gold nanoparticles with common human blood proteins, ACS Nano. 4 (1) (2010) 365–379, https://doi.org/10.1021/ nn9011187.
- [131] P.R. Cullis, M.J. Hope, Lipid Nanoparticle Systems for Enabling Gene Therapies, Mol. Ther. 25 (7) (2017) 1467–1475, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymthe.2017.03.013.
- [132] N. Durcan, C. Murphy, S.-A. Cryan, Inhalable siRNA: Potential as a therapeutic agent in the lungs, Mol. Pharm. 5 (4) (2008) 559–566, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/mp070048k.
- [133] H.Y. Xue, S. Liu, H.L. Wong, Nanotoxicity: A key obstacle to clinical translation of siRNA-based nanomedicine, Nanomedicine. 9 (2) (2014) 295–312, https:// doi.org/10.2217/nnm.13.204.
- [134] U. Griesenbach, C. Kitson, S. Escudero Garcia, R. Farley, C. Singh, L. Somerton, H. Painter, R.L. Smith, D.R. Gill, S.C. Hyde, Y.H. Chow, J. Hu, M. Gray, M. Edbrooke, V. Ogilvie, G. MacGregor, R.K. Scheule, S.H. Cheng, N.J. Caplen, E.W. F.W. Alton, Inefficient cationic lipid-mediated siRNA and antisense oligonucleotide transfer to airway epithelial cells in vivo, Respir. Res. 7 (2006) 1–15, https://doi.org/10.1186/1465-9921-7-26.
- [135] J. Wang, Z.e. Lu, M.G. Wientjes, J.-S. Au, Delivery of siRNA therapeutics: Barriers and carriers, AAPS J. 12 (4) (2010) 492–503, https://doi.org/10.1208/ s12248-010-9210-4.
- [136] K.L. Clark, S.A. Hughes, P. Bulsara, J. Coates, K. Moores, J. Parry, M. Carr, R.J. Mayer, P. Wilson, C. Gruenloh, D. Levin, J. Darton, W.-M. Weber, K. Sobczak, D. R. Gill, S.C. Hyde, L.A. Davies, I.A. Pringle, S.G. Sumner-Jones, V. Jadhav, S. Jamison, W.R. Strapps, V. Pickering, M.R. Edbrooke, Pharmacological characterization of a novel ENaCa siRNA (GSK2225745) with potential for the treatment of cystic fibrosis, Mol. Ther. - Nucleic Acids. 2 (2013) e65, https://doi.org/10.1038/mtna.2012.57.
- [137] F. Mastrotto, C. Brazzale, F. Bellato, S. De Martin, G. Grange, M. Mahmoudzadeh, A. Magarkar, A. Bunker, S. Salmaso, P. Caliceti, *In vitro* and *in vivo* behavior of liposomes decorated with PEGs with different chemical features, Mol. Pharm. 17 (2020) 472–487, https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.molpharmaceut.9b00887.
- [138] I.V. Chernikov, D.V. Gladkikh, M.I. Meschaninova, A.G. Ven'yaminova, M.A. Zenkova, V.V. Vlassov, E.L. Chernolovskaya, Cholesterol-Containing Nuclease-Resistant siRNA Accumulates in Tumors in a Carrier-free Mode and Silences MDR1 Gene, Mol. Ther. - Nucleic Acids. 6 (2017) 209–220, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.omtn.2016.12.011.
- [139] Y. Kanehira, K. Togami, K. Ishizawa, S. Sato, H. Tada, S. Chono, Intratumoral delivery and therapeutic efficacy of nanoparticle-encapsulated anti-tumor siRNA following intrapulmonary administration for potential treatment of lung cancer, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 24 (9) (2019) 1095–1103, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10837450.2019.1633345.
- [140] S.C. Semple, S.K. Klimuk, T.O. Harasym, N. Dos Santos, S.M. Ansell, K.F. Wong, N. Maurer, H. Stark, P.R. Cullis, M.J. Hope, P. Scherrer, Efficient encapsulation of antisense oligonucleotides in lipid vesicles using ionizable aminolipids: Formation of novel small multilamellar vesicle structures, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 1510 (1-2) (2001) 152–166, https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0005-2736(00)00343-6.
- [141] K.T. Love, K.P. Mahon, C.G. Levins, K.A. Whitehead, W. Querbes, J.R. Dorkin, J. Qin, W. Cantley, L.L. Qin, T. Racie, M. Frank-Kamenetsky, K.N. Yip, R. Alvarez, D.W.Y. Sah, A. De Fougerolles, K. Fitzgerald, V. Koteliansky, A. Akinc, R. Langer, D.G. Anderson, Lipid-like materials for low-dose, *in vivo* gene silencing, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (2010) 1864–1869, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1005136107.
- [142] S.C. Semple, A. Akinc, J. Chen, A.P. Sandhu, B.L. Mui, C.K. Cho, D.W.Y. Sah, D. Stebbing, E.J. Crosley, E.d. Yaworski, I.M. Hafez, J.R. Dorkin, J. Qin, K. Lam, K.G. Rajeev, K.F. Wong, L.B. Jeffs, L. Nechev, M.L. Eisenhardt, M. Jayaraman, M. Kazem, M.A. Maier, M. Srinivasulu, M.J. Weinstein, Q. Chen, R. Alvarez, S.A. Barros, S. De, S.K. Klimuk, T. Borland, V. Kosovrasti, W.L. Cantley, Y.K. Tam, M. Manoharan, M.A. Ciufolini, M.A. Tracy, A. de Fougerolles, I. MacLachlan, P.R. Cullis, T.D. Madden, M.J. Hope, Rational design of cationic lipids for siRNA delivery, Nat. Biotechnol. 28 (2) (2010) 172–176, https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1602.
- [143] T.S. Zimmermann, A.C.H. Lee, A. Akinc, B. Bramlage, D. Bumcrot, M.N. Fedoruk, J. Harborth, J.A. Heyes, L.B. Jeffs, M. John, A.D. Judge, K. Lam, K. McClintock, L.V. Nechev, L.R. Palmer, T. Racie, I. Röhl, S. Seiffert, S. Shanmugam, V. Sood, J. Soutschek, I. Toudjarska, A.J. Wheat, E.d. Yaworski, W. Zedalis, V. Koteliansky, M. Manoharan, H.-P. Vornlocher, I. MacLachlan, RNAi-mediated gene silencing in non-human primates, Nature. 441 (7089) (2006) 111–114, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04688.
- [144] P. Merckx, L. De Backer, L. Van Hoecke, R. Guagliardo, M. Echaide, P. Baatsen, B. Olmeda, X. Saelens, J. Pérez-Gil, S.C. De Smedt, K. Raemdonck, Surfactant protein B (SP-B) enhances the cellular siRNA delivery of proteolipid coated nanogels for inhalation therapy, Acta Biomater. 78 (2018) 236–246, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2018.08.012.
- [145] R. Guagliardo, P. Merckx, A. Zamborlin, L. De Backer, M. Echaide, J. Pérez-Gil, S.C. De Smedt, K. Raemdonck, Nanocarrier lipid composition modulates the impact of pulmonary surfactant protein B (SP-B) on cellular delivery of siRNA, Pharmaceutics. 11 (2019) 1–16, https://doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics11090431.
- [146] O. Taratula, O.B. Garbuzenko, A.M. Chen, T. Minko, Innovative strategy for treatment of lung cancer: Targeted nanotechnology-based inhalation codelivery of anticancer drugs and siRNA, J. Drug Target. 19 (10) (2011) 900– 914, https://doi.org/10.3109/1061186X.2011.622404.

- [147] R.Q. Cai, D.Z. Liu, H. Cui, Y. Cheng, M. Liu, B. Le Zhang, Q.B. Mei, S.Y. Zhou, Charge reversible calcium phosphate lipid hybrid nanoparticle for siRNA delivery, Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 42772–42788. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.17484.
- [148] A. Frede, B. Neuhaus, T. Knuschke, M. Wadwa, S. Kolleda, R. Klopfleisch, H. Wiebke, J. Buer, D. Bruder, M. Epple, A.M. Westendorf, Local delivery of siRNA-loaded calcium phosphate nanoparticles abates pulmonary inflammation, Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med. 13 (2017) 2395–2403.
- [149] J. Conde, F. Tian, Y. Hernández, C. Bao, D. Cui, K.P. Janssen, M.R. Ibarra, P.V. Baptista, T. Stoeger, J.M. de la Fuente, *In vivo* tumor targeting via nanoparticle-mediated therapeutic siRNA coupled to inflammatory response in lung cancer mouse models, Biomaterials. 34 (2013) 7744–7753, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.06.041.
- [150] T. Singh, A.S.N. Murthy, H.-J. Yang, J. Im, Versatility of cell-penetrating peptides for intracellular delivery of siRNA, Drug Deliv. 25 (1) (2018) 1996– 2006, https://doi.org/10.1080/10717544.2018.1543366.
- [151] J. Habault, J.L. Poyet, Recent advances in cell penetrating peptide-based anticancer therapies, Molecules. 24 (2019) 1–17, https://doi.org/ 10.3390/molecules24050927.
- [152] S.A. Moschos, A.E. Williams, M.A. Lindsay, Cell-penetrating-peptide-mediated siRNA lung delivery, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 35 (2007) 807–810, https://doi.org/ 10.1042/BST0350807.
- [153] K. Kardani, A. Milani, S. H. Shabani, A. Bolhassani, Cell penetrating peptides: the potent multi-cargo intracellular carriers, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 16 (11) (2019) 1227–1258, https://doi.org/10.1080/17425247.2019.1676720.
- [154] D.H. Kim, H.J. Park, S. Lim, J.H. Koo, H.G. Lee, J.O. Choi, J.H. Oh, S.J. Ha, M.J. Kang, C.M. Lee, C.G. Lee, J.A. Elias, J.M. Choi, Regulation of chitinase-3-like-1 in T cell elicits Th1 and cytotoxic responses to inhibit lung metastasis, Nat. Commun. 9 (2018) 1–14, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02731-6.
- [155] J.J. Welch, R.J. Swanekamp, C. King, D.A. Dean, B.L. Nilsson, Functional Delivery of siRNA by Disulfide-Constrained Cyclic Amphipathic Peptides, ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 7 (6) (2016) 584–589, https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsmedchemlett.6b0003110.1021/acsmedchemlett.6b00031.s001.
- [156] M. Choi, H. Jeong, S. Kim, M. Kim, M. Lee, T. Rhim, Targeted delivery of Chil3/ Chil4 siRNA to alveolar macrophages using ternary complexes composed of HMG and oligoarginine micelles, Nanoscale. 12 (2) (2020) 933–943, https:// doi.org/10.1039/C9NR06382].
- [157] Y. Qiu, R.C.H. Man, Q. Liao, K.L.K. Kung, M.Y.T. Chow, J.K.W. Lam, Effective mRNA pulmonary delivery by dry powder formulation of PEGylated synthetic KL4 peptide, J. Control. Release. 314 (2019) 102–115, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jconrel.2019.10.026.
- [158] D. Zhang, H. Lee, X. Wang, A. Rai, M. Groot, Y. Jin, Exosome-Mediated Small RNA Delivery: A Novel Therapeutic Approach for Inflammatory Lung Responses, Mol. Ther. 26 (9) (2018) 2119–2130, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymthe.2018.06.007.
- [159] B.K. Singh, A.L. Cooney, S. Krishnamurthy, P.L. Sinn, Extracellular vesiclemediated siRNA delivery, protein delivery, and CFTR complementation in well-differentiated human airway epithelial cells, Genes (Basel). 11 (2020) 1– 15, https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11040351.
- [160] J.Y. Lee, D.H. Zhang, J. Minhas, Extracellular Vesicles Facilitate the Intercellular Communications in the Pathogenesis of Lung Injury, Cell Dev. Biol. 5 (2016) 1–8, https://doi.org/10.4172/2168-9296.1000175.Extracellular.
- [161] M. Schulz-Siegmund, A. Aigner, Nucleic acid delivery with extracellular vesicles, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 173 (2021) 89–111, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2021.03.005.
- [162] Zhihai Ju, Jinhui Ma, Chen Wang, Jie Yu, Yeru Qiao, Feilong Hei, Exosomes from iPSCs Delivering siRNA Attenuate Intracellular Adhesion Molecule-1 Expression and Neutrophils Adhesion in Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells, Inflammation. 40 (2) (2017) 486-496, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10753-016-0494-0.
- [163] Gabriella Andriolo, Elena Provasi, Viviana Lo Cicero, Andrea Brambilla, Sabrina Soncin, Tiziano Torre, Giuseppina Milano, Vanessa Biemmi, Giuseppe Vassalli, Lucia Turchetto, Lucio Barile, Marina Radrizzani, Exosomes from human cardiac progenitor cells for therapeutic applications: Development of a GMPgrade manufacturing method, Front. Physiol. 9 (2018), https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fphys.2018.0116910.3389/fphys.2018.01169.s00110.3389/fphys. 2018.01169.s00210.3389/fphys.2018.01169.s00310.3389/fphys.2018. 01169.s00410.3389/fphys.2018.01169.s00510.3389/fphys.2018. 01169.s00410.3389/fphys.2018.01169.s00510.3389/fphys.2018. 01169.s00410.3389/fphys.2018.01169.s00510.3389/fphys.2018.
- [164] R. Maroto, Y. Zhao, M. Jamaluddin, V.L. Popov, H. Wang, M. Kalubowilage, Y. Zhang, J. Luisi, H. Sun, C.T. Culbertson, S.H. Bossmann, M. Motamedi, A.R. Brasier, Effects of storage temperature on airway exosome integrity for diagnostic and functional analyses, J. Extracell. Vesicles. 6 (2017) 1–18, https://doi.org/10.1080/20013078.2017.1359478.
- [165] X. Zhao, D. Wu, X. Ma, J. Wang, W. Hou, W. Zhang, Exosomes as drug carriers for cancer therapy and challenges regarding exosome uptake, Biomed. Pharmacother. 128 (2020) 1–9, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110237.
- [166] Eugene Khor, Lee Yong Lim, Implantable applications of chitin and chitosan, Biomaterials. 24 (13) (2003) 2339–2349, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(03)00026-7.
- [167] Wen Guang Liu, Kang De Yao, Chitosan and its derivatives A promising nonviral vector for gene transfection, J. Control. Release. 83 (1) (2002) 1–11, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(02)00144-X.
- [168] Oliver Germershaus, Shirui Mao, Johannes Sitterberg, Udo Bakowsky, Thomas Kissel, Gene delivery using chitosan, trimethyl chitosan or polyethylenglycol-

graft-trimethyl chitosan block copolymers: Establishment of structureactivity relationships *in vitro*, J. Control. Release. 125 (2) (2008) 145–154, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2007.10.013.

- [169] Laxmi Upadhyaya, Jay Singh, Vishnu Agarwal, Ravi Prakash Tewari, Biomedical applications of carboxymethyl chitosans, Carbohydr. Polym. 91 (1) (2013) 452–466, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2012.07.076.
- [170] Shirui Mao, Wei Sun, Thomas Kissel, Chitosan-based formulations for delivery of DNA and siRNA, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 62 (1) (2010) 12–27, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2009.08.004.
- [171] Walter E. Rudzinski, Tejraj M. Aminabhavi, Chitosan as a carrier for targeted delivery of small interfering RNA, Int. J. Pharm. 399 (1-2) (2010) 1–11, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.08.022.
- [172] Yongfeng Luo, Xinyun Zhai, Chaonan Ma, Peng Sun, Zhiping Fu, Wenguang Liu, Jun Xu, An inhalable β2-adrenoceptor ligand-directed guanidinylated chitosan carrier for targeted delivery of siRNA to lung, J. Control. Release. 162 (1) (2012) 28–36, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.06.005.
 [173] Victoria Capel, Driton Vllasaliu, Peter Watts, Philip A. Clarke, Dominic Luxton,
- [173] Victoria Capel, Driton Vllasaliu, Peter Watts, Philip A. Clarke, Dominic Luxton, Anna M. Grabowska, Giuseppe Mantovani, Snjezana Stolnik, Water-soluble substituted chitosan derivatives as technology platform for inhalation delivery of siRNA, Drug Deliv. 25 (1) (2018) 644–653, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10717544.2018.1440668.
- [174] Y. Cao, Y.F. Tan, Y.S. Wong, M.W.J. Liew, S. Venkatraman, Recent advances in chitosan-based carriers for gene delivery, Mar. Drugs. 17 (2019) 1–21, https://doi.org/10.3390/md17060381.
- [175] A. Ewe, S. Przybylski, J. Burkhardt, A. Janke, D. Appelhans, A. Aigner, A novel tyrosine-modified low molecular weight polyethylenimine (P10Y) for ef fi cient siRNA delivery *in vitro* and *in vivo*, J. Control. Release. 230 (2016) 13–25, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.03.034.
- [176] Xiangyu Zhang, Qi Wang, Liubing Qin, Hao Fu, Yiwei Fang, Baoshan Han, Yourong Duan, EGF-modified mPEG-PLGA-PLL nanoparticle for delivering doxorubicin combined with Bcl-2 siRNA as a potential treatment strategy for lung cancer, Drug Deliv. 23 (8) (2016) 2936–2945, https://doi.org/10.3109/ 10717544.2015.1126769.
- [177] S. Sung, Y.K. Kim, Recent advances in polymeric drug delivery carrier systems, Biomater. Res. 24 (2020) 1–12.
- [178] R. Rai, S. Alwani, I. Badea, Polymeric nanoparticles in gene therapy: New avenues of design and optimization for delivery applications, Polymers (Basel). 11 (2019) 1–35, https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11040745.
- [179] T.J. Thomas, H.A. Tajmir-Riahi, C.K.S. Pillai, Biodegradable polymers for gene delivery, Molecules. 24 (2019) 1–24, https://doi.org/ 10.3390/molecules24203744.
- [180] Dongmei Cun, Ditte Krohn Jensen, Morten Jonas Maltesen, Matthew Bunker, Paul Whiteside, David Scurr, Camilla Foged, Hanne Mørck Nielsen, High loading efficiency and sustained release of siRNA encapsulated in PLGA nanoparticles: Quality by design optimization and characterization, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 77 (1) (2011) 26–35, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eipb.2010.11.008.
- [181] Maria Abdul Ghafoor Raja, Haliza Katas, Thum Jing Wen, Valentin Ceña, Stability, intracellular delivery, and release of siRNA from chitosan nanoparticles using different cross-linkers, PLoS One. 10 (6) (2015) e0128963, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.012896310.1371/journal.pone. 0128963.g00310.1371/journal.pone.0128963.g00210.1371/journal.pone. 0128963.g00510.1371/journal.pone.0128963.g00410.1371/journal.pone. 0128963.g00510.1371/journal.pone.0128963.g00610.1371/journal.pone. 0128963.g00910.1371/journal.pone.0128963.g00810.1371/journal.pone. 0128963.g00910.1371/journal.pone.0128963.g01010.1371/journal.pone. 0128963.g00910.1371/journal.pone.0128963.g0101.1371/journal.pone. 0128963.t00110.1371/journal.pone.0128963.t00210.1371/journal.pone. 0128963.t00310.1371/journal.pone.0128963.t00210.1371/journal.pone.
- [182] Abderrahim Nemmar, Marc F Hoylaerts, Peter H.M Hoet, Jozef Vermylen, Benoit Nemery, Size effect of intratracheally instilled particles on pulmonary inflammation and vascular thrombosis, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 186 (1) (2003) 38–45, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0041-008X(02)00024-8.
- [183] Oshrat Harush-Frenkel, Maytal Bivas-Benita, Taher Nassar, Chaim Springer, Yoav Sherman, Avraham Avital, Yoram Altschuler, Jurgen Borlak, Simon Benita, A safety and tolerability study of differently-charged nanoparticles for local pulmonary drug delivery, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 246 (1-2) (2010) 83–90, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2010.04.011.
- [184] Lea Ann Dailey, Mathias Wittmar, Thomas Kissel, The role of branched polyesters and their modifications in the development of modern drug delivery vehicles, J. Control. Release. 101 (1-3) (2005) 137–149, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.09.003.
- [185] Lea Ann Dailey, Thomas Kissel, New poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) derivatives: Modular polymers with tailored properties, Drug Discov. Today Technol. 2 (1) (2005) 7–13, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ddtec.2005.05.017.
- [186] Christian Mühlfeld, Barbara Rothen-Rutishauser, Fabian Blank, Dimitri Vanhecke, Matthias Ochs, Peter Gehr, Interactions of nanoparticles with pulmonary structures and cellular responses, Am. J. Physiol. - Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 294 (5) (2008) L817–L829, https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00442.2007.
- [187] J.B. Raftis, M.R. Miller, Nanoparticle translocation and multi-organ toxicity: A particularly small problem, Nano Today. 26 (2019) 8–12, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nantod.2019.03.010.
- [188] M. Geiser, W.G. Kreyling, Lung deposition and biokinetics of inhaled nanoparticles, Part. Fibre Toxicol. 7 (2010) 1–17, https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0033-1357051.
- [189] J. Dumková, T. Smutná, L. Vrlíková, P. Le Coustumer, Z. Večeřa, B. Dočekal, P. Mikuška, L. Čapka, P. Fictum, A. Hampl, M. Buchtová, Sub-chronic inhalation

of lead oxide nanoparticles revealed their broad distribution and tissuespecific subcellular localization in target organs, Part. Fibre Toxicol. 14 (2017) 1–19, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-017-0236-y.

- [190] J.C. Bonner, Nanoparticles as a potential cause of pleural and interstitial lung disease, Proc. Am. Thorac. Soc. 7 (2) (2010) 138-141, https://doi.org/ 10.1513/pats.200907-061RM.
- [191] T. Vlachogianni, K. Fiotakis, S. Loridas, S. Perdicaris, A. Valavanidis, Potential toxicity and safety evaluation of nanomaterials for the respiratory system and lung cancer, Lung Cancer Targets Ther. 4 (2013) 71–82, https://doi.org/ 10.2147/LCTT.S23216.
- [192] D.G. Shcharbin, B. Klajnert, M. Bryszewska, Dendrimers in gene transfection, Biochem. 74 (10) (2009) 1070–1079, https://doi.org/10.1134/ S0006297909100022.
- [193] Hu Yang, Weiyuan John Kao, Dendrimers for pharmaceutical and biomedical applications, J. Biomater. Sci. 17 (1-2) (2006) 3–19, https://doi.org/10.1163/ 156856206774879171.
- [194] S. Svenson, D. Tomalia, Dendrimers in biomedical applications Reflections on the field, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 57 (15) (2005) 2106–2129, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.addr.2005.09.018.
- [195] S. Michlewska, M. Ionov, M. Maroto-Díaz, A. Szwed, A. Ihnatsyeu-Kachan, S. Loznikova, D. Shcharbin, M. Maly, R.G. Ramirez, F.J. de la Mata, M. Bryszewska, Ruthenium dendrimers as carriers for anticancer siRNA, J. Inorg. Biochem. 181 (2018) 18–27, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jinorgbio.2018.01.001.
- [196] N. Sanz del Olmo, M. Holota, S. Michlewska, R. Gomez, P. Ortega, M. Ionov, F.J. De la Mata, M. Bryszewska, Copper (II) Metallodendrimers Combined with Pro-Apoptotic siRNAs as a Promising Strategy Against Breast Cancer Cells, Pharmaceutics. 12 (2020) 1–14, https://doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics12080727.
- [197] Joon Sig Choi, Kihoon Nam, Jong-yeun Park, Jung-Bin Kim, Ja-Kyeong Lee, Jong-sang Park, Enhanced transfection efficiency of PAMAM dendrimer by surface modification with L-arginine, J. Control. Release. 99 (3) (2004) 445– 456, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.07.027.
- [198] Stefanie Tietze, Isabell Schau, Susanne Michen, Franka Ennen, Andreas Janke, Gabriele Schackert, Achim Aigner, Dietmar Appelhans, Achim Temme, A Poly (Propyleneimine) Dendrimer-Based Polyplex-System for Single-Chain Antibody-Mediated Targeted Delivery and Cellular Uptake of siRNA, Small. 13 (27) (2017) 1700072, https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.v13.2710.1002/ smll.201700072.
- [199] C. Dufes, I. Uchegbu, A. Schatzlein, Dendrimers in gene delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 57 (15) (2005) 2177–2202, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2005.09.017.
- [200] P. Pandi, A. Jain, N. Kommineni, M. Ionov, M. Bryszewska, W. Khan, Dendrimer as a new potential carrier for topical delivery of siRNA: A comparative study of dendriplex vs. lipoplex for delivery of TNF-α siRNA, Int. J. Pharm. 550 (1-2) (2018) 240-250, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2018.08.024.
- [201] Denise S. Conti, Daniel Brewer, Jordan Grashik, Sumant Avasarala, Sandro R.P. da Rocha, Poly(amidoamine) dendrimer nanocarriers and their aerosol formulations for siRNA delivery to the lung epithelium, Mol. Pharm. 11 (6) (2014) 1808–1822, https://doi.org/10.1021/mp4006358.
- [202] S. Ayatollahi, Z. Salmasi, M. Hashemi, S. Askarian, R.K. Oskuee, K. Abnous, M. Ramezani, Aptamer-targeted delivery of Bcl-xL shRNA using alkyl modified PAMAM dendrimers into lung cancer cells, Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 92 (2017) 210–217, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2017.10.005.
- [203] Gregory E Holt, Pirouz Daftarian, Non-small-cell lung cancer homing peptidelabeled dendrimers selectively transfect lung cancer cells, Immunotherapy. 10 (16) (2018) 1349–1360, https://doi.org/10.2217/imt-2018-0078.
- [204] Fabienne Danhier, Eduardo Ansorena, Joana M. Silva, Régis Coco, Aude Le Breton, Véronique Préat, PLGA-based nanoparticles: An overview of biomedical applications, J. Control. Release. 161 (2) (2012) 505–522, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.01.043.
 [205] Hai Wang, Ying Zhao, Yan Wu, Yu-lin Hu, Kaihui Nan, Guangjun Nie, Hao
- [205] Hai Wang, Ying Zhao, Yan Wu, Yu-lin Hu, Kaihui Nan, Guangjun Nie, Hao Chen, Enhanced anti-tumor efficacy by co-delivery of doxorubicin and paclitaxel with amphiphilic methoxy PEG-PLGA copolymer nanoparticles, Biomaterials. 32 (32) (2011) 8281–8290, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2011.07.032.
- [206] R.L. McCall, R.W. Sirianni, PLGA nanoparticles formed by single- or doubleemulsion with vitamin E-TPGS, J. Vis. Exp. 82 (2013) 1–8, https://doi.org/ 10.3791/51015.
- [207] T. Sadat, J. Kashi, S. Eskandarion, M. Esfandyari-Manesh, S. Mahmoud, A. Marashi, N. Samadi, S.M. Fatemi, F. Atyabi, S. Eshraghi, R. Dinarvand, Improved drug loading and antibacterial activity of minocycline-loaded PLGA nanoparticles prepared by solid/oil/water ion pairing method, Int. J. Nanomedicine. 2 (2012) 221–234, https://doi.org/10.2147/ijn.s27709.
- [208] W.P. Su, F.Y. Cheng, D.B. Shieh, C.S. Yeh, W.C. Su, PLGA nanoparticles codeliver paclitaxel and Stat3 siRNA to overcome cellular resistance in lung cancer cells, Int. J. Nanomedicine. 7 (2012) 4269–4283, https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN. S33666.
- [209] S.M. Dizaj, S. Jafari, A.Y. Khosroushahi, A sight on the current nanoparticlebased gene delivery vectors, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 9 (2014) 1–9, https://doi. org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-252.
- [210] J. Du, Y. Sun, Q.S. Shi, P.F. Liu, M.J. Zhu, C.H. Wang, L.F. Du, Y.R. Duan, Biodegradable nanoparticles of mPEG-PLGA-PLL triblock copolymers as novel non-viral vectors for improving siRNA delivery and gene silencing, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 13 (2012) 516–533, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms13010516.

- [211] Ditte Marie Krohn Jensen, Dongmei Cun, Morten Jonas Maltesen, Sven Frokjaer, Hanne Mørck Nielsen, Camilla Foged, Spray drying of siRNAcontaining PLGA nanoparticles intended for inhalation, J. Control. Release. 142 (1) (2010) 138–145, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2009.10.010.
- [212] L. Wu, C. Rodríguez-Rodríguez, D. Cun, M. Yang, K. Saatchi, U.O. Häfeli, Quantitative comparison of three widely-used pulmonary administration methods *in vivo* with radiolabeled inhalable nanoparticles, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 152 (2020) 108–115, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2020.05.004.
- [213] Antoine Kichler, Christian Leborgne, Emmanuel Coeytaux, Olivier Danos, Polyethylenimine-mediated gene delivery: A mechanistic study, J. Gene Med. 3 (2) (2001) 135–144, https://doi.org/10.1002/(ISSN)1521-225410.1002/ 1521-2254(2000)9999:9999<>1.0.CO;2-010.1002/jgm.173.
- [214] Michael A. Gosselin, Wenjin Guo, Robert J. Lee, Efficient gene transfer using reversibly cross-linked low molecular weight polyethylenimine, Bioconjug. Chem. 12 (6) (2001) 989–994, https://doi.org/10.1021/bc0100455.
- [215] P. Vicennati, A. Giuliano, G. Ortaggi, A. Masotti, Polyethylenimine In Medicinal Chemistry, Curr. Med. Chem. 15 (2008) 2826–2839.
- [216] Albert Kwok, Stephen L. Hart, Comparative structural and functional studies of nanoparticle formulations for DNA and siRNA delivery, Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med. 7 (2) (2011) 210–219, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.nano.2010.07.005.
- [217] Miriam Breunig, Uta Lungwitz, Renate Liebl, Claudia Fontanari, Juergen Klar, Armin Kurtz, Torsten Blunk, Achim Goepferich, Gene delivery with low molecular weight linear polyethylenimines, J. Gene Med. 7 (10) (2005) 1287– 1298, https://doi.org/10.1002/(ISSN)1521-225410.1002/jgm.v7:1010.1002/ jgm.775.
- [218] Akin Akinc, Mini Thomas, Alexander M. Klibanov, Robert Langer, Exploring polyethylenimine-mediated DNA transfection and the proton sponge hypothesis, J. Gene Med. 7 (5) (2005) 657–663, https://doi.org/10.1002/ (ISSN)1521-225410.1002/jgm.v7:510.1002/jgm.696.
- [219] Ivana d'Angelo, Gabriella Costabile, Estelle Durantie, Paola Brocca, Valeria Rondelli, Annapina Russo, Giulia Russo, Agnese Miro, Fabiana Quaglia, Alke

Petri-Fink, Barbara Rothen-Rutishauser, Francesca Ungaro, Hybrid lipid/ polymer nanoparticles for pulmonary delivery of siRNA: Development and fate upon *in vitro* deposition on the human epithelial airway barrier, J. Aerosol Med. Pulm. Drug Deliv. 31 (3) (2018) 170–181, https://doi.org/ 10.1089/jamp.2017.1364.

- [220] Jens Lipka, Manuela Semmler-Behnke, Alexander Wenk, Jana Burkhardt, Achim Aigner, Wolfgang Kreyling, Biokinetic studies of non-complexed siRNA versus nano-sized PEI F25-LMW/siRNA polyplexes following intratracheal instillation into mice, Int. J. Pharm. 500 (1-2) (2016) 227–235, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.01.038.
- [221] Kenneth A. Howard, Ulrik L. Rahbek, Xiudong Liu, Christian K. Damgaard, Sys Zoffmann Glud, Morten Ø. Andersen, Mads B. Hovgaard, Alexander Schmitz, Jens R. Nyengaard, Flemming Besenbacher, Jørgen Kjems, RNA Interference *in vitro* and *in vivo* Using a Novel Chitosan/siRNA Nanoparticle System, Mol. Ther. 14 (4) (2006) 476–484, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2006.04.010.
- [222] Olivia M. Merkel, Andrea Beyerle, Damiano Librizzi, Andreas Pfestroff, Thomas M. Behr, Brian Sproat, Peter J. Barth, Thomas Kissel, Nonviral siRNA delivery to the lung: Investigation of PEG-PEI polyplexes and their *in vivo* performance, Mol. Pharm. 6 (4) (2009) 1246–1260, https://doi.org/10.1021/ mp900107v.
- [223] Michael Karimov, Marion Schulz, Tim Kahl, Sandra Noske, Malgorzata Kubczak, Ines Gockel, René Thieme, Thomas Büch, Anja Reinert, Maksim Ionov, Maria Bryszewska, Heike Franke, Ute Krügel, Alexander Ewe, Achim Aigner, Tyrosine-modified linear PEIs for highly efficacious and biocompatible siRNA delivery *in vitro* and *in vivo*, Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biol. Med. 36 (2021) 102403, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2021.102403.
- [224] Andrea Beyerle, Sabrina Höbel, Frank Czubayko, Holger Schulz, Thomas Kissel, Achim Aigner, Tobias Stoeger, In vitro cytotoxic and immunomodulatory profiling of low molecular weight polyethylenimines for pulmonary application, Toxicol. Vitr. 23 (3) (2009) 500–508, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tiv.2009.01.001.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

International Journal of Pharmaceutics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ijpharm



Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: Biophysical characterization and toxicity



Małgorzata Kubczak^{a,*}, Sylwia Michlewska^{a,b}, Michael Karimov^c, Alexander Ewe^c, Sandra Noske^c, Achim Aigner^c, Maria Bryszewska^a, Maksim Ionov^a

^a Department of General Biophysics, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland

^b Laboratory of Microscopic Imaging and Specialized Biological Techniques, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland

^c Rudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Leipzig University, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Polyethyleneimines Tyrosine modification siRNA delivery Electrokinetic potential Membrane fluidity Cytotoxicity Genotoxicity

ABSTRACT

Polyethylenimines (PEIs) are being explored as efficient non-viral nanocarriers for nucleic acid delivery *in vitro* and *in vivo*. To address limitations regarding PEI efficacy and biocompatibility, modifications of the chemical structure of linear and branched PEIs have been introduced, including grafting with tyrosine. The aim has been to compare linear and branched polyethylenimines of a wider range of different molecular mass with their tyrosine-modified derivatives. To do so, physico-chemical and biological properties of the polymers were investigated.

Even in the absence of a negatively charged nucleic acid counterpart, PEIs form particle structures with defined size and surface potential. Tyrosine modification of PEI led to significantly reduced toxicity, while simultaneously increasing interaction with cellular membranes. All the effects were also dependent on the PEI molecular weight and structure (i.e., linear vs. branched). Especially in the case of linear PEIs, the improved membrane interaction also translated into slightly enhanced hemolysis, whereas their genotoxic potential was essentially abolished. Due to the improvement of properties critical for nano-vector efficacy and biocompatibility, our data demonstrate that tyrosine-modified PEIs are very promising and safe nanocarriers for the delivery of small RNAs, like siRNAs and miRNAs.

1. Introduction

Gene and oligonucleotide therapies are among the most promising new strategies for the treatment of numerous diseases, including as cancer, neurodegenerative disorders, genetic diseases and viral infections (Falkenhagen and Joshi, 2018; Fleifel et al., 2018).

They are based on the delivery of nucleic acids to target cells, which, however, is still a challenge due to the size and negative charge of nucleic acids. Modern strategies focus on improving the delivery of different types of nucleic acids, such as DNA, mRNA, siRNA and miRNA into cells (Höbel and Aigner, 2013; Ibraheem et al., 2014; Scherman et al., 2017). Currently, viruses seem to be the most efficient gene carriers due to their unique properties. However, there are safety concerns and other major limitations regarding viral vectors. Therefore, non-viral gene delivery systems based on lipids, amino acids or polymers are considered as alternatives for nucleic acid delivery. Ideal gene carriers should mimic the viral infection process, condense genetic material and protect it from degradation. They should internalize into cells, while

being non-toxic and non-immunogenic (Pandey and Sawant, 2016). Cationic polymers seem to be among the most promising synthetic gene carriers. The positive charge of polymers not only facilitates their interaction with nucleic acids, but also allows for efficient uptake of the respective polymeric nanoparticles by cells (Wong et al., 2007).

Polyethylenimines (PEI) are synthetic branched or linear polymers widely investigated as vehicles for non-viral gene delivery (Lungu et al., 2016; Pandey and Sawant, 2016). The synthesis of branched PEIs relies on acid catalyzed ring-opening polymerization of aziridine monomers, whereas linear PEIs are synthesized by cationic ring-opening polymerization of 2-oxazolines (Ogris and Wagner, 2012; Wiseman et al., 2003). There is a wide range of PEIs applications in science and medicine; they are used as a drug, as an anti-coagulant agent which prevents fibrin formation and in photodynamic therapy for treating localized infections and cancers. Interestingly, polyethylenimines are also employed as non-invasive optical imaging devices (Vicennati et al., 2008). They are being extensively studied as non-viral vectors for genetic material and drug delivery (Kircheis et al., 2001; Kunath et al., 2003).

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address*: malgorzata.kubczak@biol.uni.lodz.pl (M. Kubczak).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2022.121468

Received 23 September 2021; Received in revised form 20 December 2021; Accepted 9 January 2022 Available online 11 January 2022 0378-5173/© 2022 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

The structure and molecular weight of PEIs determine their biological activity for nucleic acid delivery. Their buffering capacity depends on the amount and type of amino groups. Linear PEIs have secondary as well as primary amino groups at the end of the chain, whereas branched PEIs have primary, secondary and tertiary amino groups in a 1:2:1 proportion, which enhances their complexation capacity. Several PEIs with a wide range of different molecular weights have been investigated. The findings suggest that PEIs between 600 and 1800 Da do not have significant efficiency in gene delivery. In contrast, PEIs with molecular weights of 25 kDa or higher make good carrier candidates for gene delivery, with 25 kDa PEI having better transfection activity than 50 kDa PEI (Godbey et al., 1998; Kircheis et al., 2001). The mechanism of PEI/ nucleic acid transfection has been intensively studied. PEI-based complexes enter cells through syndecan receptors. Complexes bind to heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) on syndecan, prior to syndecan clustering into rafts and mediating PKC-dependent phosphorylation and actin binding through mediator proteins. As a result, actin-mediated phagocytosis occurs. Since PEI is only partially protonated under physiological conditions, it can act as a proton acceptor in the acidic environment of lysosomes, thus buffering the low pH and protecting the genetic material from degradation. The concomitant influx of chloride ions and water may eventually lead to endosome/lysosome disruption, with subsequent release of the complexes into the cytoplasm (the proton sponge effect) (Kopatz et al., 2004).

Despite being very promising as non-viral vectors, the use of PEIs is associated with several issues, including cytotoxicity, which increases with higher molecular weight. However, certain modifications can enhance their biocompatibility and can additionally improve transfection efficacy. PEIs grafted with carbohydrates (chitosan, dextran, pullulan), amino acids (leucine, histidine, arginine, tyrosine) or fatty acids have been reported as more efficient and safer than their unmodified counterparts (see e.g. (Aldawsari et al., 2011; Ewe et al., 2016)). Likewise, biodegradable PEIs have a lower cytotoxicity and a higher transfection efficiency (Jere et al., 2009) Commercially available polymers can be modified or grafted with cross linking agents like 1,3butanediol (Forrest et al., 2003), disuccinidyl suberate, ethylene glycol bis[succinidyl succinate] (Thomas et al., 2005) or oligo (L-lactic-cosuccinic acid) (Petersen et al., 2002).

We recently described tyrosine-modified linear or branched PEIs as particular efficient for small RNA transfection *in vitro* and therapeutic delivery *in vivo* (Ewe et al., 2016, 2019; Karimov et al., 2021; Noske et al., 2020). Initial data also indicated favorable biocompatibility of the complexes comprising these tyrosine-grafted PEI derivatives and small RNAs. Despite the high stability of these complexes, their decomposition, with subsequent release of the free polymer, must be taken into consideration, thus requiring independent evaluation of the free modified or unmodified PEIs. We have compared important physicochemical/biophysical and biological properties of linear and branched polyethylenimines with their tyrosine-modified counterparts.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Polyethylenimines (PEIs) and tyrosine-modified derivatives

Linear polyethylenimines 2.5 and 25 kDa (Polysciences, Eppelheim, Germany) purchased as hydrochloride salts were neutralized using a 1 M sodium hydroxide solution and lyophilized to obtain the non-ionic form. 5 kDa and 10 kDa linear PEIs, as also 2 kDa and 25 kDa branched PEI, were from Sigma-Aldrich (Taufkirchen, Germany). 10 kDa branched PEI was from Polysciences (Eppelheim, Germany) and 5 kDa branched PEI was a kind gift from BASF (Ludwigshafen, Germany). Tyrosine modified derivatives were synthetized as before (Ewe et al., 2016, 2019; Karimov et al., 2021). All polymers we tested are listed in Suppl. Table 1.

2.2. Measurement of zeta potentials and hydrodynamic diameters

For measuring the hydrodynamic diameter and the zeta potential of particles from unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines, a Photon Correlation spectrometer Zetasizer Nano ZS (Malvern Instruments, Malvern, UK) was used. Zeta potential measurements were made in 0.9% NaCl solution at 25 °C and the values were calculated from the Helmholtz-Smoluchowski equation. Data from 18 to 25 measurements were collected and averaged for each sample. For the determination of hydrodynamic diameters, the wavelength was set at 633 nm, the detection angle 90° and the refraction factor 1.54. Measurements were made in 75 mmol/L NaCl solution at 25 °C, with 7 measurements in 5 cycles for each sample. The data were analyzed using Malvern software.

2.3. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

The morphology of the polymers was analyzed by TEM. 20 μ l of a 5 mg/ml PEI solution were placed on a 200-mesh carbon-coated copper grids, prior to drying and staining with saturated uranyl acetate for 20 min. The samples were washed in distilled water and dried at room temperature. A JEM 1010 transmission electron microscope (JEOL, Japan) was used to take the images.

2.4. Hemolysis assay

Erythrocytes from healthy mice were isolated by several washings (0.5% sodium citrate in Ringers solution; m/V)) and centrifugation (5 min, 5000 rpm) steps. The erythrocytes were used immediately after isolation. PEIs and their tyrosine-modified derivatives were added to erythrocyte samples at 5–25 µg/ml and incubated for 3 h at 37 °C. After incubation, samples were centrifuged (5 min, 1000 rpm) and the supernatant transferred into a 96-well plate (100 µl/well, in triplicates). Absorbance measurements were performed in an ELISA plate-reader at 550 nm (reference $\lambda = 620$ nm), with pure PBS as the negative control, while a lysate prepared by adding 2% Triton X-100 was used for the determination of maximum hemoglobin release (positive control = 100% value).

The hemolysis percentage was calculated by the formula:

 $H_{(\%)} = (A_{pb}540_{nm}/A_{Pos.CTRL}540_{nm}) \times 100\%$

where $H_{(\%)}$ is the percentage of hemolysis, A_{pb} 540 $_{nm}$ is the absorbance of samples and $A_{Pos,CTRL}$ 540 nm is the absorbance of erythrocytes incubated with 2% Triton X-100 (100% hemolysis).

2.5. Evaluation of changes in membrane fluidity

The interaction of modified and unmodified PEIs with membranes were determined by measuring alterations in the membrane fluidity of artificial lipid membranes. For this, DMPC:DPPG (9:1) liposomes were prepared by an extrusion technique using an Avanti Polar Lipids miniextruder. Lipid mixtures dissolved in chloroform were evaporated under vacuum, and the thin lipid film was watered with PBS (pH 7.4, 10 mmol/L), prior to heating the lipid suspension to 45 °C and passing it > 21 times through a polycarbonate membrane (pore diameter 100 nm) installed in the extruder. After extrusion, the liposome suspension (5 mg/ml lipids) was stored at 4 °C and used for experiments within 1 week after preparation at a final lipid concentration of 25 μ g/ml.

The fluorescence anisotropy technique was applied using 2 fluorescent probes, DPH (1,6-diphenyl-1,3,5-hexatriene and TMA-DPH (1-(4-(trimethyloamino)phenyl)-6-phenylhexatriene), at 1 μ mol/L. Fluorescence anisotropy intensities were measured in the presence of increasing polymer concentrations using LS-50B (Perkin Elmer, UK) spectrofluorimeter. Excitation and emission wavelengths were 348 nm and 426 nm for DPH and 358 nm and 428 nm for TMA-DPH, respectively. Slit widths

were 2.5 nm for the excitation monochromator and 4 nm for the emission monochromator. The fluorescence anisotropy was measured at 37 $^{\circ}$ C and calculated using the Perkin Elmer software from Jablonski's equation:

$$A = (I_{VV} - GI_{VH})/(I_{VV} + GI_{VH})$$

where A is fluorescence anisotropy, $I_{\rm VV}$ and $I_{\rm VH}$ are vertical and horizontal fluorescence intensities, respectively, to its vertical polarization of the excitation light beam, and G is the grating correction factor $I_{\rm VH}/$ $I_{\rm VV}$, correcting the polarization effects of the monochromators.

2.6. MTT assay

To evaluate polymer cytotoxicity MCF7 and H441 cell lines were used. MCF 7cells were maintained in DMEM medium, H441 were kept in RPMI 1640 (Gibco, Dublin, Ireland) supplemented with heat-inactivated 10% FBS (Sigma Aldrich) and 1% antibiotics (penicillin/streptomycin). Cells were kept at 37 $^{\circ}$ C in air plus 5% CO₂.

MCF 7 cells were seeded at 1×10^4 cells per well in 96-well plates and cultivated as described above. The next day, PEIs or their tyrosinemodified derivatives were added to the medium at concentrations ranging from 1 to 25 µg/ml. H441 cells were prepared as described in Section 2. After 24 h incubation, the medium was aspirated and the cells washed with 100 µl PBS, prior to adding 100 µl MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide; Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK), dissolved in PBS at 0.5 mg/ml to each well and incubating for 4 h. Then, MTT was removed and 100 µl DMSO was added to dissolve the insoluble formazan crystals. The absorbance was measured in a BioTek plate reader, with the wave-length set at 580 nm and the reference wave-length at 720 nm. Cell viabilities were calculated from the formula:

Viability(%) = $A/A_s \times 100\%$

with A = absorbance of control and A_s = absorbance of the sample. Results are given as mean +/- standard deviation (SD) from at least 3 independent experiments.

2.7. Comet assay

The alkaline version of the comet assay was used to estimate the DNA damage in cells treated with modified or unmodified PEIs. The cells were seeded on 24-well plate, at 50,000 cells/well. After overnight incubation the cells were treated with polymers (polymers concentration were equal IC20 values, calculated from GraphPad Prism Software). DNA damage was checked after 24 h incubation. Subsequently, the positive control was prepared (MCF 7 cells were treated with 80 μ M H₂O₂, for 30 min at 37 °C). Cells were resuspended in 0.75% low melting-point agarose in PBS, pH 7.4, and spread at 5×10^4 cells per dish on microscope slides pre-coated with a layer of 1% normal melting-point agarose. The slides were treated with lysis buffer (2.5 mmol/L NaCl, 100 mmol/L EDTA, 1% Triton X-100 and 10 mmol/L Tris, pH 10) at 4 $^\circ C$ for 1 h, prior to placing them in the electrophoresis solution (300 mmol/L NaOH, 1 mmol/L EDTA) at 4 °C for 20 min. Electrophoresis was carried out at 0.73 V/cm, 300 mA for 30 min in electrophoresis solution. After electrophoresis, DNA was stained with DAPI (2 µg/ml) in the dark. 100 randomly selected cells were image-analyzed by microscopy (Nikon E200, Tokyo, Japan), attached to a COHU 4910 video camera (Cohu, San Diego, CA) and equipped with UV filter, and by using the image analysis system Lucia-Comet v. 7.3. The percentage of DNA in comet tails was measured.

2.8. Fluorescence polarization

Fluorescence polarization of FITC-labelled siRNA was measured with a PerkinElmer LS-50B spectrofluorometer (Perkin-Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA). 30 pmol of siRNA were complexed with PEI polymers in different mass ratios (form 1.25 to 5.0), in HN buffer, in room temperature. Excitation wavelength of 488 nm was with an excitation-slit width set at 2.5 nm, and emission wavelength 518 nm with an emission-slit set of 3.5 nm. Data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of a minimum of 3 independent experiments.

2.9. Gel electrophoresis

 $0.2 \ \mu$ g siRNA were complexed with PEI polymers in different mass ratios (from 1.25 to 5.0) in HN buffer for 40 min in room temperature. Complex formation was monitored by gel electrophoresis carried out on 3% agarose with GelRed dye in TAE buffer (Tris:acetate:EDTA) for 45 min in 90 V, 35 mA. Gels were visualized using ChemiDoc-it2 camera.

2.10. Preparation of the complexes and cell culture

PEI/siRNA complexes were prepared as previously described (Karimov et al., 2021). Briefly, 0.4 μ g (30 pmol) of siRNA were complexed with 1 μ g of non-modified or tyrosine-modified PEI in HN buffer prior to incubation for 40 min. For luciferase activity complexes were prepared in mass ratio 2.5 and four different concentrations of siRNA (siLuc3) were tested (7.5 pmol, 15 pmol, 22.5 pmol and 30 pmol). siLuc2 was used as a negative control.

H441 cell line were maintained in RPMI 1640 cell culture medium supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% antibiotics, in 37 $^{\circ}$ C, 5% CO₂.

2.11. LDH and JC-1 assays

LDH assay was performed using post-treatment cell medium. Cytotoxicity Detection Kit (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) was applied in this study according to the manufacturer's manual. Cells lysed with Triton X-100 were served as positive control. Post-treatment medium from untreated cells served as negative control. 50 µl sample medium was mixed with 50 µl reagent and incubated for 30 min in the dark. The readout was performed on 96-well plate at wavelengths 490/620 nm. Fresh medium was mixed with reagent and subtracted from all values for blank values correction. For mitochondrial membrane disruption JC-1 assay was performed. Cells were seeded at a density 7 000/well and left for an overnight incubation. At the next day cells were treated with PEI/siRNA complexes (siRNA concentration was 6 pmols on 96 well plate what corresponds to the treatment at 30 pmols on 24-well plate). The changes in mitochondrial membrane potential were monitored after 24 and 40 h. 5,5 ,6,6 -tetrachloro-1,1 ,3,3 - tetraethylbenz-imidazolcarbocyanine iodide (JC-1) was added at the final concentration 5 µM and the cells were incubated for 20 min in the dark. Fluorescence values were collected for JC-1 monomers (ex. 485/em. 538 nm) and for JC-1 dimers (ex. 530/em. 590 nm). The fluorescence factor for mitochondrial membrane potential was calculated as follows:

$$\Delta \Psi m = F_D / F_M$$

where Ψ m is a fluorescence factor proportional to the changes in mitochondrial membrane potential, F_D is a fluorescence values for JC-1 dimers and F_M is a fluorescence values for JC-1 monomers.

2.12. Measurement of luciferase activity

Luciferase activitiy were measured after 72 h incubation using the Beetle-Juice Kit (PJK, Kleinblittersdorf, Germany). The medium was removed and lysis buffer (Promega, Mannheim, Germany) was added, for 30 min at room temperature. In a test tube cell lysate was mixed with luciferin substrate and luminescence was immediately measured in a luminometer (Berthold, Bad Wildbad, Germany).

2.13. Statistical analysis

Results were obtained from a minimum of 3 independent experiments and are presented as mean \pm SD. Statistical analyses were performed using non-parametric ANOVA and the Kruskal-Wallis test. Significance levels were defined as * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01 and *** p < 0.001.

3. Results

3.1. Zeta potential and hydrodynamic diameter of particles

Micro-images obtained by TEM revealed that all analyzed polymers formed small aggregates in 10 mmol/L Na-phosphate buffer, pH 7.4 (Suppl. Fig. 1). PEIs were visible both as single nanoparticle-like small, clumped structures and as larger aggregated formulations with different sizes. Since the drying process for TEM preparation may affect the morphology of the polymers, we then took zetasizer measurements in aqueous solution.

Hydrodynamic diameter measurements of polymers revealed indeed measurable particle sizes (Table 1). When analyzing the linear polymers, these were lower in the case of the unmodified PEIs (from 31.1 \pm 11.8 to 73.2 \pm 25.9 nm) compared to their tyrosine-modified counterparts (from 68.8 \pm 16.4 to 112.6 \pm 34.2 nm). The opposite results were found for the branched polymers, where tyrosine-modified, branched PEIs exhibited lower diameter values than unmodified PEIs (from 96.5 \pm 6.9 to 157.3 ± 78.6 nm vs. 51.6 ± 14.6 to 129.1 ± 12.3 nm, respectively). The existence of particle structures also allowed determination of zeta potentials. The results show that all our polymeric structures were positively charged. Highest values were detected for branched PEIs modified with tyrosine (Table 1). The zeta potential of the unmodified PEIs ranged from 17.6 \pm 2.9 to 28.3 \pm 5.0 mV, and 6.5 \pm 2.39 mV to 27.1 \pm 6.05 mV for linear and branched polymers, respectively. The values of tyrosine modified PEIs ranged from 14.7 \pm 2.5 to 34.5 \pm 6.5 mV for linear, and 26.4 \pm 2.7 mV to 28.8 \pm 4.6 mV for branched polymers.

3.2. Polymer interaction with lipid membranes

3.2.1. Polymer effects on membrane fluidity

One critical parameter for biological activity/cellular uptake, and for possible cytotoxicity, is the interaction of polymeric materials with cell membranes. In the case of PEIs, this may well depend on their chemical structure and modification with a partially hydrophobic substituent, i.e., tyrosine. Thus, fluorescence anisotropy was measured to compare the interaction potential between the various PEI-based polymers and lipid membranes. Two fluorescent probes, TMA DPH and DPH, were used to assess alterations in membrane fluidity based on hydrophilic or hydrophobic interactions, respectively. In the case of linear PEIs, relatively weak and largely concentration-independent effects on lipid membranes were observed. Direct comparison between the different probes showed that these membrane effects were essentially dependent on hydrophilic interactions, as seen from a slight increase in fluorescence anisotropy with the TMA DPH probe (Fig. 1A). In contrast, branched unmodified PEIs had some hydrophobic interactions (DPH probe), which were concentration-dependent and slightly more profound with decreasing molecular weight of the PEI (Fig. 1B). Notably, the introduction of tyrosine modifications led to a substantial increase in membrane interactions. This was particularly true for the linear tyrosine-modified PEIs and its hydrophilic interactions with the lipid membranes, which were profoundly increased even at the lowest polymer concentrations. Hydrophobic interactions were also enhanced, but to a lower extent and dependent on the polymer concentration (Fig. 1C). In the case of branched PEIs, tyrosine modification did not lead to major differences in hydrophobic interactions compared to their unmodified counterparts, and a sharp increase in hydrophilic interactions was only seen with the 10 kDa polymer (Fig. 1D).

3.2.2. Hemolysis

In principle, the observed increase in membrane interaction with tyrosine-modification of several PEIs may also translate into adverse effects on erythrocytes or other cells, potentially limiting their use. Hemolysis is an easy and simple method to assess cell membrane damage after incubation with test compounds. In the case of tyrosine-modified very small linear PEIs, a moderate increase in hemolysis over their unmodified counterparts occurred. This effect, however, was not seen for 25 kDa PEI, where tyrosine-modification led to reduced hemolysis (Fig. 2A). Linear PEIs and their tyrosine-modified derivatives generally caused < 10% hemolysis, with the exception of LP5Y (Fig. 2B).

3.3. Polymer cytotoxicity

MCF7 cells were used to evaluate the toxicity of the whole set of unmodified and tyrosine-modified PEIs. Any decrease in viability was concentration-dependent. The tyrosine-modified PEIs were less cytotoxic than their unmodified counterparts. This was particularly true for the higher molecular weight PEIs (Fig. 3A, B). At 5 μ g/mL, the linear PEIs 5 kDa, 10 kDa and 25 kDa already showed a marked (40-70%) reduction of viability, which was not seen in the tyrosine-modified polymers. Major differences were also seen at higher concentrations. Only the very low molecular weight 2.5 kDa PEI had some cytotoxicity, which again, however, could be further reduced by its tyrosine modification, as seen at very high (25 µg/mL) concentration (Fig. 3A). Branched PEIs were overall slightly less toxic; however, their tyrosine modification once again markedly reduced or almost completely abolished cytotoxicity (Fig. 3B). This beneficial effect of tyrosine grafting was independent of the molecular weight of the PEI and seen at different concentrations; it was also found for the 2 kDa branched PEI, which showed the least cytotoxicity of the unmodified PEIs.

3.4. Polymer genotoxicity

Genotoxicity due to PEIs were analyzed in Comet assays for DNA fragmentation. Results obtained after 24 h incubation of MCF7 cells indicate some genotoxicity in the case of unmodified linear PEIs (Fig. 4A). This DNA damaging action was largely abolished with tyrosine

Table 1

Size (nm) and zeta potential [mV] of particle structures formed by the tyrosine modified or unmodified PEIs

	Linear polymers	Hydrodynamic diameter [nm]	Zeta potential [mV]	Branched polymers	Hydrodynamic diameter [nm]	Zeta potential [mV]
Unmodified	LP 2.5 kDa	$\textbf{48.9} \pm \textbf{14.0}$	17.6 ± 2.9	BR2 kDa	96.5 ± 6.9	6.5 ± 2.39
	LP 5 kDa	31.1 ± 11.8	20.1 ± 3.3	BR 5 kDa	141.7 ± 41.1	15.01 ± 3.39
	LP 10 kDa	73.2 ± 25.9	25.7 ± 2.8	BR 10 kDa	152.6 ± 35.9	27.1 ± 6.05
	LP 25 kDa	52.1 ± 19.8	28.3 ± 5.0	BR 25 kDa	157.3 ± 78.6	24.1 ± 5.84
Modified with tyrosine	LP 2.5 Y	46.5 ± 4.4	17.7 ± 2.5	P 2Y	51.6 ± 14.6	28.8 ± 4.6
	LP 5 Y	80.8 ± 24.7	14.7 ± 2.5	P 5 Y	65.7 ± 26.2	27.4 ± 11.4
	LP 10 Y	68.8 ± 16.4	34.5 ± 6.5	P 10 Y	55.4 ± 24.3	26.4 ± 2.7
	LP 25 Y	112.6 ± 34.2	29.9 ± 6.8	P 25 Y	129.1 ± 12.3	$\textbf{26.4} \pm \textbf{6.6}$



Fig. 1. Determination of the changes in fluorescence anisotropy of TMA DPH and DPH fluorescent probes incorporated into a liposomal DMPC:DPPG (9:1 w/w) lipid matrix in the presence of unmodified linear (A) or branched PEIs (B), or their tyrosine-modified linear (C) or branched counterparts (D).



Fig. 2. Percentage of hemolysis of mice erythrocytes treated with linear (A) and branched polymers (B), normalized to UT cells (negative control).

modification of linear PEIs, and branched PEIs showed essentially no genotoxicity, whether or not tyrosine-grafted (Fig. 4B).

3.5. PEI/siRNA complex formation

Tyrosine modified and non-modified polymers were complexed with siRNA in different mass ratios. Results presented on Fig. 5A-B show that non-modified polymers did not create complexes with siRNA in a range of mass ratios from 1.25 to 5.0. In turn all tyrosine-modified polymers completely saturated siRNA in mass ratio 2.5. Complex formation was confirmed also by fluorescence polarization assay (Fig. 5C). Obtained results indicate that tyrosine-modified polymers could bind siRNA at the mass ratio 2.5. Increasing amount of polymers was not altered complexes formation.

3.6. Cytotoxicity and efficacy of tyrosine-modified PEI:siRNA complexes

The toxicity of complexes was evaluated after 24-hour incubation

using LDH assay (Fig. 6). Basing on results of previous experiments, complexes were prepared in PEI/siRNA mass ratio 2.5:1, at the siRNA concentration 30 pmol. Formed complexes caused a low toxicity towards H441 cell line. The level of released LDH was comparable to untreated cells. In turn the decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential was observed when LP 5Y and LP 10Y were used after 24 and 48 h of incubation. The decrease in membrane potential was more profound after 48 h for all PEI complexes

Complexes activity and gene knockdown efficiency was evaluated after 72-hour incubation (Fig. 7). In order to observe dose-dependency the complexes were prepared with a different siRNA concentration (from 7.5 to 30 pmol). The ratio between polymers and siRNA remained the same (ratio 2.5). Complexes containing linear polymers more efficiently decreased luciferase activity than complexes with branched polymers. The most efficient in gene knockdown were complexes contained LP 5Y, LP 10Y, P 5Y and P 10Y polymers. They caused a 50 % and over decrease in luciferase activity even in the lowest concentration. LP 10 kDa polymer was tested as well. Some gene knockdown was observed



Fig. 3. Cytotoxicity profiles of linear (A) and branched (B) PEIs in MCF7 cells after 24 h incubation. Values are the mean \pm standard deviation of 3 independent experiments, with * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01 and *** p < 0.001 indicating statistically significant differences in comparison to control values.



Fig. 4. Genotoxicity profiles of linear (A) and branched PEIs (B) in MCF7 cells. Values are the mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments, with * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01 and *** p < 0.001 indicating statistically significant differences in comparison to control values. n.s – not statistically significant.



Fig. 5. Biophysical characterization of complex formation by tyrosine modified and non-modified PEI polymers and siRNA. (A) – Gel electrophoresis images representing complex formation between linear PEIs and siRNA in a range of mass ratios from 1.25 to 5.0. (B) – Gel electrophoresis images representing complex formation between branched PEIs and siRNA in a range of mass ratios from 1.25 to 5.0. (C) – fluorescence polarization of FITC-labelled siRNA complexed with tyrosine modified PEIs, R/R_0 – fluorescence polarization ratio of non-complexed siRNA to complexed siRNA.



Fig. 6. (A) - H441 cell damage after 24-hour treatment with PEI/siRNA complexes. siRNA concentration 30 pmols, mass ratio 2.5. Positive control was consisted the cells treated with 10% Triton X 100. (B) – changes in mitochondrial membrane potential after 24/48 h treatment with PEI/siRNA complexes. Results presented as mean +/- SD, n = 3, * - p < 0,005. N.s. – non-significant.

but low level of unspecific siRNA indicates that the complex toxicity was high.

4. Discussion

Cationic polymers as non-viral nanocarrier systems are being intensely researched (Liu et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2016). Chemical modifications of polymers can improve their properties by enhancing biological efficacy and biocompatibility (Ewe et al., 2016; Hashemi et al., 2016). We have compared 16 linear or branched PEIs over a wider y molecular weight range and their corresponding tyrosine-modified derivatives. Tyrosine is crucial for maintaining protein structures and constituting the cores of globular proteins (Creusat and Zuber, 2008). It is considered as one of the best amino acids for coupling to nanovectors and improving their activity (Mehta et al., 2014; Ewe et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016). Tyrosine coupling to the polymers did not impair their potent nucleic acid binding affinity based on electrostatic interactions, since amino groups in the polymer structure essential for complexation are replaced by amino groups from the tyrosine (Creusat and Zuber, 2008; Creusat et al., 2010). Indeed, tyrosine modification of PEIs can further enhance complex stabilities, putatively due to the occurrence of hydrophobic interactions. In line with this notion, we found that tyrosine-modified PEIs interacted with lipid membranes more strongly than their unmodified counterparts (see below). Thus, the combination of (i) introducing additional hydrophobic components, which are often associated with increased potential to interact with and cross cellular membranes, while (ii) retaining a positive charge for the interaction with negatively charged cellular membrane components (Pozzi et al., 2014; Schöttler et al., 2016; Francia et al., 2019) may contribute to the overall high efficacy of tyrosine-modified PEIs as seen previously (Ewe et al., 2019, 2016; Noske et al., 2020; Karimov et al., 2021). In line with this, we found that some tyrosine-modified linear PEIs had a stronger hemolytic potential than unmodified PEIs. Interestingly, however, this was dependent on the molecular weight of the linear PEI and, with the exception of the 5 kDa polymer, was not seen in the case of branched PEIs. Overall, our present and previous data indicate that nanoparticles modified with hydrophobic amino acids, especially when containing an aromatic ring, had increased interactions with phospholipids, thus facilitating cellular uptake (Creusat and Zuber, 2008; Liu et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2016, 2014). The polymer structure also seems to be

relevant in this context.

Our fluorescence anisotropy results confirmed that the polymers, in particular the tyrosine-modified PEIs, interact with the lipid bilayer. We used 2 fluorescent probes to monitor changes in membrane fluidity. DPH is a non-polar molecule that may be localized in different parts of the hydrophobic tail region of the lipid bilayer. DPH anisotropy values correlate well with rotational diffusion movement and are sensitive to changes in packing order in lipid chains and membrane fluidity. TMA DPH is a cationic derivative of DPH that binds to hydrophilic regions of the membrane. It is useful to monitor the membrane properties at the fourth carbon atom in the transient part between hydrophobic and hydrophilic regions of the lipid bilayer (Pottel et al., 1983; Kwok and Hart, 2011; Ulrih et al., 2015). Our tyrosine-modified PEIs penetrate better into the membranes, as indicated by higher anisotropy values, while the unmodified polymers only slightly interacted with the lipid bilayer. Tyrosine-modified linear PEIs interacted very well with hydrophilic region of phospholipids, while some hydrophobic interactions also occurred, with especially LP 10Y also reaching the lipid chains in the hydrophobic part. Tyrosine-modified branched PEIs generally interacted less efficiently with the membranes than their linear counterparts, with the exception of P10Y, which strongly interacted with hydrophilic parts of the membrane. Regarding the comparison between tyrosinemodified linear and branched PEIs, and the overall effect of tyrosine modification, these results mostly correlate well with our hemolysis data.

DMPC:DPPG liposomes served as membrane model in this study. Addition of DPPG gave a negative charge to the membranes, to mimic the physiological conditions. However, it is well known that not only phospholipids, but many components from cellular membranes may also interact with nanoparticles. One example of proteins with anionic charge density due to sulfate modifications are glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), which are present on most cells and might compete with nucleic acids for binding to cationic nanocarriers, thus potentially disrupting cellular uptake of complexes (Kwok and Hart, 2011; Miller et al., 2014; Nademi et al., 2020).

Cationic polymers are considered to be toxic for cells, thus limiting their use in medicine (Fischer et al., 2003). As described above, however, tyrosine modification seems to offer an optimal hydrophobic/hydrophilic balance, translating into beneficial properties for gene delivery combined with reduced toxicity (Creusat et al., 2010). Indeed, we found















Fig. 7. Knockdown efficacy of luciferase reporter gene in stably Luc-expressing H441 cells after 72 h incubation with complexes containing siLuc 3 (specific siRNA) and siLuc 2 (unspecific siRNA).

that PEIs modified with tyrosine were considerably less toxic than unmodified PEIs. The underlying mechanisms of PEI cytotoxicity are not fully understood. Polycations do not cause apoptotic events, but are more disruptive to cell membranes (Monnery et al., 2017). These authors investigated poly-L-lysine polymers (PLL), and branched and linear PEI, and concluded that these compounds damaged membrane damages and released LDH. In the same study, mitochondrial activity was measured, the results suggesting that polycations may affect cellular metabolism in a time- and dose-dependent manner. Likewise, toxic effects of PEIs reported by Hall et al. included a decrease the mitochondrial potential and cytochrome c release (Hall et al., 2013).

Beyond cytotoxic effects of polyethylenimines, genotoxicity of PEI is still a controversial issue. While some reports describe genotoxic effects of PEIs (Choi et al., 2010; Calarco et al., 2013; Gholami et al., 2014), another group suggested that PEIs do not induce DNA damage (Beyerle et al., 2011). We found some DNA damaging potential in the case of linear unmodified PEIs, which, despite enhanced membrane interaction and uptake, was largely abolished by tyrosine modification. Branched PEIs were essentially non-genotoxic, independent of any tyrosine modification. Again, this indicates the dependence of desired or unwanted cellular effects on the PEI structure. The alkaline version of the comet assay helps detect double-strand DNA breaks. Calarco et al. (2013) improved the method with enzymes that recognize DNA damage caused by oxidative stress. They found genotoxic effects of PEIs were based on oxidative damage of purines and pyrimidines. In line with our results, they also showed that PEI modifications, in this case with acetic groups, reduced genotoxicity. However, it must always be kept in mind that PEI cyto- and geno-toxicity increase with molecular mass (Liu et al., 2010; Gholami et al., 2014; Monnery et al., 2017). For this reason, it is particularly advantageous that the tyrosine modification permits the use of very low molecular weight PEIs, even for delivering small RNA molecules (Ewe et al., 2019, 2016; Noske et al., 2020; Karimov et al., 2021).

The next step of our work was to evaluate the siRNA:polymer interaction, cytotoxicity of formed complexes and activity in vitro. Fluorescence polarization and gel electrophoresis studies were performed to choose the optimal ratio, when all siRNA is complexed by polymers. Results of gel electrophoresis have shown that non-modified polymers did not complex siRNA in a range of mass ratios form 1.25 to 5.0. Tyrosine-modified polymers effectively complexed siRNA in siRNA:polymer mass ratio 1:1.25. In comparison, PEI modified with poly-L-lysine complexed siRNA in mass ratio 5:1 (Chen et al., 2015). In turn, optimal ratio for arginine-modified PEI:siRNA was 4:1 (Lu et al., 2019). Tyrosine modification enhance siRNA complexation in lower mass ratio what allows to use smaller amounts of polymers and reduce toxic effect of nano vectors. Fluorescence polarization studies confirmed the results from gel electrophoresis. Increased polarization values are reflected as interaction between nanocarriers and nucleic acids (Sanz del Olmo et al., 2020). Complexation of siRNA with polymers +or dendrimers results in decreased movement of siRNA in the suspension and to the increase of fluorescence polarization of FITC-labelled siRNA (Ferenc et al., 2013; Gorzkiewicz et al., 2020).

It is known that PEIs may induce two-stage toxicity. The early stage affects cellular membrane, second stage relies on mitochondria disruption (Hall et al., 2013; Moghimi et al., 2005; Monnery et al., 2017). LDH measurements allow to evaluate acute cell damage on early stage of treatment. Disrupted mitochondria can be analyzed using JC-1 assay. This cationic fluorescent dye can be found in living cells, exclusively in mitochondria. Non-affected cells convert JC-1 into J-aggregates with a fluorescent signal near 590 nm. In disrupted organelles the fluorescence of JC-1 monomers can be observed near 529 nm (Elefantova et al., 2018). The balance between dimers and monomers allows to estimate the changes in mitochondria membrane potential (Michlewska et al., 2019). Tyrosine-modified polymers were generally less toxic than nonmodified polymers. Complexes of tyrosine-modified PEIs and siRNA did not caused any significant damage of the cell membrane what was confirmed by LDH assay. In turn, mitochondrial membrane potential was affected by LP 5Y/siRNA after 24 and 48 h and LP 10Y/siRNA complexes after 48 h. Some toxic effect can be also seen when analyzing luciferase knockdown efficacy. LP5Y/siRNA complexes caused the decrease in cell viability even when non-specific siLuc2 was added to the cells. In this case decreased values can be explained by cell death (Karimov et al., 2021). Tyrosine-modified polymers efficiently transported siRNA to the cells even in the low concentrations. Tyrosine enhance polymers interaction with nucleic acid (Dougherty, 1996; Huang et al., 2015; Plyte and Kneale, 1991). Non-modified low molecular PEIs are inactive for siRNA delivery, but tyrosine modification allows to use them as siRNA nanocarriers. Tyrosine-modified PEIs are highly efficient siRNA nano vectors even in low concentrations what is beneficial when considering cytotoxicity. Linear PEIs are considered as a

better alternative for nucleic acid delivery due to higher biocompatibility and appropriate chemical composition giving promising biological effects. The availability of linear, non-modified PEIs to interact with siRNA was limited. Tyrosine modification changes their properties and makes them an attractive nano system for siRNA delivery (Ewe et al., 2016; Karimov et al., 2021).

5. Conclusion

The biophysical and biological properties of linear and branched PEIs of different molecular masses in direct comparison with their tyrosine-modified derivatives alone and in the complexes with siRNA have been evaluated in this study. Our data on the free polymers help to explain previous findings on nanoparticles comprising tyrosinemodified PEIs and small RNAs, in regard to their enhanced efficacy of RNA delivery and improved biocompatibility. This relates to the markedly improved membrane interaction of the tyrosine-modified polymers, as well as to the largely reduction or abolition of cytotoxic and genotoxic effects after tyrosine grafting. While in a potential therapeutic setting, the polymers would better be used as nanoscale complexes, i.e., in a combined formulation with nucleic acids, it must be kept in mind that extra- or intra-cellular nanoparticle decomposition may lead to the release of the free polymer. Thus, our study on the biophysical and biological properties of the free polymers provides a contribution to the notion that tyrosine-modified PEIs are particularly promising delivery platforms especially for small nucleic acids like siRNA. The results confirmed that tyrosine modification significantly improves siRNA complexation, with a high efficiency and reduced cytotoxicity.

Funding sources

This work was supported by the grant from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG; AI 24/21-1; AI 24/24-1) and Nacional Science Centre of Poland "BEETHOVEN LIFE 1" program, project no: 2018/ 31/F/NZ5/03454. The authors are also grateful for funding by grants from the project "EUROPARTNER" of the Polish National Agency for Academic Exchange (NAWA).

Ethical conduct of research

The authors state that they have obtained appropriate institutional review board approval or have followed the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki for all human or animal experimental investigations. Ethics Committee of the University of Lodz, Poland (NR19/ KBBN-UŁ/III/2019).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Małgorzata Kubczak: Methodology, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. Sylwia Michlewska: Methodology, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. Michael Karimov: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. Alexander Ewe: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. Sandra Noske: Investigation. Achim Aigner: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. Maria Bryszewska: Writing – review & editing. Maksim Ionov: Conceptualization, Validation, Visualization.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

International Journal of Pharmaceutics 614 (2022) 121468

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2022.121468.

References

- Aldawsari, H., Raj, B.S., Edrada-ebel, R., Blatchford, D.R., Biol, C., Tate, R.J., Tetley, L., Dufès, C., 2011. Enhanced gene expression in tumors after intravenous administration of arginine-, lysine- and leucine-bearing polyethylenimine polyplex. Nanomedicine Nanotechnology. Biol. Med. 7, 615–623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nano.2011.01.016.
- Beyerle, A., Long, A.S., White, P.A., Kissel, T., Stoeger, T., 2011. Poly(ethylene imine) nanocarriers do not induce mutations nor oxidative DNA damage in vitro in mutamouse FE1 cells. Mol. Pharm. 8 (3), 976–981. https://doi.org/10.1021/ mp1004492.
- Calarco, A., Bosetti, M., Margarucci, S., Fusaro, L., Nicolì, E., Petillo, O., Cannas, M., Galderisi, U., Peluso, G., 2013. The genotoxicity of PEI-based nanoparticles is reduced by acetylation of polyethylenimine amines in human primary cells. Toxicol. Lett. 218 (1), 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2012.12.019.
- Chen, J., Jiao, Z.-X., Lin, L., Guo, Z.-P., Xu, C.-n., Li, Y.-H., Tian, H.-Y., Chen, X.-s., 2015. Polylysine-modified polyethylenimines as siRNA carriers for effective tumor treatment. Chinese J. Polym. Sci. (English Ed. 33 (6), 830–837. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10118-015-1632-0.
- Choi, Y.J., Kang, S.J., Kim, Y.J., Lim, Y.-B., Chung, H.W., 2010. Comparative studies on the genotoxicity and cytotoxicity of polymeric gene carriers polyethylenimine (PEI) and polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimer in Jurkat T-cells. Drug Chem. Toxicol. 33 (4), 357–366. https://doi.org/10.3109/01480540903493507.
- Creusat, G., Rinaldi, A.-S., Weiss, E., Elbaghdadi, R., Remy, J.-S., Mulherkar, R., Zuber, G., 2010. Proton sponge trick for ph-sensitive disassembly of polyethylenimine-based sirna delivery systems. Bioconjug. Chem. 21 (5), 994–1002. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc100010k.
- Creusat, G., Zuber, G., 2008. Self-assembling polyethylenimine derivatives mediate efficient siRNA delivery in mammalian cells. ChemBioChem 9 (17), 2787–2789. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.200800540.
- Dougherty, D.A., 1996. Cation-π interactions in chemistry and biology: A new view of benzene, Phe, Tyr, and Trp. Science (80-). 271 (5246), 163–168.
 Elefantova, K., Lakatos, B., Kubickova, J., Sulova, Z., Breier, A., 2018. Detection of the
- Elefantova, K., Lakatos, B., Kubickova, J., Sulova, Z., Breier, A., 2018. Detection of the mitochondrial membrane potential by the cationic dye JC-1 in 11210 cells with massive overexpression of the plasma membrane ABCB1 drug transporter. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19071985.
- Ewe, A., Noske, S., Karimov, M., Aigner, A., 2019. Polymeric nanoparticles based on tyrosine-modified, low molecular weight polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery. Pharmaceutics 11, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics11110600.
- Ewe, A., Przybylski, S., Burkhardt, J., Janke, A., Appelhans, D., Aigner, A., 2016. A novel tyrosine-modified low molecular weight polyethylenimine (P10Y) for ef fi cient siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo. J. Control. Release 230, 13–25. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jcorrel.2016.03.034.
- Falkenhagen, A., Joshi, S., 2018. Genetic Strategies for HIV Treatment and Prevention. Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acid 13, 514–533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtn.2018.09.018.
- Ferenc, M., Pedziwiatr-Werbicka, E., Nowak, K.E., Klajnert, B., Majoral, J.P., Bryszewska, M., 2013. Phosphorus dendrimers as carriers of siRNA-characterisation of dendriplexes. Molecules 18, 4451–4466. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules18044451
- Fischer, D., Li, Y., Ahlemeyer, B., Krieglstein, J., Kissel, T., 2003. In vitro cytotoxicity testing of polycations: influence of polymer structure on cell viability andhemolysis. Biomaterials 24 (7), 1121–1131. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(02)00445-3.
- Fleifel, D., Rahmoon, A.M., Alokda, A., Nasr, M., Elserafy, M., El-khamisy, S.F., 2018. Recent advances in stem cells therapy : A focus on cancer, Parkinson 's and Alzheimer 's. J. Genet. Eng. Biotechnol. 16, 427–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jgeb.2018.09.002.
- Forrest, M.L., Koerber, J.T., Pack, D.W., 2003. A degradable polyethylenimine derivative with low toxicity for highly efficient gene delivery. Bioconjug. Chem. 14 (5), 934–940. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc034014g.
- Francia, V., Yang, K., Deville, S., Reker-Smit, C., Nelissen, I., Salvati, A., 2019. Corona Composition Can Affect the Mechanisms Cells Use to Internalize Nanoparticles. ACS Nano 13 (10), 11107–11121. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.9b03824.
- Gholami, L., Sadeghnia, H.R., Darroudi, M., Kazemi Oskuee, R., 2014. Evaluation of genotoxicity and cytotoxicity induced by different molecular weights of polyethylenimine/DNA nanoparticles. Turkish J. Biol. 38, 380–387. https://doi.org/ 10.3906/biy-1309-51.
- Godbey, W.T., Wu, K.K., Mikos, A.G., 1998. Size matters : Molecular weight affects the efficiency of poly (ethylenimine) as a gene delivery vehicle. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 45, 268–275.
- Gorzkiewicz, M., Kopeć, O., Janaszewska, A., Konopka, M., Pędziwiatr-Werbicka, E., Tarasenko, I.I., Bezrodnyi, V.V., Neelov, I.M., Klajnert-Maculewicz, B., 2020. Poly (Lysine) dendrimers form complexes with sirna and provide its effcient uptake by myeloid cells: Model studies for therapeutic nucleic acid delivery. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21093138.
- Hall, A., Larsen, A.K., Parhamifar, L., Meyle, K.D., Wu, L.-P., Moghimi, S.M., 2013. High resolution respirometry analysis of polyethylenimine-mediated mitochondrial energy crisis and cellular stress: Mitochondrial proton leak and inhibition of the electron transport system. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1827 (10), 1213–1225. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2013.07.001.

- Hashemi, M., Tabatabai, S.M., Parhiz, H., Milanizadeh, S., Amel Farzad, S., Abnous, K., Ramezani, M., 2016. Gene delivery efficiency and cytotoxicity of heterocyclic aminemodified PAMAM and PPI dendrimers. Mater. Sci. Eng. C 61, 791–800. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.01.023.
- Höbel, S., Aigner, A., 2013. Polyethylenimines for siRNA and miRNA delivery in vivo. WIRES Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 5, 484–501. https://doi.org/10.1002/ wnan.1228.
- Huang, J., Zhao, Y., Liu, H., Huang, D., Cheng, X., Zhao, W., Taylor, I.A., Liu, J., Peng, Y. L., 2015. Substitution of tryptophan 89 with tyrosine switches the DNA binding mode of PC4. Sci. Rep. 5, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep08789.
- Ibraheem, D., Elaissari, A., Fessi, H., 2014. Gene therapy and DNA delivery systems. Int. J. Pharm. 459 (1-2), 70–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.11.041.
- Jere, D., Jiang, H.L., Arote, R., Kim, Y.K., Choi, Y.J., Cho, M.H., Akaike, T., Cho, C.S., 2009. Degradable polyethylenimines as DNA and small interfering RNA carriers. Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 6 (8), 827–834.
- Karimov, M., Schulz, M., Kahl, T., Noske, S., Kubczak, M., Gockel, I., Thieme, R., Büch, T., Reinert, A., Ionov, M., Bryszewska, M., Franke, H., Krügel, U., Ewe, A., Aigner, A., 2021. Tyrosine-modified linear PEIs for highly efficacious and biocompatible siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo. Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biol. Med. 36, 102403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2021.102403.
- Kircheis, R., Wightman, L., Wagner, E., 2001. Design and gene delivery activity of modified polyethylenimines. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 53 (3), 341–358.
- Kopatz, I., Remy, J.-S., Behr, J.-P., 2004. A model for non-viral gene delivery: Through syndecan adhesion molecules and powered by actin. J. Gene Med. 6 (7), 769–776. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgm.558.
- Kunath, K., Harpe, A.V., Fischer, D., Petersen, H., Bickel, U., Voigt, K., Kissel, T., 2003. Low-molecular-weight polyethylenimine as a non-viral vector for DNA delivery : comparison of physicochemical properties, transfection efficiency and in vivo distribution with high-molecular-weight polyethylenimine. J. Control. Release 89, 113–125.
- Kwok, A., Hart, S.L., 2011. Comparative structural and functional studies of nanoparticle formulations for DNA and siRNA delivery. Nanomedicine Nanotechnology. Biol. Med. 7 (2), 210–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2010.07.005.
- Liu, Z., Zhang, Z., Zhou, C., Jiao, Y., 2010. Hydrophobic modifications of cationic polymers for gene delivery. Prog. Polym. Sci. 35 (9), 1144–1162. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2010.04.007.
- Lu, S., Morris, V.B., Labhasetwar, V., 2019. Effectiveness of small interfering RNA delivery via arginine-rich polyethylenimine-based polyplex in metastatic and doxorubicin-resistant breast cancer cells. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 370 (3), 902–910. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.119.256909.
- Lungu, C., Diudea, M., Putz, M., Grudziński, I., 2016. Linear and Branched PEIs (Polyethylenimines) and Their Property Space. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 17, 1–12. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms17040555.
- Mehta, R., Kumari, R., Das, P., Bhowmick, A.K., 2014. Synthesis and characterization of a biocompatible monotyrosine-based polymer and its interaction with DNA. J. Mater. Chem. B 2, 6236–6248. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4tb00854e.
- Michlewska, S., Ionov, M., Maroto-Díaz, M., Szwed, A., Ihnatsyeu-Kachan, A., Abashkin, V., Dzmitruk, V., Rogalska, A., Denel, M., Gapinska, M., Shcharbin, D., Gomez Ramirez, R., De La Mata, F.J., Bryszewska, M., 2019. Ruthenium dendrimers against acute promyelocytic leukemia: In vitro studies on HL-60 cells. Future Med. Chem. 11, 1741–1756. https://doi.org/10.4155/fmc-2018-0274.
- Miller, T., Goude, M.C., McDevitt, T.C., Temenoff, J.S., 2014. Molecular engineering of glycosaminoglycan chemistry for biomolecule delivery. Acta Biomater. 10, 1705–1719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2013.09.039.Molecular.
- Moghimi, S.M., Symonds, P., Murray, J.C., Hunter, A.C., Debska, G., Szewczyk, A., 2005. A two-stage poly(ethylenimine)-mediated cytotoxicity: Implications for gene transfer/therapy. Mol. Ther. 11 (6), 990–995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymthe.2005.02.010.
- Monnery, B.D., Wright, M., Cavill, R., Hoogenboom, R., Shaunak, S., Steinke, J.H.G., Thanou, M., 2017. Cytotoxicity of polycations: Relationship of molecular weight and the hydrolytic theory of the mechanism of toxicity. Int. J. Pharm. 521 (1-2), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.02.048.
- Nademi, Y., Tang, T., Uludağ, H., 2020. Membrane lipids destabilize short interfering ribonucleic acid (siRNA)/polyethylenimine nanoparticles. Nanoscale 12 (2), 1032–1045.
- Noske, S., Karimov, M., Aigner, A., Ewe, A., 2020. Tyrosine-modification of polypropylenimine (PPI) and polyethylenimine (PEI) strongly improves efficacy of sirna-mediated gene knockdown. Nanomaterials 10, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/ nano10091809.
- Ogris, M., Wagner, E., 2012. Synthesis of Linear Polyethylenimine and Use in Transfection Synthesis of Linear Polyethylenimine and Use in Transfection. Cold Spring Harb. Protoc. 246–250. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot067868.
- Pandey, A.P., Sawant, K.K., 2016. Polyethylenimine : A versatile, multifunctional nonviral vector for nucleic acid delivery. Mater. Sci. Eng. C 68, 904–918. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.msec.2016.07.066.
- Petersen, H., Merdan, T., Kunath, K., Fischer, D., Kissel, T., 2002. Poly(ethylenimine-co-L-lactamide-co-succinamide): A biodegradable polyethylenimine derivative with an advantageous pH-dependent hydrolytic degradation for gene delivery. Bioconjug. Chem. 13, 812–821. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc0255135.
- Plyte, S.E., Kneale, G.G., 1991. The role of tyrosine residues in the DNA-binding site of the Pf1 gene 5 protein. Protein Eng. Des. Sel. 4 (5), 553–560. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/protein/4.5.553.
- Pottel, H., van der Meer, W., Herreman, W., 1983. Correlation between the order parameter and the steady-state fluorescence anisotropy of 1,6-diphenyl-1,3,5-hexatriene and an evaluation of membrane fluidity. BBA - Biomembr. 730 (2), 181–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2736(83)90331-0.

M. Kubczak et al.

- Pozzi, D., Colapicchioni, V., Caracciolo, G., Piovesana, S., Capriotti, A.L., Palchetti, S., De Grossi, S., Riccioli, A., Amenitsch, H., Laganà, A., 2014. Effect of polyethyleneglycol (PEG) chain length on the bio-nano- interactions between PEGylated lipid nanoparticles and biological fluids: From nanostructure to uptake in cancer cells. Nanoscale 6, 2782–2792. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3nr05559k.
- Sanz del Olmo, N., Holota, M., Michlewska, S., Gomez, R., Ortega, P., Ionov, M., De la Mata, F.J., Bryszewska, M., 2020. Copper (II) Metallodendrimers Combined with Pro-Apoptotic siRNAs as a Promising Strategy Against Breast Cancer Cells. Pharmaceutics 12, 1–14.
- Scherman, D., Rousseau, A., Bigey, P., Escriou, V., 2017. Genetic pharmacology: Progresses in siRNA delivery and therapeutic applications. Gene Ther. 24 (3), 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2017.6.
- Schöttler, S., Becker, G., Winzen, S., Steinbach, T., Mohr, K., Landfester, K., Mailänder, V., Wurm, F.R., 2016. Protein adsorption is required for stealth effect of poly(ethylene glycol)- and poly(phosphoester)-coated nanocarriers. Nat. Nanotechnol. 11 (4), 372–377. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2015.330.
- Thomas, M., Ge, Q., Lu, J.J., Chen, J., Klibanov, A.M., 2005. Cross-linked Small Polyethylenimines : While Still Nontoxic, Deliver DNA Efficiently to Mammalian Cells in Vitro and in Vivo. Pharm. Res. 22, 373–380. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11095-004-1874-y.

- Ulrih, N.P., Maričić, M., Ota, A., Šentjurc, M., Abram, V., 2015. Kaempferol and quercetin interactions with model lipid membranes. Food Res. Int. 71, 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2015.02.029.
- Vicennati, P., Giuliano, A., Ortaggi, G., Masotti, A., 2008. Polyethylenimine In Medicinal Chemistry. Curr. Med. Chem. 15, 2826–2839.
- Wang, F., Hu, K., Cheng, Y., 2016. Structure-activity relationship of dendrimers engineered with twenty common amino acids in gene delivery. Acta Biomater. 29, 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2015.10.034.
- Wang, F., Wang, Y., Wang, H., Shao, N., Chen, Y., Cheng, Y., 2014. Synergistic effect of amino acids modified on dendrimer surface in gene delivery. Biomaterials 35 (33), 9187–9198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.07.027.
- Wiseman, J.W., Goddard, C.A., McLelland, D., Colledge, W.H., 2003. A comparison of linear and branched polyethylenimine (PEI) with DCChol / DOPE liposomes for gene delivery to epithelial cells in vitro and in vivo. Gene Ther. 10 (19), 1654–1662. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3302050.
- Wong, S.Y., Pelet, J.M., Putnam, D., 2007. Polymer systems for gene delivery Past, present, and future. Prog. Polym. Sci. 32 (8-9), 799–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. progpolymsci.2007.05.007.

Comparative study of unmodified and tyrosine-modified low molecular weight polyethylenimines: biophysical characterization and toxicity

Małgorzata Kubczak ¹, Sylwia Michlewska^{1,2}, Michael Karimov³, Alexander Ewe ³, Sandra Noske³, Maksim Ionov ¹, Achim Aigner ³, Maria Bryszewska ¹

¹Department of General Biophysics, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland. ²Laboratory of Microscopic Imaging and Specialized Biological Techniques, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland ³Rudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Leipzig University, Germany

	Linear polymers	Branched polymers
pç	LP 2.5 kDa	br 2 kDa
difie	LP 5 kDa	br 5 kDa
nmc	LP 10 kDa	br 10 kDa
D	LP 25 kDa	br 25 kDa
ţ	LP 2.5Y	P 2Y
d wi ine	LP 5 Y	P 5 Y
difie yros	LP 10 Y	P 10 Y
t t	LP 25 Y	P 25 Y
Polyethyle	nimine (PEI)	Tyrosine-modified F
Polyethyle	nimine (PEI)	Tyrosine-modified

Suppl. Table 1. Linear and branched PEIs, unmodified and modified with tyrosine

linear

branched

2 kDa

10 kDa



60

10 kDa

25 kD

50 nm -

ARTICLE

Taylor & Francis

Check for updates

Comparison of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight branched and linear polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery

Małgorzata Kubczak^a (b), Sylwia Michlewska^{a,b} (b), Michael Karimov^c, Alexander Ewe^c (b), Achim Aigner^c (b), Maria Bryszewska^a (b) and Maksim Ionov^a (b)

^aDepartment of General Biophysics, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland; ^bLaboratory of Microscopic Imaging and Specialized Biological Techniques, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland; ^cRudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Leipzig University, Germany, Leipzig

ABSTRACT

Polyethylenimines (PEIs) have been previously introduced for siRNA delivery. In particular, in the case of higher molecular weight PEIs, this is associated with toxicity, while low molecular weight PEIs are often insufficient for siRNA complexation. The tyrosine-modification of PEIs has been shown to enhance PEI efficacy and biocompatibility. This paper evaluates a set of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight linear or branched polyethylenimines as efficient carriers of siRNA. Complexation efficacies and biophysical complex properties were analyzed by zeta potential, dynamic light scattering and circular dichroism measurements as well as gel electrophoresis. Biological knockdown was studied in 2D cell culture and 3D ex vivo tissue slice air-liquid interface culture. The results demonstrate that siRNAs were able to form stable complexes with all tested polymers. Complexation was able to protect siRNA from degradation by RNase and to mediate target gene knockdown, as determined on the mRNA level and in PC3-Luc3/EGFP and HCT116-Luc3/EGFP expressing reporter cells on the protein level, using flow cytometry and confocal microscopy. The direct comparison of the studied polymers revealed differences in biological efficacies. Moreover, the tyrosine-modified PEIs showed high biocompatibility, as determined by LDH release and mitochondria integrity (J-aggregate assay) as well as caspase 3/ 7 (apoptosis) and H₂O₂ levels (ROS). In 3 D tissue slices, complexes based on LP10Y proved to be most efficient, by combining tissue penetration with efficient gene expression knockdown.

ARTICLE HISTORY

Received 12 September 2022 Revised 13 December 2022 Accepted 14 December 2022

KEYWORDS

Nanomaterials; polyethylenimines; siRNA delivery; gene knockdown cytotoxicity; polymeric nanoparticles

Introduction

Therapies based on RNA interference (RNAi) are currently under special interest (Kim et al. 2015; Song et al. 2018). Due to its mechanism of action, RNAi interference may be directed against any target gene of interest, thus offering certain advantages over traditional drug-based treatment strategies and also allowing for treating otherwise 'undruggable' diseases. RNAi relies on the action of small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) which are incorporated into the RISC complex and mediate RISC binding to the sequence-complementary target mRNA with its subsequent cleavage and degradation. The successful implementation of RNA-based therapies, however, requires nucleic acid delivery vehicles with specific properties (Aigner 2019; lonov et al. 2015). Major requirements of gene carriers are their ability to protect the cargo from degradation, penetrate the cell membrane and release the nucleic acid 'payload' intracellularly at its site of action (Raval et al. 2019). Viral vectors were proposed as the most suitable delivery vehicles due to their natural feasibility of carrying nucleic acid into the cells. However, their usage is limited to certain nucleic acids, excluding siRNAs, and they are associated with safety concerns and risk of immunogenicity (Kotterman et al. 2015). This highlights the relevance of non-viral carrier systems, including liposomal and polymeric nanoparticles.

Cationic polymers like polyethylenimines (PEIs) have been broadly tested as plasmid DNA carriers (Gosselin et al. 2001; Kichler et al. 2001; Sig et al. 2004). The structure of PEIs is based on nitrogen atoms at every third position, with a certain

CONTACT Małgorzata Kubczak 🕲 malgorzata.kubczak@biol.uni.lodz.pl 🖃 Department of General Biophysics, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, Pomorska street 141/144, 90-236, Łódź, Poland © 2022 Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group

percentage being positively charged even at physiological pH, thus allowing for the complexation of negatively charged nucleic acids. This complexation leads to nanoparticle formation and protection of the nucleic acid from degradation (Rodier et al. 2019). The ability of nucleic acid complexation and delivery as well as the toxicity depend on the molecular mass of the polymers (Godbey et al. 1999; Pandey and Sawant 2016). Higher molecular weight PEIs are efficient, but associated with higher cytotoxicity, while smaller PEIs are essentially nontoxic, but show only poor transfection efficacy (Creusat et al. 2010; Günther et al. 2011; Kichler et al. 2001). The structure of the polymers plays a role in complexation as well. Linear PEIs are able to interact with plasmid DNA whereas the complexation of siRNA is poor. In contrast, branched PEIs are able to bind plasmid DNA as well as siRNA (Kwok and Hart 2011; Sadeghpour et al. 2018).

Polymers like PEI allow the comparatively facile introduction of chemical modifications, and some of those have been proposed for increasing cellular uptake and reducing toxic effects (Abid et al. 2017; Beyerle et al. 2010; Lu et al. 2019; Yu et al. 2017). For example, hydrophobic modifications may improve the interaction the polymers with nucleic acids and enhance the cellular uptake of the resulting nanoparticles. PEGylated polymers would exhibit lower toxicity, prolonged circulation halflives in the blood stream and increased serum tolerance. On the other hand, the addition of PEG or negatively charged residues may disrupt DNA/RNA condensation and inhibit cellular uptake (Beyerle et al. 2010; Merkel et al. 2009; Sagafi and Rahbarizadeh 2019).

Amino acid residues have been successfully implemented for PEI modification (Chen et al. 2015; Ewe et al. 2016; Karimov, Schulz, et al. 2021; Yu et al. 2017). This approach offers advantages over other modifications. In the case of cationic dendrimers, Wang et al. explored their modification with twenty amino acids (Wang et al. 2016). While anionic or hydrophilic modifications were non-efficient for transfer efficacy, hydrophobic or cationic amino acids increased the complexation efficiency. It was demonstrated that Tyr, Phe, Trp, Arg, Lys or His efficiently increased the transfection efficacy. Arginine and lysine modification improved DNA binding, complex formation and cellular uptake. The addition of histidine promoted endosomal escape. Among all amino acids, hydrophobic, aromatic amino acids were introduced as the most promising modification for nucleic acid delivery (Tyr, Trp, Phe), better acting than hydrophobic, aliphatic amino acids (Ile, Val, Ala). This is related to the more hydrophobic structure of aromatic ring, perhaps facilitating complex interaction with membrane phospholipids and improving endosomal escape (Creusat et al. 2010; Liu et al. 2010).

Tyrosine-grafting has been found to increase efficacy and biocompatibility of linear and branched PEIs (Chen et al. 2015; Ewe et al. 2016; Karimov, Schulz, et al. 2021; Yu et al. 2017). In this study, we aimed to investigate and compare a set of tyrosinemodified linear and branched PEIs with different molecular weights, for siRNA delivery *in vitro* and in a tissue slice model *ex vivo*. Complexation of siRNA, biophysical complex properties, toxicity and gene knockdown efficacy were studied.

Materials and methods

Polymers and siRNA

Tyrosine modified polymers (Table 1) were synthetized as described previously (Ewe et al. 2016; Karimov, Schulz, et al. 2021). Non-modified siRNAs were purchased from Dharmacon (Lafayette, CO) with sequences as follows: siLuc2: sense, 5'-CGU ACG CGG AAU ACU UCG AdTdT-3'; antisense, 5'-UCG AAG UAU UCC GCG UAC GdTdT-3'; siLuc3: sense, 5'-CUU ACG CUG AGU ACU UCG AdTdT-3'; antisense, 5'-UCG AAG UAC UCA GCG UAA GdTdT-3'; siGAPDH: sense, 5'-CCU CAA CUA CAU GGU UUA CdTdT-3'; antisense, 5'-GUA AAC CAU GUA GUU GAG GdTdT-3'.

Table	1.	Types	of	polymers	used	for	complexation
(with a	abb	reviatio	ns).				

Type of polymer used for siRNA complexation	Abbreviation
Linear polymer, 2.5 kDa, tyrosine modified	LP 2.5Y
Linear polymer, 5 kDa, tyrosine modified	LP 5Y
Linear polymer, 10 kDa, tyrosine modified	LP 10Y
Linear polymer, 25 kDa, tyrosine modified	LP 25Y
Branched polymer, 2 kDa, tyrosine modified	P 2Y
Branched polymer, 5 kDa, tyrosine modified	P 5Y
Branched polymer, 10 kDa, tyrosine modified	P 10Y
Branched polymer, 25 kDa, tyrosine modified	P 25Y

Complex preparation

Complexes were prepared as described previously (Noske et al. 2020) at polymer/siRNA mass ratios of 2.5:1 or 5:1, unless indicated otherwise. Briefly, for experiments in a 24 well plate, 30 pmol $(0.4 \,\mu g)$ siRNA per well in 12.5 µL HN (150 mM NaCl, 10 mM HEPES, pH 7.4) In a second tube, a calculated amount of polymer was diluted in 12.5 µL HN buffer. siRNA solution was added to the polymer, mixed gently by pipetting and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. For ex vivo experiments preparation method was similar with a slight modification. Complexes were prepared in HT/HN buffer (a 1:1 mixture of 20% trehalose, 20 mM HEPES and 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM HEPES, pH 7.4). siRNA was dissolved in HN buffer, whereas polymer was diluted in HT buffer (20% trehalose, 20 mM HEPES).

Biophysical characterization of PEI/siRNA complexes

Dynamic light scattering (DLS) and zeta potential

A Zetasizer Nano ZS-90 (Malvern Instruments, Malvern, UK) was used to determine the hydrodynamic diameter of the nanoparticles by dynamic light scattering. Wavelength was set at 633 nm, at detection angle of 90°. Complexes were prepared as described above, containing 5 μ g (375 pmol) siRNA. For each sample seven measurements in five cycles at room temperature were made. Zeta potential values were measured in the same instrument and data obtained from 12 measurements in six cycles at room temperature for each sample were calculated using the Helmholtz-Smoluchowski equation. The data were analyzed using Malvern software and given as mean \pm standard deviation (SD).

Gel electrophoresis

Gel electrophoresis was conducted for testing the ability of the PEIs to form complexes with siRNA. $0.5 \,\mu g$ (37.5 pmol) siRNA was complexed in HN buffer as above with polymer/siRNA mass ratios ranging from 1.25 to 5, prior to separation by 3% agarose gel electrophoresis. Electrophoresis was carried out with GelRed stain in Tris-acetate-EDTA (TAE) buffer for 45 min at 90 V/35 mA.

To evaluate the polymers' protective effects from siRNA degradation, the complexes were incubated with 2.5 μ g/mL RNase at 37 °C for 30 min, prior to incubation of the samples on ice for 10 min in the presence of 0.082 mg/mL heparin and subsequent gel electrophoresis as above.

Circular dichroism

Circular dichroism (CD) measurements involved a Hellma quartz cells with a thickness of 0.5 cm in a J - 815 CD spectrometer (Jasco, Tokyo, Japan), with software provided by Jasco used for calculating the mean ellipticity values. Complex formation was as above, using 1 µg siRNA (75 pmols) and polymers at mass ratios from 1.25 to 5.0. The wavelength was set from 200 to 300 nm, and the assay parameters were as follows: 0.5 nm step resolution, 1.0 nm bandwidth, 4 s response time, and 50 nm/min scan speed. The slit was set on auto.

Toxicological studies of PEI/siRNA complexes

Cytotoxicity (LDH)

Acute cell damage upon transfection was determined by measuring lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release, using the Cytotoxicity Detection Kit from Roche (Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, 35,000 PC3-Luc3/EGFP or HCT-116-Luc3/EGFP cells (Ewe et al. 2019) were seeded in a 24-well plate and the polymer/siRNA complexes were prepared at mass ratio 2.5. Prior to transfection, the medium was replaced with fresh medium in order to remove all dead cells. At 24 h after transfection, the medium was collected and centrifuged for 5 min at 13,000 rpm. Medium from untreated cells served as negative control. For the determination of maximum LDH release (100% value), cells were lysed by adding Triton X-100 to a final concentration of 2% to the medium. From each medium, 50 μ L sample was mixed with 50 μ L substrate mix and incubated in a 96-well plate for 30 min at RT in the dark. The absorption at 490 nm was determined in a plate reader with 620 nm as reference filter. The background was measured in parallel using fresh medium and subtracted from all values. All samples were run in triplicates.

Induction of caspase 3/7

HCT 116 cells were seeded at a density 7000 cells/ well in a 96-well plate. The next day, polymer/siRNA complexes (mass ratio 2.5; siRNA amounts in the complex 3 or 6 pmol) were added to the cells. After 24 or 72 h incubation, 100 µl of Caspase-Glo[®] 3/7 Reagent (Promega) was added to the cells on the plate. Luminescence intensity was measured after 1 h incubation at room temperature using a plate reading luminometer. Subsequently, the post-treatment number of viable cells was determined by WST-8 assay. 5 µl WST-8 reagent in 50 µl medium was added to each well. After 30 minutes incubation, the absorbance was read using a plate reader (λ = 450 nm). Caspase 3/7 induction is given relative to WST-8 readings.

Mitochondrial membrane potential measurement ($\Delta \psi m$)

To measure mitochondrial transmembrane potential, PC3-Luc3/EGFP or HCT-116-Luc3/EGFP cells were incubated for 24 or 48 h in the presence polymer/siRNA complexes (mass ratio 2.5), prior to adding 5 μ mol/l of fluorescent dye JC-1 (5,5,6,6-tetrachloro-1,1,3,3-tetraethylbenz-imidazolcarbocyanine iodide). After 30 min incubation in the dark, fluorescence was measured using a BioTek HTX plate reader, with filters suitable for J-aggregates (I_{ex} = 530 nm, I_{em} = 590 nm). Results were expressed as percentage of the control (100%). Experiments were repeated three times and the results averaged.

Reactive oxygen species measurements

PC3-Luc3/EGFP and HCT116-Luc3/EGFP cells were seeded in a 96 well plate, at a density of 10 000 cells/well and incubated for 24 h. The cells were then treated with polymer:siRNA complexes (mass ratio 2.5, 6 pmol siRNA/well). After 24 and 48 h treatment, the medium was replaced by 50 mmol/L sodium phosphate, 10 mmol/L Amplex Red reagent 50 and horseradish peroxidase (10 U/ml). The cells were incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature in the dark, prior to fluorescence determination (excitation 550 nm and emission 590 nm, respectively). The samples were analyzed in triplicates.

Quantitative and qualitative knockdown efficacy of polymer/siRNA complexes in vitro and ex vivo

RT-qPCR

For the determination of mRNA levels after GAPDH knockdown, cells were seeded and transfected in 24 wells polymer/siRNA complexes at mass ratio 2.5. The total RNA was isolated at 72 h post transfection, using a combined TRI reagent and silica column protocol (Ewe et al. 2019). The RNA concentration and purity were measured in a 2000c (Thermo Fisher, NanoDrop Schwerte, Germany). Total RNA was reverse transcribed with the RevertAid[™] H Minus First strand cDNA synthesis Kit (Fermentas Thermo Fisher Scientific). Briefly, $1\,\mu\text{L}$ random hexamer primer was added to $1\,\mu\text{g}$ RNA diluted in DEPC-treated water, prior to incubating for 5 min at 65 °C and cooling to 4 °C. Then, $4 \mu L$ 5× reaction buffer, $2 \mu L$ 10 mM dNTP Mix, 2.5 μ L DEPC-treated ddH2O and 0.5 μ L RevertAidTM H Minus M-MuLV Reverse Transcriptase (200 U/µL) were added. The cDNA synthesis mixture was incubated at 25 °C for 10 min and at 42 °C for 60 min. prior to heat denaturing at 70 °C for 10 min. Quantitative PCR was performed using the StepOnePlus PCR system (Thermo) and the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method, with RPLPO serving as housekeeping gene. The cDNA was 1:10 diluted with DEPC-water, and $4\,\mu\text{L}$ were mixed with $5\,\mu\text{L}$ 2 \times PerfeCTa SYBR Green FastMix (Quantabio, Beverly, MA) and 1 µL $5 \,\mu$ M primer mix. Primer sequences were as follows: human GAPDH, for: 5'-GGT GTG AAC CAT GAG AAG TAT GA-3', rev: 5'-GAG TCC TTC CAC GAT ACC AAA G-3'; human RPLP0, for: 5'-TCT ACA ACC CTG AAG TGC TTG AT-3', rev: 5'-CAA TCT GCA GAC AGA CAC TGG-3'. The gPCR were run with a pre-incubation at 95 °C for 2 min, followed by 45 amplification cycles (95 °C for 15 s, 55 °C for 15 s, 72 °C 15 s).

Gene expression knockdown in ex vivo model

Tumor tissue slices were generated from A549 tumor xenografts. Briefly, $350-\mu$ m slices were obtained using Leica VT 1000 vibratome and with a disposable biopsy punch, pieces of 3 mm in diameter were prepared. These punched tissue slice pieces were then placed on membrane culture inserts with 0.4 μ m pore size, located in 6-well plates containing 1 ml of RPMI-1640 medium

supplemented with 10% FCS and 1% antibiotics, for ail-liquid interface culture. After overnight cultivation under standard cell culture conditions, the slices were transferred into a 96-well plate containing 100 μ l pre-warmed medium. Polymer/siRNA complexes were added to the slices for 4 h incubation, then the slices were returned onto the membrane inserts and further cultivated, with the medium being replaced every day. After 72 h, slices were harvested for RT-qPCR analysis.

Flow cytometry and confocal microscopy

The efficacy of complexes was studied in PC3-Luc3/ EGFP and HCT 116-Luc3/EGFP cells lines. For flow cytometry analysis, cells were seeded in 24-well plates at the density 35,000 cells/well. After an overnight incubation, the cells were treated with polymer/siRNA complexes (mass ratio 2.5; 1 μ g siRNA). After 72 h incubation, the cells were trypsinized, centrifuged, resuspended in PBS and transferred to flow cytometry collection tubes. For analyzing changes in EGFP expression, a BD FACS Aria II flow cytometer (ex. 488 nm/em. 530 ± 30 nm) equipped with Flowing Software were used and at least 7000 events were collected per sample.

For confocal microscopy, the cells were seeded in 6-well plates with glass bottom, at a density of 200,000 cells/well. The next day, cells were treated with polymer/siRNA complexes (mass ratio 2.5; $3 \mu g$ siRNA). After 72 h, the cells were fixed with 4% formaldehyde at room temperature for 20 min, prior to washing and adding fresh PBS. The samples were analyzed with a Leica TCS SP8 microscope (Wetzlar, Germany), at an excitation wavelength of 495 nm. The Leica software was applied to analyze the data.

Luciferase measurements

Luciferase activity was determined 72 h post transfection using the Beetle-Juice Kit (PJK, Kleinblittersdorf, Germany). The medium was aspirated and 100 μ L lysis buffer (Promega, Mannheim, Germany) was added, prior to incubation for 30 min at RT. In a test tube, 25 μ L luciferin substrate was mixed with 10 μ L cell lysate and luminescence was immediately measured in a luminometer (Berthold, Bad Wildbad, Germany).

Results

Biophysical characterization of PEI/siRNA complexes

Complex sizes

Dynamic light scattering was performed to evaluate the size of formed complexes (Figure 1). Polymer/ siRNA complexes were made in two different mass ratios (MR). As long as complexes for *in vitro* studies were made in HN buffer and for *ex vivo* studies in HT/HN buffer, size and zeta potential were checked in two different buffer conditions. The results showed that size of complexes depended on the buffer used for complexation, the polymer and the



Figure 1. DLS and zeta potential measurements of complexes prepared in (A) HN buffer or (B) HT/HN buffer. Polymer/siRNA mass ratios 2.5 (dark bars) and 5.0 (light bars) are shown. Green circles correspond to zeta potential values at ratio 2.5, whereas pale blue squares correspond to zeta potential values at ratio 5.0.

MR. Sizes were generally lower for the complexes prepared in HT/HN buffer as compared to HN buffer. For example, LP2.5Y-based polyplexes in HN buffer exhibited size values from 600 nm at MR 2.5 to \sim 400 nm at MR 5, while they were substantially smaller when prepared under HT/HN conditions (150 and 250 nm, respectively). The comparison also revealed that sizes were sometimes dependent on the polymer/siRNA mass ratio, which, however, varied between the different polymers and buffer conditions. For example, the sizes of LP5Y/siRNA complexes in HN buffer were rather comparable at both mass ratios (around 600 nm), while the size of complexes generated with LP10Y decreased from around 300 nm at MR 2.5 to around 200 nm at MR 5. For LP25Y/siRNA complexes, the size values were similar at both mass ratios, similarly to P2Y/siRNA (around 600–700 nm). In the case of P5Y, the size of polyplexes again decreased from 700 nm at MR 2.5 to less than 400 nm at MR 5. Sizes of P10Y/siRNA complexes were around 200 nm for both ratios. In case of P25Y, the complex sizes decreased from about 400 nm to around 250 nm.

When prepared in HT/HN buffer, sizes of LP2.5Y/ siRNA complexes were lower at ratio 2.5 (< 200 nm), whereas ratio 5 led to larger complexes around 300 nm. Complexes with LP 10Y exhibited similar sizes of < 200 nm at both studied mass ratios, while the size of LP5Y/siRNA complexes increased with mass ratio from around 400 nm to around 600 nm. Rather large complexes were formed in the case of LP25Y, independent of the MR (600–700 nm). The size of P2Y-based polyplexes decreased from around 700 nm at MR 2.5 to less than 600 nm at MR 5. Complexes generated from P5Y, P10Y and P25Y showed all similar sizes, with values in the 200–300 nm range (Figure 1).

Zeta potential

Regarding zeta potential measurement (Figure 1), all studied formulations in HN buffer exhibited positive charge, except for complexes based on LP5Y, LP25Y and P10Y at the lower mass ratio 2.5. Under the same buffer conditions, however, all complexes were positively charged at mass ratio 5.

In the case of HT/HN buffer and at MR 2.5, zeta potential values were generally higher as compared to their counterparts prepared in HN buffer for all complexes. All complexes were positively charged at both ratios. At MR 5, particularly high zeta potentials above 35 mV were observed in case of complexes based on LP10Y, P10Y and P25Y.

Gel electrophoresis

Electrophoretic studies (Figure 2(A,B)) reveled that siRNA was fully complexed at mass ratio 2.5 by all studied polymers. The addition of heparin led to an at least partial release of the siRNA. While complexes with LP5Y, LP25Y or P10Y were guite stable and the addition of heparin caused a relatively weak siRNA release, this was more profound in the case of the other polymers. Moreover, while free siRNA was completely degraded in the presence of RNase A1, the pre-incubation of the complexes with RNase A1 prior to heparin treatment led to the release of still intact siRNA, indicating the protective effect of siRNA complexation. This protection was seen for all complexes, albeit the direct comparison between the corresponding bands \pm RNase A1 revealed lower siRNA band intensities upon RNase A1 treatment. However, this may not necessarily indicate an only partial siRNA protection in the complex, since siRNA may also be degraded by RNase A1 only during the heparin displacement step prior to gel loading.

Circular dichroism

In order to evaluate the interaction between siRNA (siLuc3) and polymers, circular dichroism was performed (Figure 3). The results obtained from CD showed that changes in siRNA secondary structure could be seen upon addition of polymers. While little effects were observed at very low polymer/ siRNA mass ratio 0.6, some effects (dependent on the polymer used for complexation) were seen at MR 1.25 and major changes emerged at MR 2.5 for all polymers. Further increase of mass ratios (3.75 and 5.0) did not lead to substantial additional polymer effects on siRNA structure.

Toxicological studies of PEI/siRNA complexes

The cytotoxic potential of complexes was evaluated in HCT116 cells. The level of membrane damage was assessed by LDH assay (Figure 4(A)). Complexes were prepared at mass ratio 2.5 and different complex amounts, corresponding to 7.5–30 pmol siRNA, were applied onto the cells. The results



Figure 2. Agarose gel electrophoresis. Complexation of free siRNA (leftmost lane) by (A) LPxY or (B) PxY PEIs. Complexes of polymers and siRNA (siLuc3) were prepared at mass ratio 2.5:1 and then incubated in the presence or absence of RNAse A1. RNAse concentration used in the experiment was 5 U/ml.

demonstrate that in the case of all tyrosine-modified PEIs even the highest complex amounts did not cause membrane damage (Figure 4(A)). In stark contrast, the non-modified 10 kDa linear PEI led to profound, concentration-dependent cytotoxicity. More specifically, LP10 complexes at amounts of 30 pmol siRNA caused cell damage comparable to the positive control (10% Triton X-100).

Caspase 3/7 activation was measured in order to monitor induction of apoptosis. HCT 116 cells were treated with complexes containing 3 pmol siRNA. After 24 h, a marked >3-fold increase over untreated was seen in the case of the unmodified linear 10 kDa PEI, while no apoptosis induction was observed in the case of any of the tyrosine-modified polymers (Figure 4(B)).

The production of J-aggregates was measured in order to evaluate alterations in the mitochondrial activity after treatment with complexes. After 24 h incubation, only LP5Y/siRNA complex caused a significant decrease in J-aggregate production, while little alterations were seen in the case of the other polymers (Figure 4(C)). This was also true at 48 h and 72 h incubation, except for some decrease in the level of J-aggregates in the case of LP10Y/siRNA complex.

For these polymers, the level of oxidative stress was evaluated by measuring H_2O_2 level in cells incubated with complexes containing 30 pmol siRNA (mass ratio 2.5). While after 24 h no major changes in hydrogen peroxide levels were detected (data not shown), values after 48 h showed a significant $\sim 1.5 - 1.8$ increase in the case of complexes based on LP10Y or P10Y (Figure 4(D)).

Quantitative and qualitative knockdown efficacy of polymer/siRNA complexes in vitro and ex vivo

RT-qPCR analyses were performed in order to determine the level of GAPDH expression in cells treated with the complexes containing tyrosine modified polymer and siGAPDH. All complexes based on tyrosine-modified PEIs caused a significant \sim 70% decrease in GAPDH expression levels after 72 h incubation *in vitro* (Figure 5(A)). Tissue slice ALI cultures preserve the architecture of intact tumor tissue and were thus analyzed next. Since tissue penetration is a major bottleneck in gene



Figure 3. CD spectra of the siRNA alone (black line) as compared to addition of increasing concentrations of tyrosine-modified polymers, in a range of polymer/siRNA mass ratios (MR) 0.6 - 5.0.


Figure 4. (A) LDH release in HCT 116 cells after 24h incubation with complexes. Polymer/siRNA mass ratio was always 2.5, with different complex amounts applied onto the cells, as indicated by the siRNA amounts. UT, untreated cells cultured in medium only. Cells treated with 10% Triton X-100 served as positive control. Medium alone was treated as a blank sample and LDH release from medium was subtracted from the results. (B) J-aggregate production in healthy mitochondria in HCT 116 cells after 24/48 h incubation with polymer/siRNA complexes (mass ratio 2.5, 6 pmol siRNA). (C) Caspase 3/7 induction, as shown by caspase activity normalized for viable cell numbers, in HCT 116 cells after 24 h incubation with polymer/siRNA complexes (mass ratio 2.5, 6 pmol siRNA). (D) H₂O₂ production in HCT 116 cells after 48 h incubation with polymer/siRNA complexes (mass ratio 2.5, 6 pmol siRNA). UT, untreated cells as 100% control. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.001; n = 3.

knockdown efficacy, this model resembles more closely the *in vivo* situation and GAPDH downregulation was overall less profound. Most efficient in this *ex vivo* model were complexes based on LP10Y, with an almost 50% reduction of GAPDH levels, with a lesser $\sim 15-30\%$ knockdown in the case of the other complexes (Figure 5(B)).

For analyzing knockdown on the protein level, flow cytometry and confocal microscopy were used to evaluate the expression of EGFP as a target gene. HCT 116-Luc3/EGFP expressing cell lines were incubated for 72 h with polymer/siEGFP complexes containing 30 pmol siRNA (mass ratio 2.5). Flow cytometry histograms showed a shift to the left, indicating reduced EGFP emission (Figure 5(A)). The quantitation revealed knockdown efficacies of 80% or above (Figure 5(B)). Flow cytometry data were also confirmed by confocal microscopy imaging, revealing that complexes were able to decrease the level of EGFP expression after 72 h incubation (Figure 6).

To monitor the dependence of knockdown efficacies on siRNA amounts, luciferase knockdown in HCT 116-Luc3/EGFP expressing cell lines was analyzed by using the different polymer/siRNA complexes at a broader range of different amounts



Figure 5. (A) Relative mRNA expression of GAPDH in HCT 116 cells after 72 h incubation with polymer/siRNA complexes (ratio 2.5, 30 pmol siRNA) normalized to untreated cells (UT). RPLPO was used as housekeeping gene for normalization. (B) -. Knockdown of GAPDH expression in an A549 tissue slice model after 72 h incubation with polymer/siRNA complexes (2.5, 30 pmol siRNA). Results are presented as relative values, normalized to siCtrl, with RPLPO serving as housekeeping gene.

(Figure 7). Luciferase intensity was measured after with 72 h incubation complexes containing 7.5-30 pmol siLuc3 as compared to siCtrl. The tyrosine modified linear polymers performed well even at the lowest concentration of siRNA. This was also seen for complexes based on P5Y, while P10Y and P25Y lagged behind and required somewhat larger siRNA amounts for gene knockdown. Complexes based on the non-modified LP 10 kDa did not deliver siLuc3 efficiently when lower amounts of siRNA were used, while knockdown at higher concentrations of siRNA was again associated with cytotoxicity.

Discussion

Polyethylenimines are considered as one of the most promising non-viral nanocarriers for nucleic acid delivery. In this study, we compared the properties of linear and branched tyrosine-modified PEIs for siRNA delivery. Linear non-modified PEIs are generally preferred for nucleic acid delivery, due to their chemical properties and higher biocompatibility (Kwok and Hart 2011; Lungu et al. 2016). Nevertheless, their biological activity for delivering double-stranded, comparatively small siRNA is rather poor. A poor polymer interaction with siRNA can be caused by the short length of nucleic acid, what affect electrostatic interaction with cationic,

soluble PEI. Such complexes exhibited a very low stability in contact with polyanions located on the cell surface. Tyrosine modification increase aggregating properties due to the presence of hydrophobic domains was introduced in order to make polymers more self-assembly (Creusat and Zuber 2008). In order to improve complexation efficacy and biological activity of these polymers, tyrosine was introduced in their structure (Ewe et al. 2016; Karimov et al. 2021b). Biophysical properties of PEI/ siRNA complexes were tested by several methods. DLS and zeta potential measurements are a standard technique used for complex characterization. It was demonstrated that the ionic strength of the complexation medium is a factor affecting diameter and charge of the complexes. This is also in line with previous studies (Curtis et al. 2016; Karimov, Schulz, et al. 2021; Sang et al. 2015). Our data revealed that stable PEI/siRNA complexes were generated under both buffer conditions. Complexes formed in HN buffer (HEPES/NaCl) were generally larger than those formed in HT/HN buffer. Ionic conditions may affect also the potential of the complexes. Generally, all complexes displayed positive values which is advantageous for cellular uptake. Nanoparticles complexed in HT/HN buffer were stable and showed less variability of zeta potential values between polymer/siRNA mass ratios 2.5 and 5.



Figure 6. (A) Histograms (siCtrl – dark line, siGFP – bright line) from flow cytometry analysis of EGFP expression levels in HCT 116-Luc3/EGFP reporter cells after 72 h incubation with polymer/siEGFP complexes (mass ratio 2.5, 30 pmol siRNA). (B) Determination of mean fluorescence intensities from EGFP expression knockdown from confocal microscopy studies (***, p < 0.001, n = 3). (C) Confocal microscopy of EGFP-expressing cells upon transfection vs. untransfected.

It seems that the addition of trehalose prevented aggregation. This sugar is known as a protein stabilizer and as a component of inhalable drugs, providing stability (Jain and Roy 2009; Keil et al. 2019). Latest data suggests that complexes generated in trehalose buffer performed better *in vivo*. For *in vitro* studies, the complexes from HEPES/NaCI buffer are more efficient (Karimov, Schulz et al. 2021), probably due to their more efficient sedimentation on adherently growing cells.

Tyrosine modified polymer/siRNA complex formation was evaluated by gel electrophoresis and circular dichroism. It was shown previously that tyrosine modified polymers could complex siRNA already at a comparably low mass ratio 2.5 (Ewe et al. 2016; Karimov, Schulz, et al. 2021). Polymers exhibited protective effects from nuclease digestion. Due to the stability of complexes, heparin could only partially release siRNA from the complex. Complex stability and the protective effect of nanovectors are essential for siRNA delivery (lonov et al. 2015; Michlewska et al. 2018; Rodríguez-Prieto et al. 2021; Sanz del Olmo et al. 2020). PEI polymers are known for their proton sponge effect, which may affect both, endosomal rupture for complex release and siRNA liberation from the complex (Creusat et al. 2010).

Changes in the secondary structure of siRNA can be followed by circular dichroism. A standard spectrum of siRNA has two characteristic peaks around 210 and 260 nm. Complexation efficacy can be observed by analysis of the changes in siRNA CD spectra upon addition of nanocarrier (Ferenc et al. 2013; Ionov et al. 2015; Sanz del Olmo et al. 2020). The decrease in ellipticity to around 0 was observed for all polymers at mass ratio 2.5, suggesting that



Figure 7. Luciferase knockdown in PC 3 cell line after 72 h incubation with polymer/siLuc3 and polymer/siCtrl (siLuc2) complexes (mass ratio 2.5). Results are presented as average luciferase intensity, normalized to untreated cells (UT).

this is sufficient for full siRNA complexation by the polymers. Changes in the ellipticity values can be explained by the decrease in the absorbance of nucleotides complexed by polymers (Law et al. 2008). The registered red shift of CD spectra peaks at $\lambda = 260 \text{ nm}$ in the presence of increasing

amounts of the PEIs indicate significant structural changes in the siRNAs upon interaction with the polymers.

Complex toxicity is an important parameter in the assessment of novel nanocarriers. It was demonstrated that PEI toxicity increases with molecular mass (Gholami et al. 2014; Moghimi et al. 2005; Monnery et al. 2017). In our study, the tyrosinemodified polymers proved to be rather nontoxic nanovectors. Acute cell damage monitored by LDH release showed good biocompatibility, with values comparable to untreated cells. In turn, non-modified polymer LP 10 kDa in complex with siRNA caused serious cell damage. Reactive oxygen species levels and mitochondrial membrane potential serve as early events in the apoptosis process. Nanoparticles are considered as inducers of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway which involves mitochondria (Ceremuga et al. 2020; Wigner et al. 2021). Notably, the complexes tested here mostly did not affect mitochondria. The level of J-aggregates is proportional to the healthy state of these organelles (Elefantova et al. 2018). Only LP5Y/siRNA and, to a lower extent, LP10Y/siRNA complexes led to some decrease in J-aggregate production. Complexes based on LP5Y also led to a very slight activation of caspase 3/7, whereas branched polymers did not elevate caspase levels. It has been previously observed that linear PEIs are more toxic than their branched counterparts. The grafting of tyrosine remarkably reduced the toxicity of the polymers, with some dose-dependent toxic effects a large amounts still being observed (Kubczak et al. 2022).

Studies on complex activity in vitro showed that tyrosine-modified polymers have a great potential for siRNA delivery. Linear, non-modified polymers are practically unable to bind siRNA, as opposed to branched PEIs which are also known as nanovectors for plasmid DNA (Kwok and Hart 2011). Addition of tyrosine allowed PEIs to complex smaller, more rigid nucleic acids like siRNA. Biologically active complexes can be formed even at low polymer/siRNA ratios. This allows for efficient gene knockdown with little toxic effects. Knockdown efficacy mainly relies on complex stability, charge and hydrophobicity. Tyrosine-modified polymers form complexes that are more stable compared to their non-modified counterparts, which can be explained by the tyrosines' contribution to electrostatic and π - π interactions (Dougherty 1996; Huang et al. 2015; Plyte and Kneale 1991). Notably, complexes based on LP10Y also mediated quite efficient GADPH gene knockdown in the *ex vivo* tissue slice model, indicating penetration of the LP10Y/siGAPDH complexes into deeper cell layers of the tissue slices. This indicates that results obtained in traditional 2 D cell culture are not always confirmed in more advanced culture systems (Karimov, Appelhans et al. 2021; Merz et al. 2017). LP10Y seems to form complexes which are readily taken up by the cells, while simultaneously also being able to reach deeper parts of the tissue.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this paper reports directly compares linear and branched, tyrosine-modified low molecular weight polyethylenimines as siRNA delivery vectors. The chemically modified PEIs are able to form stable complexes with siRNA and protect them against degradation in the presence of RNAses, as one important requirement for effective siRNA delivery. The complexes can be efficiently internalized into the cells, with the tyrosine modification in the PEIs also reducing their cytotoxicity.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Magdalena Gapińska for expert confocal microscope maintenance. The authors are also grateful for funding by grants from the project "EUROPARTNER" of the Polish National Agency for Academic Exchange (NAWA).

Disclosure statement

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Funding

This work was supported by the grant from the Nacional Science Center of Poland 'BEETHOVEN LIFE 1' program, project no: 2018/ 31/F/NZ5/03454 and Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft [DFG; AI 24/21-1; AI 24/24-1].

ORCID

Małgorzata Kubczak () http://orcid.org/0000-0003-4217-3789 Sylwia Michlewska () http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8952-469X Alexander Ewe () http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8252-1605 Achim Aigner () http://orcid.org/0000-0002-2778-6256 Maria Bryszewska D http://orcid.org/0000-0003-4676-3743 Maksim Ionov D http://orcid.org/0000-0001-7227-6864

References

- Abid, M., Y. Saeed, Z. Xing, Z. Guo, H. Tian, X. Zhu, and X. Chen. 2017. "Polylysine-Modified Polyethylenimine (PEI-PLL) Mediated VEGF Gene Delivery Protects Dopaminergic Neurons in Cell Culture and in Rat Models of Parkinson's Disease (PD)." Acta Biomaterialia 54: 58–68. doi:10.1016/j. actbio.2016.12.048.
- Aigner, A. 2019. "Perspectives, Issues and Solutions in RNAi Therapy: The Expected and the Less Expected." *Nanomedicine* 14 (21): 2777–2782. doi:10.2217/nnm-2019-0321.
- Beyerle, A., O. Merkel, T. Stoeger, and T. Kissel. 2010. "PEGylation Affects Cytotoxicity and Cell-Compatibility of Poly(Ethylene Imine) for Lung Application: Structure-Function Relationships." *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 242 (2): 146–154. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2009.10. 001.
- Ceremuga, M., M. Stela, E. Janik, L. Gorniak, E. Synowiec, T. Sliwinski, P. Sitarek, J. Saluk-Bijak, and M. Bijak. 2020.
 "Melittin a Natural Peptide from Bee Venom Which Induces Apoptosis in." *Human Leukaemia Cells. Biomolecules* 10 (2): 247–214. doi:10.3390/biom10020247.
- Chen, J., Jiao, Z. X., Lin, L., Guo, Z. P., Xu, C. N., Li, Y. H., Tian, H. Y., and Chen, X. S. 2015. "Polylysine-Modified Polyethylenimines as siRNA Carriers for Effective Tumor Treatment." *Chinese Journal of Polymer Science* 33 (6): 830–837. doi:10.1007/s10118-015-1632-0.
- Creusat, G., A. S. Rinaldi, E. Weiss, R. Elbaghdadi, J. S. Remy, R. Mulherkar, and G. Zuber. 2010. "Proton Sponge Trick for ph-Sensitive Disassembly of Polyethylenimine-Based Sirna Delivery Systems." *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 21 (5): 994–1002. doi:10.1021/bc100010k.
- Creusat, G., and G. Zuber. 2008. "Self-Assembling Polyethylenimine Derivatives Mediate Efficient siRNA Delivery in Mammalian Cells." *Chembiochem* 9 (17): 2787–2789. doi:10.1002/cbic.200800540.
- Curtis, K. A., D. Miller, P. Millard, S. Basu, F. Horkay, and P. L. Chandran. 2016. "Unusual Salt and pH Induced Changes in Polyethylenimine Solutions." *Plos ONE* 11 (9): e0158147–20. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0158147.
- Dougherty, D. A. 1996. "Cation-π Interactions in Chemistry and Biology: A New View of Benzene, Phe, Tyr, and Trp." *Science* 271 (5246): 163–168. doi:10.1126/science.271.5246. 163.
- Elefantova, K., B. Lakatos, J. Kubickova, Z. Sulova, and A. Breier. 2018. "Detection of the Mitochondrial Membrane Potential by the Cationic Dye JC-1 in I1210 Cells with Massive Overexpression of the Plasma Membrane ABCB1 Drug Transporter." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 19 (7): 1985–1914. doi:10.3390/ijms19071985.
- Ewe, A., S. Noske, M. Karimov, and A. Aigner. 2019. "Polymeric Nanoparticles Based on Tyrosine-Modified, Low

Molecular Weight Polyethylenimines for siRNA Delivery." *Pharmaceutics* 11 (11): 600–618. doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics11110600.

- Ewe, A., S. Przybylski, J. Burkhardt, A. Janke, D. Appelhans, and A. Aigner. 2016. "A Novel Tyrosine-Modified Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimine (P10Y) for ef fi Cient siRNA Delivery in Vitro and in Vivo." *Journal of Controlled Release* 230: 13–25. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.03.034.
- Ferenc, M., E. Pedziwiatr-Werbicka, K. E. Nowak, B. Klajnert, J. P. Majoral, and M. Bryszewska. 2013. "Phosphorus Dendrimers as Carriers of siRNA-Characterisation of Dendriplexes." *Molecules* 18 (4): 4451–4466. doi:10.3390/ molecules18044451.
- Gholami, L., H. R. Sadeghnia, M. Darroudi, and R. Kazemi Oskuee. 2014. "Evaluation of Genotoxicity and Cytotoxicity Induced by Different Molecular Weights of Polyethylenimine/DNA Nanoparticles." *Turkish Journal of Biology* 38 (3): 380–387. doi:10.3906/biy-1309-51.
- Godbey, W. T., K. K. Wu, and A. G. Mikos. 1999. "Size Matters : Molecular Weight Affects the Efficiency of Poly (Ethylenimine) as a Gene Delivery Vehicle." Journal of Biomedical Materials Research 45 (3): 268–275. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1097-4636(19990605)45:3<268::AID-JBM15>3.0.CO;2-Q.
- Gosselin, M. A., W. Guo, and R. J. Lee. 2001. "Efficient Gene Transfer Using Reversibly Cross-Linked Low Molecular Weight Polyethylenimine." *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 12 (6): 989–994. doi:10.1021/bc0100455.
- Günther, M., J. Lipka, A. Malek, D. Gutsch, W. Kreyling, and A. Aigner. 2011. "Polyethylenimines for RNAi-Mediated Gene Targeting in Vivo and siRNA Delivery to the Lung." *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics* 77 (3): 438–449. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.11.007.
- Huang, J., Y. Zhao, H. Liu, D. Huang, X. Cheng, W. Zhao, I. A. Taylor, J. Liu, and Y. L. Peng. 2015. "Substitution of Tryptophan 89 with Tyrosine Switches the DNA Binding Mode of PC4." *Scientific Reports* 5(Figure 1),: 8789–8786. doi:10.1038/srep08789.
- Ionov, M., J. Lazniewska, V. Dzmitruk, I. Halets, S. Loznikova, D. Novopashina, E. Apartsin, et al. 2015. "Anticancer siRNA Cocktails as a Novel Tool to Treat Cancer Cells. Part (a). Mechanisms of Interaction." *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 485 (1-2): 261–269. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm. 2015.03.024.
- Jain, N. K., and I. Roy. 2009. "Effect of Trehalose on Protein Structure." *Protein Science* 18 (1): 24–36. doi:10.1002/pro.3.
- Karimov, M., D. Appelhans, A. Ewe, and A. Aigner. 2021. "The Disulfide Cross-Linking Combined and Tyrosine-Modification of Very Low Molecular Weight Linear PEI Synergistically Enhances Transfection Efficacies and Improves Biocompatibility." European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics 161: 56-65. doi:10. 1016/j.ejpb.2021.02.005.
- Karimov, M., M. Schulz, T. Kahl, S. Noske, M. Kubczak, I.
 Gockel, R. Thieme, et al. 2021. "Tyrosine-Modified Linear PEIs for Highly Efficacious and Biocompatible siRNA Delivery in Vitro and in Vivo." Nanomedicine:

Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine 36: 102403-102414. doi:10.1016/j.nano.2021.102403.

- Keil, T. W. M., D. P. Feldmann, G. Costabile, Q. Zhong, S. da Rocha, and O. M. Merkel. 2019. "Characterization of Spray Dried Powders with Nucleic Acid-Containing PEI Nanoparticles." *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics* 143 (August): 61–69. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb. 2019.08.012.
- Kichler, A., C. Leborgne, E. Coeytaux, and O. Danos. 2001. "Polyethylenimine-Mediated Gene Delivery: A Mechanistic Study." *The Journal of Gene Medicine* 3 (2): 135–144. doi: 10.1002/jgm.173.
- Kim, Y. D., T. E. Park, B. Singh, S. Maharjan, Y. J. Choi, P. H. Choung, R. B. Arote, and C. S. Cho. 2015. "Nanoparticle-Mediated Delivery of siRNA for Effective Lung Cancer Therapy." *Nanomedicine* 10 (7): 1165–1188. doi:10.2217/ nnm.14.214.
- Kotterman, M. A., T. W. Chalberg, and D. V. Schaffer. 2015.
 "Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy: Translational and Clinical Outlook." *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering* 17: 63–89. doi:10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071813-104938.
- Kubczak, M., S. Michlewska, M. Karimov, A. Ewe, S. Noske, A. Aigner, M. Bryszewska, and M. Ionov. 2022. "Unmodified and Tyrosine-Modified Polyethylenimines as Potential Carriers for siRNA: Biophysical Characterization and Toxicity." *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 614: 121468. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2022.121468.
- Kwok, A., and S. L. Hart. 2011. "Comparative Structural and Functional Studies of Nanoparticle Formulations for DNA and siRNA Delivery." *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine* 7 (2): 210–219. doi:10.1016/j.nano. 2010.07.005.
- Law, M., M. Jafari, and P. Chen. 2008. "Physicochemical Characterization of SiRNA-Peptide Complexes." *Biotechnology Progress* 24 (4): 957–963. doi:10.1002/btpr.13.
- Liu, Z., Z. Zhang, C. Zhou, and Y. Jiao. 2010. "Hydrophobic Modifications of Cationic Polymers for Gene Delivery." *Progress in Polymer Science* 35 (9): 1144–1162. doi:10.1016/ j.progpolymsci.2010.04.007.
- Lu, S., V. B. Morris, and V. Labhasetwar. 2019. "Effectiveness of Small Interfering RNA Delivery via Arginine-Rich Polyethylenimine-Based Polyplex in Metastatic and Doxorubicin-Resistant Breast Cancer Cells." *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 370 (3): 902–910. doi:10.1124/jpet.119.256909.
- Lungu, C., M. Diudea, M. Putz, and I. Grudziński. 2016. "Linear and Branched PEIs (Polyethylenimines) and Their Property Space." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 17 (4): 555–512. doi:10.3390/ijms17040555.
- Merkel, O. M., A. Beyerle, D. Librizzi, A. Pfestroff, T. M. Behr, B. Sproat, P. J. Barth, and T. Kissel. 2009. "Nonviral siRNA Delivery to the Lung: Investigation of PEG-PEI Polyplexes and Their in Vivo Performance." *Molecular Pharmaceutics* 6 (4): 1246–1260. doi:10.1021/mp900107v.
- Merz, L., S. Höbel, S. Kallendrusch, A. Ewe, I. Bechmann, H. Franke, F. Merz, and A. Aigner. 2017. "European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics Tumor Tissue Slice

Cultures as a Platform for Analyzing Tissue-Penetration and Biological Activities of Nanoparticles." *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics* 112: 45–50. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.11.013.

- Michlewska, S., M. Ionov, M. Maroto-Díaz, A. Szwed, A. Ihnatsyeu-Kachan, S. Loznikova, D. Shcharbin, et al. 2018. "Ruthenium Dendrimers as Carriers for Anticancer siRNA." *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry* 181: 18–27. (September 2017), doi:10.1016/j.jinorgbio.2018.01.001.
- Moghimi, S. M., P. Symonds, J. C. Murray, A. C. Hunter, G. Debska, and A. Szewczyk. 2005. "A Two-Stage Poly(Ethylenimine)-Mediated Cytotoxicity: Implications for Gene Transfer/Therapy." *Molecular Therapy* 11 (6): 990–995. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.02.010.
- Monnery, B. D., M. Wright, R. Cavill, R. Hoogenboom, S. Shaunak, J. H. G. Steinke, and M. Thanou. 2017. "Cytotoxicity of Polycations: Relationship of Molecular Weight and the Hydrolytic Theory of the Mechanism of Toxicity." *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 521 (1-2): 249–258. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.02.048.
- Noske, S., M. Karimov, A. Aigner, and A. Ewe. 2020. "Tyrosine-Modification of Polypropylenimine (PPI) and Polyethylenimine (PEI) Strongly Improves Efficacy of Sirna-Mediated Gene Knockdown." *Nanomaterials* 10 (9): 1809–1816. doi:10.3390/nano10091809.
- Pandey, A. P., and K. K. Sawant. 2016. "Polyethylenimine : A Versatile, Multifunctional Non-Viral Vector for Nucleic Acid Delivery." *Materials Science & Engineering. C, Materials for Biological Applications* 68: 904–918. doi:10.1016/j.msec. 2016.07.066.
- Plyte, S. E., and G. G. Kneale. 1991. "The Role of Tyrosine Residues in the DNA-Binding Site of the Pf1 Gene 5 Protein." *Protein Engineering* 4 (5): 553–560. doi:10.1093/ protein/4.5.553.
- Raval, N., H. Jogi, P. Gondaliya, K. Kalia, and R. K. Tekade. 2019. "Method and Its Composition for Encapsulation, Stabilization, and Delivery of siRNA in Anionic Polymeric Nanoplex: An in vitro- In Vivo Assessment." Scientific Reports 9 (1): 1–18. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-52390-4.
- Rodier, J. T., R. Tripathi, M. K. Fink, A. Sharma, M. Korampally, S. Gangopadhyay, E. A. Giuliano, P. R. Sinha, and R. R. Mohan. 2019. "Linear Polyethylenimine-DNA Nanoconstruct for Corneal Gene Delivery." *Journal of Ocular Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 35 (1): 23–31. doi:10.1089/jop.2018.0024.
- Rodríguez-Prieto, T., S. Michlewska, M. Hołota, M. Ionov, F. J. de la Mata, J. Cano, M. Bryszewska, and R. Gómez. 2021. "Organometallic Dendrimers Based on Ruthenium(II) N-Heterocyclic Carbenes and Their Implication as Delivery Systems of Anticancer Small Interfering RNA." *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry* 223: 111540. (June). doi:10.1016/j. jinorgbio.2021.111540.
- Sadeghpour, H., B. Khalvati, E. Entezar-Almahdi, N. Savadi, S. Hossaini Alhashemi, M. Raoufi, and A. Dehshahri. 2018.
 "Double Domain Polyethylenimine-Based Nanoparticles for Integrin Receptor Mediated Delivery of Plasmid DNA." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 1–12. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-25277-z.

- Sang, Y., K. Xie, Y. Mu, Y. Lei, B. Zhang, S. Xiong, Y. Chen, and N. Qi. 2015. "Salt lons and Related Parameters Affect PEI–DNA Particle Size and Transfection Efficiency in Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells." *Cytotechnology* 67 (1): 67–74. doi:10.1007/s10616-013-9658-z.
- Sanz del Olmo, N., M. Holota, S. Michlewska, R. Gomez, P. Ortega, M. Ionov, F. J. De la Mata, and M. Bryszewska. 2020. "Copper (II) Metallodendrimers Combined with Pro-Apoptotic siRNAs as a Promising Strategy against Breast Cancer Cells." *Pharmaceutics* 12 (8): 727–714. doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics12080727.
- Saqafi, B., and F. Rahbarizadeh. 2019. "Polyethyleneimine-Polyethylene Glycol Copolymer Targeted by anti-HER2 Nanobody for Specific Delivery of Transcriptionally Targeted tBid Containing Construct." *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology* 47 (1): 501–511. doi:10. 1080/21691401.2018.1549063.
- Sig, J., K. Nam, J. Park, J. Kim, J. Lee, and J. Park. 2004. "Enhanced Transfection Efficiency of PAMAM Dendrimer by Surface Modification with L-Arginine." *Journal of Controlled Release* 99 (3): 445–456. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.07.027.

- Song, Y., C. Tang, and C. Yin. 2018. "Combination Antitumor Immunotherapy with VEGF and PIGF siRNA via Systemic Delivery of Multi-Functionalized Nanoparticles to Tumor-Associated Macrophages and Breast Cancer Cells." *Biomaterials* 185 (July): 117–132. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.09.017.
- Wang, F., K. Hu, and Y. Cheng. 2016. "Structure-Activity Relationship of Dendrimers Engineered with Twenty Common Amino Acids in Gene Delivery." Acta Biomaterialia 29: 94–102. doi:10.1016/j.actbio.2015.10. 034.
- Wigner, P., K. Zielinski, S. Michlewska, P. Danielska, A. Marczak, E. J. Ricci, R. Santos-Oliveira, and M. Szwed. 2021.
 "Disturbance of Cellular Homeostasis as a Molecular Risk Evaluation of Human Endothelial Cells Exposed to Nanoparticles." *Scientific Reports* 11 (1): 1–16. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-83291-0.
- Yu, Qing-Ying, Yu-Rong Zhan, Ji Zhang, Chao-Ran Luan, Bing Wang, and Xiao-Qi Yu. 2017. "Aromatic Modification of Low Molecular Weight PEI for Enhanced Gene Delivery." *Polymers* 9 (8): 362–312. doi:10.3390/polym9080362.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/colsurfb



The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – Thermodynamic and spectroscopic study

Małgorzata Kubczak^{a,*}, Marika Grodzicka^{a,b}, Sylwia Michlewska^{a,c}, Michael Karimov^d, Alexander Ewe^d, Achim Aigner^d, Maria Bryszewska^a, Maksim Ionov^a

^a Department of General Biophysics, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland, PomorskaStr. 141/143, 90–236 Lodz, Poland

^b BioMedChem Doctoral School of the UL and Lodz Institutes of the Polish Academy of Science, Banacha 12/16, 90–237 Lodz, Poland

^c Laboratory of Microscopic Imaging and Specialized Biological Techniques, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland, Banacha 12/ 16, 90–237 Lodz, Poland

^d Rudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Leipzig University, Germany, Härtelstrasse 16–18, 04107 Leipzig, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Human serum albumin Tyrosine modified polyethyleneimines Circular dichroism Thermodynamics

ABSTRACT

The interaction of proteins with nanoparticle components are crucial for the evaluation of nanoparticle function, toxicity and biodistribution. Polyethyleneimines (PEIs) with defined tyrosine modifications are a class of novel polymers designed for improved siRNA delivery. Their interactions with biomacromolecules are still poorly described. This paper analyzes the interaction of different tyrosine-modified PEIs with human serum albumin as the most abundant serum protein. The ability of tyrosine modified, linear or branched PEIs to bind human serum albumin (HSA) was analyzed and further characterized. The interaction with hydrophobic parts of protein were studied using 1- nilinonaphthalene-8-sulfonic acid (ANS) and changes in the HSA secondary structure were evaluated using circular dichroism (CD). Complex formation and sizes were studied by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and dynamic light scattering methods (DLS). We demonstrate that tyrosine modified PEIs are able to bind human serum albumin. Based on thermodynamic studies, van der Waals interaction. H-bonding and hydrophobic interactions are determined as main molecular forces involved in complex formation. Analysis of secondary structures. Complex formation was confirmed by TEM and DLS. These findings are crucial for understanding polymer-protein interactions and the properties of nanoparticles.

1. Introduction

Almost all routes of administration for nanoparticles (NPs) are associated with the contact between blood components and the administrated material [1]. Blood proteins immediately cover nanoparticles what can lead to the changes in pharmacokinetics, biodistribution and metabolism [2–5]. So called protein corona on the NPs surface dynamically changes over time, although human serum albumin (HSA), fibrinogen and immunoglobulins seem ubiquitously found components of tightly-bound hard protein corona [6].

Among all blood proteins, albumins represents the most abundant group [7]. They are responsible for transport and delivery of endogenous and exogenous substances, also drugs and nanoparticles [8,9]. Human serum albumin is a single peptide chain of 585 amino acids and molecular mass around 67 000 Da. HSA consists of three α -helical domains and is stabilized by 17 disulfide bonds [10]. The structure of HSA is similar to heart-shaped form with length and height around 8 nm and 3 nm, respectively [11]. Due to the presence of hydrophobic cavity HSA plays an important role in drug delivery [12]. Albumin is able to bind to a wide range of compounds, like fatty acids, hemin, bilirubin and hormones. Many of commonly used drugs bind to HSA, to the primary sites in subdomains IIA and IIIA [8,13–15].

Adsorption of proteins onto nanoparticles surface may lead to the conformational changes and alteration in protein function [16–21]. Interaction between proteins and nanoparticles depend on NPs surface properties and the nature of the protein [3,6]. Conformational changes include unfolding, aggregation, loss of activity, presence of intermediate states and denaturation [11,16,22,23]. Some studies demonstrated that

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: malgorzata.kubczak@biol.uni.lodz.pl (M. Kubczak).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2023.113359

Received 4 April 2023; Received in revised form 10 May 2023; Accepted 16 May 2023 Available online 16 May 2023

0927-7765/© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

interaction led to the fibrillation of proteins [24].

Tyrosine-modified PEIs are a class of cationic nanoparticles, designed for nucleic acid delivery. In comparison to a non-modified PEIs, they have shown reduced toxicity and a higher efficiency in gene delivery (especially smaller nucleic acids like siRNA, miRNA) [25–27]. Due to the combination of positive charge and proton sponge effect in endolysosomes, PEIs are considered as one of the most promising vehicles [28]. Little is known about their interaction with biomacromolecules what constitute a drawback in the understanding of PEIs mechanism of toxicity [29]. To be useful in bioapplications, polymers should not cause adverse effects on the structure of human serum albumin [26].

The main goal of this work was to investigate interactions between tyrosine-modified PEIs, linear and branched, with different molecular weight and human serum albumin. Alterations in protein structure, type of interactions, thermodynamic parameters were calculated.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

Linear, non-modified PEIs were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany. Branched 5 kDa PEI was a kind gift from BASF, Ludwigshafen, Germany. 10 kDa PEI (Cat. 25414–2) and uranyl acetate (Cat. 10417) was obtained from Polysciences, Eppelheim, Germany. Tyrosine modification was introduced to the polymer structure according to the previously published protocols [26,27,30,31]. L-tryptophan (Cat.T0254), human serum albumin (Cat. A3782, >99% purity), 1- nilinonaphthalene-8-sulfonic acid ANS (Cat. 10417) were obtained from Merck, Darmstadt, Germany. Dimethyl sulfoxide DMSO (Cat. 113635509), disodium hydrophosphate (Cat. 117992300) and sodium dihydrophosphate (Cat. 117992004) were purchased from Chempur, Piekary Ślaskie, Poland.

2.2. Fluorescence spectroscopy

Fresh solutions of HSA were prepared. Albumin was dissolved in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer in a stock solution at 10 mg/mL, with a subsequent dilution to 50 µg/mL (0.075 µM). Fluorescence intensity measurements (Perkin-Elmer LS-55B, UK) were performed to analyze interactions between HSA and polymers. Fluorescence spectra were registered at 305–460 nm. Scan speed, excitation and emission slits were set at 50 nm/min and 5.0 nm, respectively. Tryptophan fluorescence was excited at $\lambda exc = 295$ nm. Measurements were conducted in 30, 33 and 37 °C. Small volumes of polymers were used to make sure that dilution effect is negligible. As polymers did not absorbed UV light in the wavelengths of choice the inner filter effect correction was not introduced [32,33].

Interactions between polymers and hydrophobic parts of albumin were analyzed using 1-anilinonaphthalene-8-sulfonic acid (ANS). ANS was dissolved in DMSO at a stock solution of 10 mmol/L, with a final concentration of 5 μ mol/L. Fluorescence spectra were read at 37 °C, between 400 and 600 nm (scanning speed 50 nm/min., λ exc. = 370 nm, excitation slit 5 nm, emission slit 2.5 nm).

L-Tryptophan was dissolved in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer at a concentration of 0.5 μM . The excitation wavelength of 295 nm was used and the emission spectra were recorded from 300 to 440 nm at 37 °C. The excitation and emission slit width were 5.0, respectively. Next, increasing concentrations of polymers were added and fluorescence spectra were recorded.

2.3. Circular dichroism (CD)

The CD spectra of HSA/polymer complexes were measured with a Jasco J-815 CD spectrometer (Oklahoma, Japan). The recording parameters were as follows: scan speed 50 nm/min, step resolution 1 nm,

response time 2 s, bandwidth 1.0 nm, slit auto. Spectra have shown the average of a minimum of 3 independent scans. CD spectra were corrected against the baseline where the buffer with maximal concentration of polymers was measured, without HSA. The mean residue ellipticity, Θ , expressed as [cm² dmol⁻¹], was calculated using software provided by Jasco. Percentage changes in secondary structure of HSA on the basis of CD spectra were determined using CDNN software (by Dr. Gerald Böhm, Institute of Biotechnology, Martin-Luther University of Halle-Wittenberg).

2.4. Z-Size measurements

Hydrodynamic diameters of complexes were measured by the dynamic light scattering technique (DLS) using a zetasizer Nano ZS, Malvern, UK. Measurements were made with a pure protein 5 μ g/mL and protein/polymer complexes formed in the presence of increasing concentration of polymers in 10 mM phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, at 37 °C. Particle size was measured from the average 7–9 cycles. The laser light was set at 633 nm. Malvern software was used to analyze the data.

2.5. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

The effect of polymers on morphology of HSA was examined by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Images were obtained with a JEOL-10 (JEOL Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) microscope. To form the complexes, polymers were added to HSA dissolved in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer. The complexes were placed on a carbon surface of 200-mesh copper grid (Ted Pella, Inc) and incubated for 10 min before being drained with blotting paper. The grids were negatively stained with 2% (w/v) uranyl acetate for 2 min. Images were taken at a magnification of from 50,000 to 100,000.

2.6. Statistical analysis

All results were obtained from at least 3 independent experiments and were presented as mean \pm SD. Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA (Friedman ANOVA and Kruskall Walis test with post-hoc analysis) and two-way ANOVA. Significance levels were defined as * p < 0.05; * * p < 0.01 and * ** p < 0.001.

3. Results

3.1. Fluorescence spectroscopy

Binding parameters and the nature of HSA-polymer interactions were determined by measuring the intrinsic fluorescence of HSA in the presence of various polymer concentrations. The fluorescence emission spectra of HSA (10 mmol/L in phosphate buffer, pH 7.4) at different molar ratios of tyrosine-modified polymers are shown in (Fig S1, S2). It was observed that linear PEIs showed generally higher affinities towards HSA molecules (> 10^5 M^{-1}) than branched PEIs (> 10^4 M^{-1}) (Table 1). A decrease in Stern Volmer quenching constant values was observed with increasing temperature. In order to evaluate the differences in the interactions between albumin and polymers in different temperatures statistical analysis was performed. LP10Y interaction with HSA was significantly stronger than interactions of other polymers in all investigated temperatures (p < 0.001). LP 5Y compared with P 5Y exhibited significant difference in 303 K (p < 0.001), In 306 and 310 K the differences were still significant, however p value was higher (p < 0.05). LP 5Y interactions were also significantly different from P 10Y interactions in 303 K (p < 0.01) and 306 K (p < 0.05). In 310 K, the differences were seen, but not significant. Comparison between P 5Y and P 10Y has shown no statistically significant differences between these groups in 303, 306 and 310 K.

In order to evaluate the mechanism of fluorescence quenching, the fluorescent data were analyzed by using the Stern-Volmer equation [34,

Table 1

Stern Volmer quenching constant (K_{sv}) and bimolecular quenching constant (k_q) values of HSA interactions with different polymers, i.e., linear (LP) or branched (P), tyrosine-modified (Y) 5 or 10 kDa PEIs, at different temperatures. R^2 - correlation coefficient. Thermodynamic parameters for HSA-polymer interactions and the nature of predominant interactions predicted from these parameters. Results presented as mean + /- SD from three independent exeptiments.

Polymer	Temp. [K]	Ksv [M ⁻¹]	$kq [M^{-1} s^{-1}]$	R ²	ΔH ⁰ [kJ/mol]	ΔS ⁰ [kJ/mol*K]	ΔG° [kJ/mol]	R ²	Predominant interaction
LP 5Y	303	$3.5\pm0.61\times\!\!105$	$7.0\pm0.77\times\!1013$	0.93	$\textbf{-50.3} \pm \textbf{9.78}$	$\textbf{-0.076} \pm \textbf{0.03}$	$\textbf{-32.1}\pm0.46$	0.90	Van der Waals and H-bonding
	306	$2.5\pm0.66\times\!\!105$	$5.0\pm0.49\times\!\!1013$	0.97			$\textbf{-31.8} \pm \textbf{0.38}$		
	310	$2.2\pm0.57\times\!\!105$	$4.5\pm0.54\times\!\!1013$	0.96			$\textbf{-31.6} \pm \textbf{0.27}$		
LP 10Y	303	$7.4\pm0.29\times\!\!105$	$1.5\pm0.29\times\!\!1014$	0.91	$\textbf{-7.7} \pm \textbf{3.04}$	0.086 ± 0.01	$\textbf{-33.8} \pm \textbf{0.76}$	0.97	Hydrophobic and H- bonding
	306	$7.1\pm0.33\times\!\!105$	$1.4\pm0.33\times\!\!1014$	0.90			$\textbf{-34.1}\pm\textbf{0.79}$		
	310	$6.9\pm0.32\times\!\!105$	$1.4\pm0.33\times\!\!1014$	0.88			$\textbf{-34.4} \pm \textbf{0.82}$		
P 5Y	303	$3.2\pm0.96\times\!\!104$	$6.4\pm0.36\times\!\!1012$	0.97	$\textbf{-36.4} \pm \textbf{15.0}$	$\textbf{-0.16} \pm \textbf{0.048}$	$\textbf{-26.1} \pm \textbf{0.34}$	0.99	Van der Waals and H-bonding
	306	$2.7\pm0.55\times\!104$	$5.4\pm0.36\times\!\!1012$	0.99			$\textbf{-26.0} \pm \textbf{0.19}$		
	310	$2.3\pm0.59\times\!\!104$	$4.6\pm0.59\times\!\!1012$	0.96			$\textbf{-25.9} \pm \textbf{0.02}$		
P 10Y	303	$5.9\pm0.61\times\!\!104$	$1.2\pm0.13\times\!\!1013$	0.98	$\textbf{-32.1} \pm \textbf{9.2}$	$\textbf{-0.043} \pm \textbf{0.023}$	$\textbf{-27.7} \pm \textbf{0.14}$	0.99	Van der Waals and H-bonding
	306	$5.0\pm0.90\times\!\!104$	$1.0\pm0.09\times\!\!1013$	0.97			$\textbf{-27.6} \pm \textbf{0.15}$		
	310	$\textbf{4.4} \pm \textbf{0.56} \times \textbf{104}$	$8.9\pm2.45\times\!\!1012$	0.93			$\textbf{-27.5} \pm \textbf{0.21}$		

35]. The plots of F_0/F vs. Q were linear for all polymers at all temperatures, indicating that static or dynamic quenching may occur (Fig. 1A). The K_{sv} values were obtained from the slope of the linear regression of Stern-Volmer plots. Quenching rate constants were obtained from the Equation 1:

$$\frac{F_0}{F} = 1 + K_{SV}[Q] = k_q \tau_0$$

with F_0 , fluorescence of the protein without the quencher; F, fluorescence of the protein in the presence of the quencher; K_{SV} , quenching constant, Q, concentration of the quencher and k_q bimolecular quenching constant. The value of an average lifetime (τ_0) of the protein fluorescence was 10^{-8} s. All k_q values were greater than the maximum of diffusion-controlled quenching mechanism $(10^{10}\ M^{-1}s^{-1})$, suggesting that the mechanism of quenching was static. Static quenching was also confirmed by temperature variations. In the case of a static quenching mechanism, k_q values decrease with increasing temperature. This decrease in k_q values was seen for all polymers, additionally confirming the static mechanism of quenching.

Thermodynamic analysis of the polymer-HSA complexes were performed in order to describe intermolecular forces involved in complex formation. The standard enthalpy (ΔH^0), standard entropy (ΔS^0) and Gibbs free energy (ΔG^0) were obtained by plotting the logarithm of the binding constants (ln K_{sv}) vs. the reciprocal temperature 1/K (Fig. 1B). Thermodynamic parameters were calculated according to the equations:

$$\ln K = \frac{\Delta H^0}{RT} + \frac{\Delta S^0}{R}$$

$$\Delta G^0 = \Delta H^0 - T \Delta S^0$$

The results revealed that enthalpy values for all polymer-HSA complexes were negative and entropy values were negative as well, except for polymer LP10Y where entropy was positive. Gibbs free energy values were negative (Table 1).

1-anilinonaphthalene-8-sulfonic acid (ANS) added to HSA was used in order to evaluate polymer-induced alterations in the albumin hydrophobic pocket. Indeed, fluorescence intensity of ANS decreased with increasing polymer concentrations (Fig. 2). Furthermore, a slight "red shift" of the fluorescence maximum was observed when polymers were added to the ANS-HSA complex.

Next, we investigated polymer binding affinities to L-tryptophan, which is an amino acid abundantly found in most proteins, including albumin. In all cases, a decrease in tryptophan fluorescence intensity was detected upon mixing with the different tyrosine-modified polymers (Fig. S3,S4). The respective Stern Volmer quenching constant was calculated from the Stern-Volmer equation (Fig. 3) with F₀, fluorescence of the protein without the quencher; F, fluorescence of the protein in the presence of the quencher; K_{sv}, quenching constant and Q, concentration

of the quencher. The quenching constants were higher for LP 10Y $(4.8 \times 10^5 \text{ M}^{-1})$ and P 10Y $(3.6 \times 10^5 \text{ M}^{-1})$ than for LP 5Y $(2.2 \times 10^5 \text{ M}^{-1})$ and P 5Y $(1.9 \times 10^5 \text{ M}^{-1})$. The differences in the interactions between polymers and albumin were not statistically significant, except LP 10Y which exhibited significant difference from P 5Y (p < 0.001).

3.2. CD measurements

Far UV CD spectra revealed alterations in the secondary structure of HSA upon addition of the polymers (Figs. 4-5). The HSA spectrum is characterized by two negative bands around 210 and 222 nm and indicates that mostly α -helix domains are present [36]. When linear or branched polymers were added to the protein, a loss of α -helix structure was observed. These changes were more profound when branched polymers were used. In parallel, a slight increase in the percentages of β-turn and random coil structures was observed. α-helix loss was statistically significant for LP 5Y complexes (p < 0.05 for 1:5 ratio and P < 0.01 for 1:10 ratio). Due to more profound changes in case of branched polymers the changes in α-helix and random coil content were considered significant. The loss of α -helix was considered significant at 1:10 ratio (p < 0.01)for both P 5Y and P 10Y. Random coil content was significant at 1:10 ratio in P 5Y and P 10Y (p < 0.05). No statistically significant changes in the protein structure were seen when LP 10Y was tested.

3.3. Size measurements

The ability of tyrosine modified polymers to form complexes with HSA was confirmed by size measurements (Fig. 6A, D). Particle sizes of human serum albumin in phosphate buffer were around 6 – 7 nm. When the polymers were added, the formation of larger particles was observed (Fig. 6B, C, E, F). Depending on the type of polymer, the size of these complexes varied from 100 to 200 nm for linear polymers and 500 – 800 nm for branched polymers. Based on the PDI values for the HSA/ polymer complexes determined at < 0.5, the solution of HSA and polymers was considered as monodisperse. Statistical analysis revealed that all polymers created structures significantly larger than human serum albumin molecule, starting from 1:1 ratio.

3.4. TEM analysis

The impact of PEIs on the morphology of HSA was also examined by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). As shown in Fig. 7, HSA was visible as thin fibrils. This protein morphology, however, was markedly altered in the presence of the polymers. Addition of PEIs to the HSA solution caused the formation of different electron-dense structures. Complexes formed by branched PEIs and HSA were visible as more electron dense structures than those created by linear polymers. TEM



Fig. 1. (A) Stern-Volmer plots of HSA interactions with different linear or branched, tyrosine-modified PEIs, at different temperatures. (B) Van't Hoff plots for HSA-polymer interactions at 303, 306 and 310 K. Results presented as mean + /- SD from three independent experiments.



Fig. 2. Alterations in ANS fluorescence intensity in HSA-ANS solution (red line) upon addition of the indicated polymers (A) LP 5Y, (B) LP 10Y, (C) P 5Y, (D) P 10Y at different HSA+ANS:polymer molar ratios.

results indicate that HSA can bind PEI molecules and form complexes.

4. Discussion

All compounds administered into the bloodstream are almost immediately covered by blood components, including proteins. The binding and composition of proteins will also affect the fate of polymeric nanoparticles after their administration, thus protein-polymer interactions must be well studied and described. Here we present the physicochemical analysis of the interaction of human serum albumin with tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines. HSA is the most abundant protein in the bloodstream and plays a pivotal role in binding low molecular weight compounds as well as in the formation of a protein corona around nanoparticles. It contains one Trp residue (Trp-214), which is located in the IIA domain, in the hydrophobic pocket [37]. Thus, the measurement of differences in the tryptophan fluorescence intensity provide information on the type of interaction and alterations in the protein structure. Indeed, binding affinities of tyrosine-modified PEIs with L-tryptophan revealed profound interaction and a concomitant decrease in fluorescence intensity. The Stern Volmer quenching constants indicated that polymers with higher molecular mass showed higher binding affinities. Previously, tryptophan interactions with PAMAM dendrimers had been studied [8,38] and, in contrast to our results, described an increase in fluorescence intensity and "red-shift".

This was explained as a possible effect of electrostatic interactions between L-tryptophan and PAMAM dendrimers [8] and highlights the differences between PAMAM and our polymers. This was also seen when studying HSA. Fluorescence spectroscopy studies revealed that tyrosine modified PEIs are able to interact with albumin. Stern Volmer constant inform us about the accessibility of human serum albumin to the tyrosine-modified polymers. Plots exhibited a good linearity over the whole tested concentration range what suggests that of only one type of quenching mechanism (dynamic or static). Linear plot suggests the presence of only a single class of fluorophores that are equally accessible to the quencher Differences between linear and branched PEIs binding affinity were observed, indicating that the structure of polymers plays a role in the protein-polymer interaction. LP 10Y and P 10Y binding affinities were found to be higher compared to LP 5Y and P 5Y. Similar results were also obtained by Guo et al. for non-modified PEIs, where binding affinities to albumin increased with molecular mass of the polymer [39]. Stern-Volmer constant for all polymers were in range 10⁴ -10^5 what is in line with Stern-Volmer constant values for HSA/drug interaction in vivo [35]. As long as a Stern-Volmer plot exhibits a linear correlation with increasing quencher concentrations, the mechanism of quenching can be evaluated [10,40]. Two main mechanisms of fluorescence quenching have been described: a dynamic and a static mechanism of quenching [41]. When a collision process between the quencher and the fluorophore occurs, fluorescence is quenched through



 Polymer
 K_{sv} [M⁻¹]
 R²

 LP 5Y
 2.2 ± 0.49 x 10⁵
 0.99

 P 5Y
 1.9 ± 0.16 x 10⁵
 0.99

Polymer	K _{sv} [M ⁻¹]	R²	
LP 10Y	4.8 ± 0.41 × 10 ⁵	0.99	
P 10Y	3.6 ± 0.15 × 10 ⁵	0.99	

Fig. 3. Stern-Volmer plots for free L-tryptophan with increasing concentrations of tyrosine modified PEIs in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer, at 37 °C. Stern Volmer quenching constant values for L-tryptophan-polymer adducts. Results presented as mean + /- SD from three independent experiments.

a dynamic mechanism [42,43]. Dynamic quenching is defined by the Stern-Volmer constant increasing with temperature. On the contrary, when K_{sv} decreases with increasing temperatures, static quenching takes place. Static quenching is caused by a complex formation and K_{sv} decreases because of reduced complex stabilities with increasing temperature [40,44]. In our study, all tyrosine-modified polymers quenched the fluorescence intensity by a static mechanism. Bimolecular quenching constants were above 2×10^{10} M⁻¹ s⁻¹ which is considered as a maximum value for a diffusion-controlled collisional quenching mechanism [10]. This type of quenching was previously seen for other polymers, including non-modified PEIs [23,45–47].

The fundamental molecular interactions in protein binding include hydrogen bonding, van der Waals, hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions. Thermodynamic parameters (ΔH^0 , ΔS^0 , ΔG^0) provide information on the molecular forces involved in complex formation [48]. According to the K_{sv} values obtained in different temperatures, ΔS^0 , ΔG^0 can be calculated using the van't Hoff equation [49]. Depending on the obtained values, the different types of interaction can be distinguished. When $\Delta H^0 < 0$ and $\Delta S^0 < 0$, the main forces engaged in complex formation are van der Waals and hydrogen bonding; when $\Delta H^0 < 0$ and $\Delta S^0 > 0$, hydrophobic forces and hydrogen bonding are predominant forces. Finally, $\Delta H^0 > 0$ and $\Delta S^0 < 0$ indicate electrostatic interactions as main force [40,48,50]. Negative values of enthalpy changes, ΔH^0 , and Gibbs free energy, ΔG^0 , were obtained for all HSA/polymer adducts, indicating that the complexation process was exothermic and spontaneous [10,41]. ΔS^0 is a measure of the disorder in the system. In ligand-protein interaction, entropy measurements are based on two processes: on the one hand, ligand binding to the protein leading to positive entropy values due to the increased freedom of complex, and on the other hand, decrease of freedom and negative entropy values when

the protein getting into the proximity of the ligand [40]. Positive entropy values provide one basis for lowering the standard Gibbs free energy. In our study, only LP 10Y showed alterations in Gibbs free energy based on increased entropy (positive value), in combination with negative enthalpy values. In the case of all other polymers, negative enthalpy values alone led to lower ΔG^0 , rather than higher ΔS^0 , which were in fact negative for LP 5Y, P 5Y and P 10Y.

Circular dichroism analysis is an analytical method which allows to estimate structural changes in the protein structure [51,52]. Human serum albumin has a characteristic profile with two minimal bands around 222 (n – π^* transition) nm and 208 nm (π – π^* transition) [49]. Alterations in albumin secondary structure are very common and have been seen previously with nanoparticles and other compounds [10,16, 49,53,54]. In this work, alterations in the HSA secondary structure were observed as well. The changes in the ellipticity are often related to the changes in protein functionality. We observed the decrease in HSA ellipticity upon addition of polymers with a subsequent loss of helical structure. It can be attributed to the loss of protein stability and unfolding. These were more profound in the case of the branched polymers and consisted of a loss of α -helix in parallel with an increase in β-turn and random coil structures. At higher concentrations, branched polymers clearly affect secondary and probably tertiary structures by denaturation and unfolding of the protein [50]. Linear polymers also caused some minor changes in the α -helix percentage, with a minimal increase in β-turn and random coil structures, which may suggest unfolding processes. Previous studies with non-modified PEIs indicated that they change albumin structure in a minimal way with practically no changes in helical structure [39,46]. Our control experiments with non-modified PEI confirmed these results: in contrast to their tyrosine modified counterparts used in this study, they did not affect secondary



Fig. 4. Alterations in the α -helix structure of HSA (10 mmol/L phosphate buffer) upon addition of the linear, tyrosine-modified polymers LP 5Y (A) or LP 10Y (C) at different HSA:polymer molar ratios. Quantitation of these differences in α -helix, β -turn and random coil percentage in HSA in the presence of LP 5Y (B) or LP 10Y (D). Results presented as mean + /- SD from three independent exeptiments. **- p < 0.01, * - p < 0.05.

structure near 210 nm and did not change α -helix content in albumin, even in higher concentrations (Fig. S5 – S8). This suggests that the tyrosine-modification of PEI may lead to enhanced interactions with proteins.

ANS is a well-known fluorescent dye which can be used for investigating conformational changes related to the translocation of hydrophobic pockets [32]. In aqueous solution, ANS fluorescence is very low with a z maximum intensity around 540 nm. In the presence of HSA, ANS fluorescence intensity increases with an observed blue shift to a maximum intensity around 475 nm [38]. The addition of polymers. however, led to a decrease in ANS fluorescence intensity suggesting that the polymers caused a displacement of ANS from an HSA hydrophobic pocket [14]. The decrease in the fluorescence intensity indicates that the environment around ANS has been changed to more hydrophilic. One of the explanation for this is the translocation of the hydrophobic pocket where ANS binds to albumin. Hydrophobic pocket could be relocated due to polymer addition. Based on the decrease, which can be seen on the graph and circular dichroism data we assume that location of the hydrophobic pocket changes with increasing concentration of polymers. The translocation of the hydrophobic pocket may be attributed to the HSA unfolding process. These findings suggest hydrophobic forces to play a role in the interaction of tyrosine modified PEIs with HSA. A slight "red shift" observed during the experiments further indicates that a translocation of hydrophobic pockets to the protein surface with a more polar environment cannot be excluded [32,55,56]. The vast majority of ligands bind reversibly to the HSA subdomains IIA and IIIA, with

binding affinities ranging from 10^4 to 10^6 M⁻¹ [14]. ANS was found to bind to subdomains IIA and IIIA with a binding affinities of 7.9×10^4 M⁻¹ and 8.7×10^5 M⁻¹, respectively. Thus, values are similar to the binding constants for tyrosine modified PEIs. Subdomain IIIA binding properties are less specific than those of subdomain IIA. The tryptophan residue in HSA is located in the subdomain IIA and is well described for studying van der Waals interactions at that site [14]. Our results indicate that tyrosine modified polymers can bind to the sites where usually ANS binds in HSA.

Z-size measurements and TEM analyses were performed in order to further evaluate the complex formation between human serum albumin and the polymers. We confirmed that pure HSA in solution possesses a mean diameter of around 7 - 12 nm and in dry state is observed as thin fibrils in TEM. These findings were consistent with a literature [49]. Upon addition of polymers, the HSA peak around 10 nm disappeared and larger structures were found, suggesting complex formation based on interactions between the polymers and HSA. However, it should be noted that tyrosine-modified PEIs are also able to form self-aggregates in the absence of HSA (Suppl. Fig. 9-10), which, of note, can be distinguished from the HSA-polymer complexes by differences in PDI and in size. More specifically, LP 5Y and P 10Y formed complexes with HSA with sizes similar to the LP 5Y and P 10Y self-aggregates, but higher PDI values. This may be caused by the kinetics of the complex formation process and poor stability of the LP5Y/HSA and P10Y/HSA complexes. To the contrary, in the case of LP 10Y self-aggregates presented with a high PDI, suggesting a broad range of size populations. In complex with



Fig. 5. Alterations in the α -helix structure of HSA (10 mmol/L phosphate buffer) upon addition of the branched, tyrosine-modified polymers P 5Y (A) or P 10Y (C) at different HSA:polymer molar ratios. Quantitation of these differences in α -helix, β -turn and random coil percentage in HSA in the presence of P 5Y (B) or P 10Y (D). Results presented as mean + /- SD from three independent exeptiments. **- p < 0.01, * - p < 0.05.

HSA, the size values were similar to LP 10Y self-aggregates, but with a lower PDI corresponding to more homogenous particle sizes. This may be attributed to a higher binding affinity of LP 10Y to human serum albumin, compared to other polymers. Finally, complexes of P 5Y with HSA were larger in size than the P 5Y self-aggregates, with a similar range of PDI values. It seems that P 5Y forms a heterogeneous size population, alone as well as in combination with HSA. Another important issue related to size distribution and values are buffer conditions. Ionic strength and pH strongly affect nanoparticles/complex formation [27,57].

Finally, TEM analyses confirmed alterations in the structure of HSA in the presence of PEIs, and thus the interaction between both the protein and the polymer. This is in line with previous studies on other protein and dendrimers [58–60] and also indicates the relevance of these interactions on nanoparticles based on these polymers. It is agreed with results obtained for complexes formed by thrombin and dendrimers.

5. Conclusion

In the present study our aim was to describe the interaction between human serum albumin and tyrosine-modified polymers. Human serum albumin is the most abundant protein in the bloodstream and is responsible for binding and transport of many compounds, including nanoparticles. Protein: polymer complexes were formed, with sizes smaller for linear PEIs than for branched PEIs. Polymers were able to bind to L-tryptophan residues as well as to HSA. Spectrofluoroscopy studies at different temperatures revealed that complexes were spontaneously formed, mainly due to van der Waals interaction and hydrogen bonding. Hydrophobic interactions were involved in complex formation as well, based on the polymers' ability to interact with hydrophobic pockets of HSA. A decrease of α -helix content in HSA was observed upon addition of any of the investigated polymers, however, this effect was more profound in the case of branched PEIs. The results from this work would be helpful for better understanding of the polymer:protein interactions and in the evaluation of the pharmacokinetic profile of the tyrosine-modified complexes in the bloodstream. However, some further studies with a mixture of proteins (human plasma) should be performed in order to describe protein corona effect.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Małgorzata Kubczak: Conceptualization, Methodology / Study design, Validation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review and editing, Visualization, Data curation. Marika Grodzicka: Methodology / Study design, Investigation, Data curation. Sylwia Michlewska: Methodology / Study design, Investigation, Visualization, Data curation. Michael Karimov: Investigation. Alexander Ewe: Investigation, Supervision. Achim Aigner: Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition. Maria Bryszewska: Resources, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition. Maksim Ionov: Conceptualization, Methodology / Study design, Validation, Resources, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition.



Fig. 6. A - Size values (bars) and polydispersity index (PDI; open symbols) of HSA- linear polymer complexes in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer. Size peaks obtained for HSA and HSA/polymer complexes containing LP 5Y (B) and LP 10Y (C) at different HSA:polymer molar ratios in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer. D - Size values (bars) and polydispersity index (PDI; open symbols) of HSA- branched polymer complexes. Size peaks obtained for HSA and HSA/polymer complexes containing P 5Y (E) and P 10Y (F) at different HSA:polymer molar ratios in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer. Results presented as mean + /- SD from three independent experiments. * ** - p < 0.001, * - p < 0.05.



Fig. 7. Transmission electron microscopy images of HSA alone (A) or upon addition of tyrosine modified PEI P 5Y (B), P 10Y (C), LP 5Y (D) or LP 10Y (E). Red arrows point to the complexes (seen as white structures). Molar PEI/protein ratios were set at 1:1 in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer, pH 7.4. For improving the contrast, the colours of the microphotographs have been inverted. Bar = 50 nm.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests: Maria Bryszewska reports financial support was provided by National Science Centre Poland. Achim Aigner reports financial support was provided by German Research Foundation.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a joint grant from the National Science Centre of Poland, project no: 2018/31/F/NZ5/03454 to M.B., and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG; grant number AI 24/24–1 to A. A.) within the "BEETHOVEN LIFE 1" program, and the grant AI 24/21–1 to A.A. The authors are also grateful for funding by grants to M.B. and A. A. from the project "EUROPARTNER" of the Polish National Agency for Academic Exchange (NAWA).

Appendix A. Supporting information

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2023.113359.

References

- [1] F. Pederzoli, G. Tosi, M.A. Vandelli, D. Belletti, F. Forni, B. Ruozi, Protein corona and nanoparticles: how can we investigate on? Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 9 (2017) 1–23, https://doi.org/10.1002/wnan.1467.
- [2] A. Hidalgo, A. Cruz, J. Pérez-Gil, Pulmonary surfactant and nanocarriers: toxicity versus combined nanomedical applications, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 1859 (2017) 1740–1748, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2017.04.019.
- [3] D. Klepac, H. Kostková, S. Petrova, P. Chytil, T. Etrych, S. Kereïche, I. Raška, D. A. Weitz, S.K. Filippov, Interaction of spin-labeled HPMA-based nanoparticles with human blood plasma proteins-the introduction of protein-corona-free polymer nanomedicine, Nanoscale 10 (2018) 6194–6204, https://doi.org/10.1039/ c7nr09355a.
- [4] S. Schöttler, G. Becker, S. Winzen, T. Steinbach, K. Mohr, K. Landfester, V. Mailänder, F.R. Wurm, Protein adsorption is required for stealth effect of poly (ethylene glycol)- and poly(phosphoester)-coated nanocarriers, Nat. Nanotechnol. 11 (2016) 372–377, https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2015.330.
- [5] R.A. Darban, B. Shareghi, A. Asoodeh, J. Chamani, Multi-spectroscopic and molecular modeling studies of interaction between two different angiotensin I converting enzyme inhibitory peptides from gluten hydrolysate and human serum albumin, J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn. 35 (2017) 3648–3662, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 07391102.2016.1264892.
- [6] S.H. De Paoli Lacerda, J.J. Park, C. Meuse, D. Pristinski, M.L. Becker, A. Karim, J. F. Douglas, Interaction of gold nanoparticles with common human blood proteins, ACS Nano 4 (2010) 365–379, https://doi.org/10.1021/nn9011187.
- [7] G. Rabbani, S. Nate, Review: Roles of human serum albumin in prediction, diagnoses and treatment of COVID-19, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 196 (2021) 948–955.
- [8] B. Klajnert, L. Stanisławska, M. Bryszewska, B. Pałecz, Interactions between PAMAM dendrimers and bovine serum albumin, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Proteins Proteom. 1648 (2003) 115–126, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1570-9639(03)00117-1.
- [9] A. Sharifi-Rad, J. Mehrzad, M. Darroudi, M.R. Saberi, J. Chamani, Oil-in-water nanoemulsions comprising Berberine in olive oil: biological activities, binding mechanisms to human serum albumin or holo-transferrin and QMMD simulations, J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn. 39 (2021) 1029–1043, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 07391102.2020.1724568.
- [10] M.M. Yin, W.Q. Chen, Y.Q. Lu, J.Y. Han, Y. Liu, F.L. Jiang, A model beyond protein corona: thermodynamics and binding stoichiometries of the interactions between ultrasmall gold nanoclusters and proteins, Nanoscale 12 (2020) 4573–4585, https://doi.org/10.1039/c9nr09170j.
- [11] G.A. Picó, Thermodynamic features of the thermal unfolding of human serum albumin, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 20 (1997) 63–73, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-8130(96)01153-1.
- [12] G. Rabbani, E.J. Lee, K. Ahmad, M.H. Baig, I. Choi, Binding of tolperisone hydrochloride with human serum albumin: effects on the conformation, thermodynamics, and activity of HSA, Mol. Pharm. 15 (2018) 1445–1456, https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.7b00976.
- [13] A.H. Hegde, B. Sandhya, J. Seetharamappa, Evaluation of binding and thermodynamic characteristics of interactions between a citrus flavonoid hesperitin with protein and effects of metal ions on binding, Mol. Biol. Rep. 38 (2011) 4921–4929, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-010-0634-9.
- [14] H.G. Mahesha, S.A. Singh, N. Srinivasan, A.G.Appu Rao, A spectroscopic study of the interaction of isoflavones with human serum albumin, FEBS J. 273 (2006) 451–467, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2005.05071.x.
- [15] R. Taheri, N. Hamzkanlu, Y. Rezvani, S. Niroumand, F. Samandar, Z. Amiri-Tehranizadeh, M.R. Saberi, J. Chamani, Exploring the HSA/DNA/lung cancer cells binding behavior of p-Synephrine, a naturally occurring phenyl ethanol amine with anti-adipogenic activity: multi spectroscopic, molecular dynamic and cellular approaches, J. Mol. Liq. 368 (2022), 120826, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molliq.2022.120826.
- [16] S. Millan, A. Kumar, L. Satish, B. Susrisweta, P. Dash, H. Sahoo, Insights into the binding interaction between copper ferrite nanoparticles and bovine serum albumin: An effect on protein conformation and activity, Luminescence 33 (2018) 990–998. https://doi.org/10.1002/bio.3499.
- [17] S.R. Saptarshi, A. Duschi, A.L. Lopata, Interaction of nanoparticles with proteins: relation to bio-reactivity of the nanoparticle, J. Nanobiotechnol. 11 (2013) 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-3155-11-26.
- [18] H. Maheri, F. Hashemzadeh, N. Shakibapour, E. Kamelniya, B. Malaekeh-Nikouei, P. Mokaberi, J. Chamani, Glucokinase activity enhancement by cellulose nanocrystals isolated from jujube seed: a novel perspective for type II diabetes mellitus treatment (In vitro), J. Mol. Struct. 1269 (2022), 133803, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.molstruc.2022.133803.

- [19] F. Kalhori, H. Yazdyani, F. Khademorezaeian, N. Hamzkanloo, P. Mokaberi, S. Hosseini, J. Chamani, Enzyme activity inhibition properties of new cellulose nanocrystals from Citrus medica L. pericarp: a perspective of cholesterol lowering, Luminescence 37 (2022) 1836–1845, https://doi.org/10.1002/bio.4360.
- [20] S. Khashkhashi-Moghadam, S. Ezazi-Toroghi, M. Kamkar-Vatanparast, P. Jouyaeian, P. Mokaberi, H. Yazdyani, Z. Amiri-Tehranizadeh, M. Reza Saberi, J. Chamani, Novel perspective into the interaction behavior study of the cyanidin with human serum albumin-holo transferrin complex: Spectroscopic, calorimetric and molecular modeling approaches, J. Mol. Liq. 356 (2022), 119042, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.molliq.2022.119042.
- [21] G. Rabbani, M.J. Khan, A. Ahmad, M.Y. Maskat, R.H. Khan, Effect of copper oxide nanoparticles on the conformation and activity of β-galactosidase, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 123 (2014) 96–105, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. colsurfb.2014.08.035.
- [22] T.A. Wright, J.M. Stewart, R.C. Page, D. Konkolewicz, Extraction of Thermodynamic Parameters of Protein Unfolding using Parallelized Differential Scanning Fluorimetry, (2017). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpclett.6b02894.
- [23] D. Shcharbin, E. Pedziwiatr-Werbicka, T. Serchenya, S. Cyboran-Mikolajczyk, L. Prakhira, V. Abashkin, V. Dzmitruk, M. Ionov, S. Loznikova, I. Shyrochyna, O. Sviridov, C.E. Peña-González, A.B. Gumiel, R. Gómez, F.J. de la Mata, M. Bryszewska, Role of cationic carbosilane dendrons and metallic core of functionalized gold nanoparticles in their interaction with human serum albumin, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 118 (2018) 1773–1780, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijbiomac.2018.07.023.
- [24] A. Sukhanova, S. Poly, S. Bozrova, É. Lambert, M. Ewald, A. Karaulov, M. Molinari, I. Nabiev, Nanoparticles With a Specific Size and Surface Charge Promote Disruption of the Secondary Structure and Amyloid-Like Fibrillation of Human Insulin Under Physiological Conditions, Front. Chem. 7 (2019) 1–13, https://doi. org/10.3389/fchem.2019.00480.
- [25] M. Kubczak, S. Michlewska, M. Karimov, A. Ewe, S. Noske, A. Aigner, M. Bryszewska, M. Ionov, Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: Biophysical characterization and toxicity, Int. J. Pharm. 614 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2022.121468.
- [26] A. Ewe, S. Noske, M. Karimov, A. Aigner, Polymeric nanoparticles based on tyrosine-modified, low molecular weight polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery, Pharmaceutics 11 (2019) 1–18, https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics11110600.
- [27] M. Karimov, M. Schulz, T. Kahl, S. Noske, M. Kubczak, I. Gockel, R. Thieme, T. Büch, A. Reinert, M. Ionov, M. Bryszewska, H. Franke, U. Krügel, A. Ewe, A. Aigner, Tyrosine-modified linear PEIs for highly efficacious and biocompatible siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo, Nanomed. Nanotechnol., Biol. Med Apr 29 (102) (2021) 1–14, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2021.102403.
- [28] M. Günther, J. Lipka, A. Malek, D. Gutsch, W. Kreyling, A. Aigner, Polyethylenimines for RNAi-mediated gene targeting in vivo and siRNA delivery to the lung, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 77 (2011) 438–449, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejpb.2010.11.007.
- [29] B.D. Monnery, M. Wright, R. Cavill, R. Hoogenboom, S. Shaunak, J.H.G. Steinke, M. Thanou, Cytotoxicity of polycations: Relationship of molecular weight and the hydrolytic theory of the mechanism of toxicity, Int. J. Pharm. 521 (2017) 249–258, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.02.048.
- [30] S. Noske, M. Karimov, A. Aigner, A. Ewe, Tyrosine-modification of polypropylenimine (PPI) and polyethylenimine (PEI) strongly improves efficacy of sirna-mediated gene knockdown, Nanomaterials 10 (2020) 1–16, https://doi.org/ 10.3390/nano10091809.
- [31] A. Ewe, S. Przybylski, J. Burkhardt, A. Janke, D. Appelhans, A. Aigner, A novel tyrosine-modified low molecular weight polyethylenimine (P10Y) for ef fi cient siRNA delivery in vitro and in vivo, J. Control. Release 230 (2016) 13–25, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.03.034.
- [32] S. Sekowski, M. Bitiucki, M. Ionov, M. Zdeb, N. Abdulladjanova, R. Rakhimov, S. Mavlyanov, M. Bryszewska, M. Zamaraeva, Influence of valoneoyl groups on the interactions between Euphorbia tannins and human serum albumin, J. Lumin 194 (2018) 170–178, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2017.10.033.
- [33] N. Abdollahpour, V. Soheili, M.R. Saberi, J. Chamani, Investigation of the Interaction Between Human Serum Albumin and Two Drugs as Binary and Ternary Systems, Eur. J. Drug Metab. Pharm. 41 (2016) 705–721, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13318-015-0297-y.
- [34] G. Rabbani, M.H. Baig, E.J. Lee, W.K. Cho, J.Y. Ma, I. Choi, Biophysical Study on the Interaction between Eperisone Hydrochloride and Human Serum Albumin Using Spectroscopic, Calorimetric, and Molecular Docking Analyses, Mol. Pharm. 14 (2017) 1656–1665, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.6b01124.
- [35] G. Rabbani, M.H. Baig, A.T. Jan, E. Ju Lee, M.V. Khan, M. Zaman, A.E.A. Farouk, R. H. Khan, I. Choi, Binding of erucic acid with human serum albumin using a spectroscopic and molecular docking study, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 105 (2017) 1572–1580, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.04.051.
- [36] M. Ishtikhar, G. Rabbani, S. Khan, R.H. Khan, Biophysical investigation of thymoquinone binding to "N" and "B" isoforms of human serum albumin: Exploring the interaction mechanism and radical scavenging activity, RSC Adv. 5 (2015) 18218–18232, https://doi.org/10.1039/c4ra09892g.
- [37] G. Rabbani, S.N. Ahn, Structure, enzymatic activities, glycation and therapeutic potential of human serum albumin: A natural cargo, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 123 (2019) 979–990, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.11.053.
- [38] B. Klajnert, M. Bryszewska, The interaction of tryptophan and ANS with PAMAM dendrimers, Cell. Mol. Biol. Lett. 7 (2002) 1087–1094.
- [39] Z. Guo, Z. Kong, Y. Wei, H. Li, Y. Wang, A. Huang, L. Ma, Effects of gene carrier polyethyleneimines on the structure and binding capability of bovine serum albumin, Spectrochim. Acta - Part A Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc. 173 (2017) 783–791, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2016.10.026.

- [40] L. Bekale, P. Chanphai, S. Sanyakamdhorn, D. Agudelo, H.A. Tajmir-Riahi, Microscopic and thermodynamic analysis of PEG-β-lactoglobulin interaction, RSC Adv. 4 (2014) 31084–31093, https://doi.org/10.1039/c4ra03303e.
- [41] C.G. Chilom, M. Bacalum, M.M. Stanescu, M. Florescu, Insight into the interaction of human serum albumin with folic acid: A biophysical study, Spectrochim. Acta -Part A Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc. 204 (2018) 648–656, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. saa.2018.06.093.
- [42] T.I. Chandel, G. Rabbani, M.V. Khan, M. Zaman, P. Alam, Y.E. Shahein, R. Hasan Khan, Binding of anti-cardiovascular drug to serum albumin: an insight in the light of spectroscopic and computational approaches, J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn. 36 (2018) 54–67, https://doi.org/10.1080/07391102.2016.1266968.
- [43] S. Afrin, Riyazuddeen, G. Rabbani, R.H. Khan, Spectroscopic and calorimetric studies of interaction of methimazole with human serum albumin, J. Lumin 151 (2014) 219–223, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2014.02.028.
- [44] E. Ahmad, G. Rabbani, N. Zaidi, M.A. Khan, A. Qadeer, M. Ishtikhar, S. Singh, R. H. Khan, Revisiting ligand-induced conformational changes in proteins: Essence, advancements, implications and future challenges, J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn. 31 (2013) 630–648, https://doi.org/10.1080/07391102.2012.706081.
- [45] Z. Guo, Z. Kong, Y. Wei, H. Li, Y. Wang, A. Huang, L. Ma, Effects of gene carrier polyethyleneimines on the structure and binding capability of bovine serum albumin, Spectrochim. Acta - Part A Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc. 173 (2017) 783–791, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2016.10.026.
- [46] S. Chakraborti, P. Joshi, D. Chakravarty, V. Shanker, Z.A. Ansari, S.P. Singh, P. Chakrabarti, Interaction of polyethyleneimine-functionalized ZnO nanoparticles with bovine serum albumin, Langmuir 28 (2012) 11142–11152, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/la3007603.
- [47] M.M. Yin, W.Q. Chen, Y.Q. Lu, J.Y. Han, Y. Liu, F.L. Jiang, A model beyond protein corona: Thermodynamics and binding stoichiometries of the interactions between ultrasmall gold nanoclusters and proteins, Nanoscale 12 (2020) 4573–4585, https://doi.org/10.1039/c9nr09170j.
- [48] N. Syamila, A. Syahir, S. Ikeno, W.S. Tan, H. Ahmad, A. Ahmad Tajudin, Interaction study of peptide-PAMAM as potential bio-nanogate for detecting antihepatitis B surface antigen, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 185 (2020), 110623, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2019.110623.
- [49] X. Xu, X. Mao, Y. Wang, D. Li, Z. Du, W. Wu, L. Jiang, J. Yang, J. Li, Study on the interaction of graphene oxide-silver nanocomposites with bovine serum albumin and the formation of nanoparticle-protein corona, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 116 (2018) 492–501, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.05.043.
- [50] H.M. Zhang, K. Lou, J. Cao, Y.Q. Wang, Interaction of a hydrophobicfunctionalized pamam dendrimer with bovine serum albumin: Thermodynamic and structural changes, Langmuir 30 (2014) 5536–5544, https://doi.org/10.1021/ la501129y.

- [51] G. Rabbani, J. Kaur, E. Ahmad, R.H. Khan, S.K. Jain, Structural characteristics of thermostable immunogenic outer membrane protein from Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 98 (2014) 2533–2543, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00253-013-5123-3.
- [52] A. Varshney, G. Rabbani, G. Badr, R.H. Khan, Cosolvents induced unfolding and aggregation of keyhole limpet hemocyanin, Cell Biochem. Biophys. 69 (2014) 103–113, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12013-013-9776-4.
- [53] M. Holota, J. Magiera, S. Michlewska, M. Kubczak, N.S. Del Olmo, S. García-Gallego, P. Ortega, F.J. De La Mata, M. Ionov, M. Bryszewska, In vitro anticancer properties of copper metallodendrimers, Biomolecules 9 (2019) 1–15, https://doi. org/10.3390/biom9040155.
- [54] S. Sekowski, M. Ionov, N. Abdulladjanova, R. Makhmudov, S. Mavlyanov, K. Milowska, M. Bryszewska, M. Zamaraeva, Interaction of α-synuclein with Rhus typhina tannin – Implication for Parkinson's disease, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 155 (2017) 159–165, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.04.007.
- [55] G. Rabbani, E. Ahmad, N. Zaidi, S. Fatima, R.H. Khan, PH-induced molten globule state of rhizopus niveus lipase is more resistant against thermal and chemical denaturation than its native state, Cell Biochem. Biophys. 62 (2012) 487–499, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12013-011-9335-9.
- [56] G. Rabbani, I. Choi, Roles of osmolytes in protein folding and aggregation in cells and their biotechnological applications, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 109 (2018) 483–491, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.12.100.
- [57] L. Mazzaferro, J.D. Breccia, M.M. Andersson, B. Hitzmann, R. Hatti-Kaul, Polyethyleneimine-protein interactions and implications on protein stability, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 47 (2010) 15–20, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. iibiomac.2010.04.003.
- [58] D. Shcharbin, M. Ionov, V. Abashkin, S. Loznikova, V. Dzmitruk, N. Shcharbina, L. Matusevich, K. Milowska, K. Gałecki, S. Wysocki, M. Bryszewska, Nanoparticle corona for proteins: Mechanisms of interaction between dendrimers and proteins, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 134 (2015) 377–383, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. colsurfb.2015.07.017.
- [59] A. Szwed, K. Milowska, M. Ionov, D. Shcharbin, S. Moreno, R. Gomez-Ramirez, F. J. De La Mata, J.P. Majoral, M. Bryszewska, T. Gabryelak, Interaction between dendrimers and regulatory proteins. Comparison of effects of carbosilane and carbosilane-viologen-phosphorus dendrimers, RSC Adv. 6 (2016) 97546–97554, https://doi.org/10.1039/c6ra16558c.
- [60] M. Ionov, A. Ihnatsyeu-Kachan, S. Michlewska, N. Shcharbina, D. Shcharbin, J. P. Majoral, M. Bryszewska, Effect of dendrimers on selected enzymes - Evaluation of nano carriers, Int. J. Pharm. 499 (2016) 247–254, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpharm.2015.12.056.

The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – thermodynamic and spectroscopic study.

Małgorzata Kubczak¹, Marika Grodzicka^{1,2}, Sylwia Michlewska^{1,3}, Michael Karimov⁴, Alexander Ewe⁴, Achim Aigner⁴, Maria Bryszewska¹, Maksim Ionov¹

¹Department of General Biophysics, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland, PomorskaStr. 141/143, 90-236 Lodz. <u>malgorzata.kubczak@biol.uni.lodz.pl</u>, <u>maria.bryszewska@biol.uni.lodz.pl</u>, <u>maksim.ionov@biol.uni.lodz.pl</u>

² BioMedChem Doctoral School of the UL and Lodz Institutes of the Polish Academy of Science, Banacha 12/16, 90-237 Lodz, Poland, <u>marika.grodzicka@edu.uni.lodz.pl</u>

³Laboratory of Microscopic Imaging and Specialized Biological Techniques, Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection, University of Lodz, Poland, Banacha 12/16, 90-237 Lodz. sylwia.michlewska@biol.uni.lodz.pl

⁴Rudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Leipzig University, Germany, Härtelstrasse 16-18, 04107 Leipzig. <u>michaelkarimov1990@gmail.com</u>, <u>alexander.ewe@medizin.uni-leipzig.de</u>, <u>achim.aigner@medizin.uni-leipzig.de</u>



Figure S1. Fluorescence intensity spectra of HSA (0.075 μ M) upon addition of increasing concentrations of LP 5Y (A - C) and P 5Y (D - F) at different temperatures. Fluorescence intensities of buffer and polymer used in the highest concentration are shown by the black and red lines, respectively.



Figure S2. Fluorescence intensity spectra of HSA (0.075 μ M) upon addition of increasing concentrations of LP 10Y (A – C) and P 10Y (D – F) at different temperatures. Fluorescence intensities of buffer and polymer used in the highest concentration are shown by the black and red lines, respectively.



Figure S3. Fluorescence intensity spectra of L-tryptophan (0.5 μ M) with increasing HSA:polymer molar ratios, Na-phosphate buffer 10 mmol/L, pH 7.4.



Figure S4. Fluorescence intensity spectra of L-tryptophan (0.5 μ M) with increasing HSA:polymer molar ratios, Na-phosphate buffer 10 mmol/L, pH 7.4.



Figure S5. Changes in mean residue ellipticity of HSA, at λ =210 nm in the presence of linear polymers. Results are mean ± standard deviation (SD), with n = 3. HSA concentration 5 µg/mL, wavelength 195–260 nm, scan speed 50 nm/min, bandwidth 1.0 nm, Na-phosphate buffer 10 mmol/L, pH 7.4.



Figure S6. Changes in α -helix structure ratio in HSA in the presence of linear, non-modified polymers. Results are mean ± standard deviation (SD), with n = 3. HSA concentration 5 µg/mL, wavelength 195–260 nm, scan speed 50 nm/min, bandwidth 1.0 nm, Na-phosphate buffer 10 mmol/L, pH 7.4.



Figure S7. Changes in mean residue ellipticity of HSA, at λ =210 nm in the presence of branched polymers. Results are mean ± standard deviation (SD), n = 3. HSA concentration 5 µg/mL, wavelength 195–260 nm, scan speed 50 nm/min, bandwidth 1.0 nm, Na-phosphate buffer 10 mmol/L, pH 7.4.



Figure S8. Changes in α -helix structure ratio in HSA in the presence of branched, non-modified polymers. Results are mean ± standard deviation (SD), with n = 3. HSA concentration 5 µg/mL, wavelength 195–260 nm, scan speed 50 nm/min, bandwidth 1.0 nm, Na-phosphate buffer 10 mmol/L, pH 7.4.



Figure S9. Size values (bars) and polydispersity index (PDI; open symbols) of tyrosine-modified polymers in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer, in increasing HSA:polymer molar ratios. Polymer concentrations were identical as used for HSA:polymer complex preparation.



Figure S10. Size peaks obtained for tyrosine modified PEI complexes LP 5Y (A), LP 10Y (B), P 5Y (C) or P 10Y (D) at different HSA:polymer molar ratios in 10 mmol/L phosphate buffer.

mgr Małgorzata Kubczak Dep. Of General Biophysics Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection University of Lodz

Author contribution statement

I declare that in the publication "Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: biophysical characterization and toxicity" **Kubczak**, **M**, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Noske, S, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 65 % and includes: performing zeta potential and size measurements, membrane fluidity assay, MTT, LDH, JC-1 assays, gel electrophoresis, florescence polarization, comet assay and luciferase assay, statistical analysis, preparation of manuscript, graphs and figures, submission to the journal as a corresponding author, correspondence with the Editor, preparation of answers for reviewers.

I declare that in the publication "Nanoparticles for local delivery of siRNA in lung therapy" **Kubczak**, **M**, Michlewska, S, Bryszewska, M, Aigner, A, Ionov, M, Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2021, 114038, 0169-409X, my contribution is 70 % and includes: work conceptualization, text writing, figures 5, 6 and 7 preparation, preparation of answers for reviewers and manuscript modifications according to the reviewers suggestions.

I declare that in the publication "Comparison of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight branched and linear polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery" **Kubczak**, **M**, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Nanotoxicology, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 64% and includes: biophysical characterization of nanoparticles (zeta potential and size measurements, circular dichroism, gel electrophoresis), toxicological studies (LDH assay, caspase induction, ROS measurements, mitochondrial potential evaluation, qPCR analysis, material preparation for flow cytometry and confocal microscopy, luciferase measurements), statistical analysis, preparation of manuscript, graphs and figures, submission to the journal as a corresponding author, correspondence with the Editor, preparation of answers for reviewers.

I declare that in the publication "The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – thermodynamic and spectroscopic study" **Kubczak, M**, Grodzicka, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2023, (paper under review) my contribution is 65% and includes: circular dichroism, spectrofluorometric measurements, zeta size and zeta potential measurements, calculations, preparation of manuscript, graphs, figures and tables, submission to the journal as a corresponding author, correspondence with the Editor.

Hurgonata Kubaak

Dr. Michael Karimov Rudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology Faculty of Medicine Leipzig University

Author contribution statement

I declare that in the publication "Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: biophysical characterization and toxicity" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, **Karimov**, **M**, Ewe, A, Noske, S, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 5 % and includes: : polymer synthesis, hemolysis assay preparation and data analysis, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "Comparison of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight branched and linear polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, **Karimov, M**, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Nanotoxicology, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 5 % and includes: polymer synthesis, assistance in paper conceptualization, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – thermodynamic and spectroscopic study" Kubczak, M, Grodzicka, M, Michlewska, S, **Karimov, M**, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2023, (paper under review) my contribution is 3 % and includes: polymer synthesis, substantive consultation and assistance.

M

Lodz, 25.05.2023

Statement

Hereby we declare, that author contribution statement signed by Dr Michael Karimov is in agreement with author willingness.

A scan version of Dr Michael Karimov's author contribution statement has been included to the PhD doctoral thesis due to the delay in obtaining the original versions.

PhD candidate:

Muigonata Kubach

Supervisor:

Dr Sylwia Michlewska Laboratory of Microscopic Imaging and Specialized Biological Techniques Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection University of Lodz

Author contribution statement

I declare that in the publication "Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: biophysical characterization and toxicity" Kubczak, M, **Michlewska, S**, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Noske, S, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 5 % and includes: performing TEM images and figure preparation, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "Nanoparticles for local delivery of siRNA in lung therapy" Kubczak, M, **Michlewska, S**, Bryszewska, M, Aigner, A, Ionov, M, Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2021, 114038, 0169-409X, my contribution is 8 % and includes: preparation of Figures 1-4, substantive consultation and assistance in text preparation.

I declare that in the publication "Comparison of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight branched and linear polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery" Kubczak, M, **Michlewska, S**, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Nanotoxicology, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 7 % and includes: performing microscopic pictures on confocal microsope, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – thermodynamic and spectroscopic study" Kubczak, M, Grodzicka, M, **Michlewska**, **S**, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2023, (paper under review) my contribution is 7 % and includes: performing TEM images and Figure preparation, substantive consultation and assistance.

Dr. Alexander Ewe Rudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology Faculty of Medicine Leipzig University

Author contribution statement

I declare that in the publication "Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: biophysical characterization and toxicity" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, **Ewe, A**, Noske, S, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 5 % and includes: polymer synthesis, assistance in paper conceptualization, improving the quality of the manuscript, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "Comparison of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight branched and linear polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, **Ewe, A**, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Nanotoxicology, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 5 % and includes: polymer synthesis, assistance in paper conceptualization, improving the quality of the manuscript, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – thermodynamic and spectroscopic study" Kubczak, M, Grodzicka, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, **Ewe, A**, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2023, (paper under review) my contribution is 3 % and includes: polymer synthesis, improving the quality of the manuscript, substantive consultation and assistance.

Abrales Ge

UNIVERSITÄT LEIPZIG Medizinische Fakultät Leipzig Inst'ut für Klinische Pharmakologie Dr. rer. nat. Alexander Ewe Härtelstraße 16-18, Haus V · 04107 Leipzig Telefon 0341/97-24653 · Fax 97-24669 mgr Marika Grodzicka Dep. Of General Biophysics Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection University of Lodz

Author contribution statement

I declare that in the publication "The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – thermodynamic and spectroscopic study" Kubczak, M, **Grodzicka**, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2023, (paper under review) my contribution is 7 % and includes: performing a part of spectrofluorometric measurements and zeta size and zeta potential measurements.

Marika Gradkielee

Leipzig, 19.04.2023

M.Sc. Sandra Noske Rudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology Faculty of Medicine Leipzig University

Author contribution statement

I declare that in the publication "Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: biophysical characterization and toxicity" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, **Noske, S**, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 3 % and includes: substantive assistance in comet assay preparation and data analysis.

Noshe

Leipzig, 20.04.2023

Prof. Dr Achim Aigner Rudolf-Boehm-Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical Pharmacology Faculty of Medicine Leipzig University

Author contribution statement

I declare that in the publication "Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: biophysical characterization and toxicity" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Noske, S, **Aigner, A**, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 6 % and includes: assistance in paper conceptualization, improving the quality of the manuscript, English editing, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "Nanoparticles for local delivery of siRNA in lung therapy" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Bryszewska, M, **Aigner, A**, Ionov, M, Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2021, 114038, 0169-409X, my contribution is 8 % and includes: assistance in paper conceptualization, improving the quality of the manuscript, English editing.

I declare that in the publication "Comparison of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight branched and linear polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, **Aigner**, **A**, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Nanotoxicology, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 7 % and includes: assistance in paper conceptualization, English editing, improving the quality of the manuscript, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – thermodynamic and spectroscopic study" Kubczak, M, Grodzicka, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, **Aigner, A**, Bryszewska, M, Ionov, M, Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2023, (paper under review) my contribution is 5 % and includes: assistance in paper conceptualization, improving the quality of the manuscript, English editing, substantive consultation and assistance.

UNIVERSITAT LEIPZIG ıltät Medizinisch makologie Pha Rudolf-Bo und Toxiki Pha 151 Selbst. At Ag Prof. Dr. Haus V -Härtelstraß 16 Telefon 0341/972 46 60 . Fa

Prof. dr hab. Maria Bryszewska Dep. Of General Biophysics Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection University of Lodz

Author contribution statement

I declare that in the publication "Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: biophysical characterization and toxicity" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Noske, S, Aigner, A, **Bryszewska, M**, Ionov, M, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 5 % and includes: : English editing, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "Nanoparticles for local delivery of siRNA in lung therapy" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, **Bryszewska, M**, Aigner, A, Ionov, M, Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2021, 114038, 0169-409X, my contribution is 6 % and includes: English editing, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "Comparison of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight branched and linear polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, **Bryszewska**, **M**, Ionov, M, Nanotoxicology, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 5 % and includes: English editing, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – thermodynamic and spectroscopic study" Kubczak, M, Grodzicka, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, **Bryszewska, M**, Ionov, M, Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2023, (paper under review) my contribution is 5 % and includes: English editing, substantive consultation and assistance.

Mary new lie
Prof. dr hab. Maksim Ionov Dep. Of General Biophysics Faculty of Biology and Environmental Protection University of Lodz

Author contribution statement

I declare that in the publication "Unmodified and tyrosine-modified polyethylenimines as potential carriers for siRNA: biophysical characterization and toxicity" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Noske, S, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, **Ionov**, **M**, International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 6 % and includes: : assistance in paper conceptualization, improving the quality of the manuscript, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "Nanoparticles for local delivery of siRNA in lung therapy" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Bryszewska, M, Aigner, A, **Ionov, M**, Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2021, 114038, 0169-409X, my contribution is 8 % and includes: assistance in paper conceptualization, improving the quality of the manuscript, submission to the journal as a corresponding author, correspondence with the Editor, preparation of the final version of answers for reviewers.

I declare that in the publication "Comparison of tyrosine-modified low molecular weight branched and linear polyethylenimines for siRNA delivery" Kubczak, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, **Ionov, M**, Nanotoxicology, 2022, 121468, 0378-5173 my contribution is 7 % and includes: assistance in paper conceptualization, improving the quality of the manuscript, substantive consultation and assistance.

I declare that in the publication "The effect of novel tyrosine-modified polyethyleneimines on human albumin structure – thermodynamic and spectroscopic study" Kubczak, M, Grodzicka, M, Michlewska, S, Karimov, M, Ewe, A, Aigner, A, Bryszewska, M, **Ionov, M**, Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2023, (paper under review) my contribution is 5 % and includes: assistance in paper conceptualization, improving the quality of the manuscript, substantive consultation and assistance.

Jahow